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Definitions

e

"AGM”
[RRBFAE]

“ARPPU”
[FaMERF K E]

“Audit Committee”
[BiZZEg]

“Articles of Association”

“average MPUs”
[ % A E R E]
“Board”

=3

“CEO”
(17 48 &

“CG Code”
S % B /El JJJ

“Chairman”

[E/E]

“China” or “PRC”

[ B

“Company” or “our Company”

R VNCIE

2 7Road Holdings Limited &+ A &

the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company proposed to be held on
Tuesday, 28 May 2024
BR-_ZZNFRATN\RBERDRTNARARIZEERRAFAE

the total revenue generated by the paying users for a particular game, a particular
type of game or all of our games, as applicable, during a certain period divided by
the number of paying users of the game, the type of game or all of our games, as
applicable, during such period

IR —RERIRMAMEER(WERNNERFRE —BREBRE
ERRIE  BRIARREER - ZBERSREFIPAAER(EB RZHPER
MmN ERFHE

the audit committee of the Board

Ex=g®%%LB8e

the second amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of the
Company adopted on 23 May 2023 and became effective on the same date
RIEZ=FRAAT=HEMNEARFE R EITRESNEBERERNMA
RERZMAA - EREIRRBER

the average number of paying users in the relevant calendar month; average MPUs
for a particular period is the average of the MPUs in each month during that period
REBEBEANNERFOFTAAB: RNEEHRENFTHBANERFPZER
ZHEAZANERANERPH T

the board of Directors

E=xg

the chief executive officer of the Company

RRBTTRABE

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules

EmRAIMECIFTEMN R EATRI

the chairman of the Board

E=gxR

for the purpose of this annual report only, the People’s Republic of China, unless
otherwise stated, excludes Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region
and Taiwan herein

ERARFHREN  HEARHKAM
P RIT R R A

BROEB RIS AXFABEER

7Road Holdings Limited ( 28 £ X #& & iz & PR 2 7]), a company incorporated
under the laws of the Cayman Islands with limited ||ab||ity on 6 September 2017
and the Shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on
18 July 2018 (Stock Code 797)

FELtREERERAR —HARZE—tFNABRERSHE AN M
IV BRAR] EHX TRZE—N\Ft AT N\BRBRZFER T (AR
797)

P R A A



“Companies Act”

[REA]

“Consolidated Affiliated Entities”

[ K% Y B B 28

“Contractual Arrangements”

[B# & BE]

“Director(s)”

(&%

” o« [T

“Group”, “we”, “our” or “us”

BN SLAREAGIEAE 410N

"HKS"
(7% 7z

“Hong Kong”
[&E]

“Huoerguosi 7Road”

[ERRHTELKE]

“IFRS”

[ BB B 7% ¥ 5 22 A1

“p
[Pl

“Latest Practicable Date”

(R ERRATTHH

“Listing”
[T

Definitions (continued)

Ex (E)

the Companies Act, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman lIslands, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to
time

FERESRRNAE2E (—NR—
il FESA E A 7 B K

FHEIFOE - BEHEERIERT) - BARER]

the entities that the Company controls through the Contractual Arrangements,
namely Shenzhen 7Road and its subsidiaries
ARARBBENLHEHNER  RJELRBERAEWB AR

certain contractual arrangements entered into on 13 April 2018 by us
BAR_E—N\ENA+=ZARINETAHNLH

the director(s) of the Company

RABER

the Company and all of its subsidiaries and companies whose financial results
have been consolidated and accounted as the subsidiaries of our Company
by virtue of the Contractual Arrangements, or, where the context so requires,
in respect of the period before our Company became the holding company of
our current subsidiaries, the business operated by such subsidiaries or their
predecessors (as the case may be)
RRBIREFREMNBARIR A BEEEBENLTHEEHARARIERR
BB AR AR KINXEME MARAKABERBEWBRFIMNZERA
AIATEAEM T - ZEMBARISKEA AR GRFBERME)FFEENER

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BT BEEEER

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
hEEBRRTHRER

Huoerguosi 7th Road Network Technology Co., Ltd. (B B R % + K8 R 4
£l £ B BR A A]), a company established under the laws of the PRC with limited
liability on 27 November 2015 and one of our Consolidated Affiliated Entities
ERRNELRENPERBAERAT  —ARZZE—AF+—HA=Z+tEHR
BHREEREKRINBRAR  RARMOHRWBEER 21—

the International Financial Reporting Standards
B B 755 e 5 22 A

intellectual property

R E

18 April 2024, being the latest practicable date prior to the printing of this annual
report for ascertaining certain information contained herein
“ECMFMATN\R ARFERENENMEEHETAEE TEHNRE
FERA1THH

listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
MR AD TR B A PT E AR BT

— =~ =4 R Annual Report 2023 3



Definitions (continued)

Ex (8

“Listing Date”
[ -7 B A
“Listing Rules”
[ET R A

“MAUSs”
[ AERRBFE]

“mobile game(s)”

[ F 08 sk F 17
“Model Code”

[ I
“MPUSs”
ISARBAL

“Nomination Committee”
[REBZEE]

“online game(s)”

[ 48 45 i 18X |

“paying users”

HERF]

“Prospectus”

(A E 2

the date on which the Shares were listed and initially commenced their dealings on
the Stock Exchangeg, i.e. 18 July 2018
BROPRBRM ETREARBEENRE - \FLA+/\H

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (as amended from time to time)
EREBMARIMBERARZERF LHHRA(ETRERD

monthly active users, refers to the number of people logged in to specific game(s)
in the relevant calendar month; average MAUSs for a particular period is the average
of the MAUs in each month during that period

BRERRBF BEEBMEBEANEHREBEERNAS: RETHENTEE
RERAFREZPRZANEBRERAFPNTEH

game(s) that is/are played on mobile devices

BB R L% I 2 B

the Model Code of Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out
in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
FTARBIMERCIMEN EMEBETAEFETIEFRHNRETH

monthly paying users, refers to the number of paying users in the relevant calendar
month

BANERFE EREEEBEANNERFPAK

the nomination committee of the Board

E=giRv%Ee

video game(s) that is/are played over some forms of computer or mobile network

25 38 T 5] 1 30 # B B 3K T 1 AR 4 5 D O AR R e B

in any given period, (i) paying users of a particular game refers to all registered
users who charged their accounts for the game with virtual items purchased
from us at least once in such period regardless of whether such virtual items
were consumed by the registered users in such period; and (i) paying users of a
particular type of game or all of our games refers to the simple sum of the paying
users of each game of such type or all of our games, as applicable, in such period
and a paying user that purchased virtual items for two or more games in such
period is counted as two or more paying users in such period

RIEAEESRE X —RERONERFEEMBEE RN ZRBERNAREK
MEENERYmREERERFAERS —ROEMAR - TwaEMARR
ZBEHRAARSEREEERYm: RMX —BE BRI BMMEERN N
ERFPRENRZERBEANZEREES SR BEBSH MG B (ER) R/
NERFPNMEAN M—BEXZRPABAMAIN T BERBEERY M
WNERF RZERMEANKIEAMERA LNNERFE

the prospectus issued by the Company dated 29 June 2018
ARATIBEBHA-Z-—N\ERAZTNAENBRER

4 7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&2 &G R A 7]



“Qianhai Huanjing”

(AL ]

“‘R&D”

[T % |

“Registered Shareholders”

(BB R

“Remuneration Committee’

[(FEB 2]

“‘RMB”
AR

“RSU Scheme”
[ 5 BRI B% 19 BE (i 51 &1

“RSU(S)"
52 BR il A £ B 7

“senior management”
mRERE]

“SFO”
(78 7 & B & 15 1]

“Share(s)”
[ 17 ]

“Shareholder(s)”
MR ER ]

“Shenzhen 7Road”

[RYNELKE]

Definitions (continued)

Ex (E)

Shenzhen Qianhai Huanjing Network Technology Co., Ltd. (& 3l 71 B /& 4] 35 48
4R R AR A 7], a company established under the laws of the PRC with limited
liability on 12 July 2015

FINTRNELERERBEERAR —FARZE—RAF A+ =-BREH
ERKIHBR AR

research and development
B T B B

Mr. Meng Shugi, Mr. Hu Min, Mr. Liu Jing, Ningbo Bao Pu Xing Sheng Investment
Management Center (Limited Liability Partnership) (28 i 29 1% & 5% 1§ & & 12
(AR A %)) and Shanghai Ting Can Entity Investment Center (Limited Liability
Partnership) ( £ /8 Z Z R #E K & F L (B R A %)), as the shareholders of
Shenzhen 7Road

BETLE PHRELE - BBAAE ERNEESERRETESRLEREH)
MEBERBREREFRL(BRE®)  BFRIINELRENRRE

the remuneration committee of the Board
EEeHFMEES

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

AR - REEEH

the restricted share unit scheme adopted by our Company on 6 March 2018

AARR-B—/\F= B ABRMENTRERGER B

restricted share units granted pursuant to the RSU Scheme
B 1R R I IR 1 B8 iz 51 81 4% A9 52 PR il iR £ BE iz

the senior management of the Company
ARRBRERE

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

& R ERD (BB EAMNFSNE)  BIRER] - MAIAEMT A EK

ordinary share(s) of US$0.000005 each in the issued share capital of the Company
AN BB TR & IR E {80.000005 5 7T &Y & 8 A%

holder(s) of Shares

iR A

Shenzhen 7Road Technology Co., Ltd. (FIIIZE £ K B &L £ B BR A 7)), a company
established under the laws of the PRC with limited liability on 22 January 2008 and
one of our Consolidated Affiliated Entities

FIELREREBEAERQAR —BR-_EEN\FE—A -+ _-_HREPEER
O ERARIRBBEMAHRIMBEER 2 —

— %~ = 3R Annual Report 2023 5



Definitions (continued)

Ex (8

“Shenzhen Qiangi”
RT3
“Stock Exchange”

[ B 32 Frr )

“US$”
E

“web game(s)”

[ 48 B i B
w0y
[%]

Shenzhen Qiangi Network Technology Co., Ltd. (& Il T H @& R AR QD
7)), a company established under the laws of the PRC with limited liability on 28
November 2013 and one of our Consolidated Affiliated Entities
FINTHERERFTAERRAR —BR - Z—=F+—A -+ \BREFRZX
BRI ERRBAIRBEMOFENEER 2 —

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEMERIMERAT

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States of America
En EFBRAEREMNETES

game(s) that is/are played in a web browser on a personal computer without
downloading any client base or application

BATHENELPHRXEAREAEBACRNBEAESRG I EB

per cent
Eigse

6 7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&2 &G R A 7]



BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Mr. Meng Shuqji (Chairman)

Mr. Peng Cheng (appointed with effect from 8 March 2023 and

resigned with effect from 8 March 2024)
Mr. Li Zhengquan
Mr. Yang Cheng

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Xue Jun

Ms. Li Yiging

Mr. Lui Chi Ho

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Xue Jun (Chairman)
Ms. Li Yiging
Mr. Lui Chi Ho

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Ms. Li Yiging (Chairworman)
Mr. Xue Jun

Mr. Lui Chi Ho

Mr. Meng Shuqi

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Meng Shuqi (Chairman)
Mr. Xue Jun

Ms. Li Yiging

Mr. Lui Chi Ho

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Li Zhengquan
Mr. Cheung Kai Cheong, Willie (CFA, FCCA)

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Meng Shuqi
Mr. Cheung Kai Cheong, Willie (CFPA, FCCA)

Corporate Profile
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FEREE

BT E

BYFATES
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BREREL

BEREESG
B 55 56 20 (2 %)
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YMEES
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Corporate Profile (continued)

NEIER ()

AUDITOR

Elite Partners CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants and
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

Level 23, YF Life Tower

33 Lockhart Road

Wan Chai, Hong Kong

HONG KONG LEGAL ADVISER

Han Kun Law Offices LLP
Rooms 3901-05, 39/F
Edinburgh Tower, The Landmark
15 Queen’s Road Central

Hong Kong

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.7road.com

STOCK CODE

797

REGISTERED OFFICE IN
THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Sertus Chambers, Governors Square
Suite #5-204, 23 Lime Tree Bay Avenue
P.O. Box 2547

Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN

THE PRC

No. 2-18-1902, Long Shan Road
Xin Wu District, Wuxi
Jiangsu Province, PRC

8 7Road Holdings Limited 25+ K &% i B R A A

B S A

AT EEgTmMELMERAR

HESF AR
AR T2 B RBIZEED

BB ET

5% 52 38 335%

BBIRB K E23E

BRAEE™
ERENFEHEREREEAY
=5

25 A5

BEWESABAE
39183901-05%

NEIME
www.7road.com
it 40 X 3%
797

FREHEEMNSZE

Sertus Chambers, Governors Square
Suite #5-204, 23 Lime Tree Bay Avenue
P.O. Box 2547

Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

FEIEEERMBE

RET#E
EHTHRE
BE L B 2-18-19025%



PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

40th Floor, Dah Sing Financial Centre
No. 248 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Sertus Incorporations (Cayman) Limited
Sertus Chambers, Governors Square
Suite #5-204, 23 Lime Tree Bay Avenue
P.O. Box 2547, Grand Cayman
KY1-1104, Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS

Hua Xia Bank
Wuxi New District branch

Bank of China
Shenzhen Yi Yuan Road branch

Corporate Profile (continued)

~NEIER(E)

BERETEERME

B
B £ J7 K38 R24857
RF & B 04048

TERODBFRERLRE

Sertus Incorporations (Cayman) Limited
Sertus Chambers, Governors Square
Suite #5-204, 23 Lime Tree Bay Avenue
P.O. Box 2547, Grand Cayman
KY1-1104, Cayman Islands

ERAESERRE

BEEPRELHELERAT
&5

(7

2R/ KNBR1835%

AR
1711712171658 &

FEERBIT

EBIRTT
BB AT

PEERTT
RYNBE 1T
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Financial Performance Highlights

MERARE

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

BHHGEEZERER

For the year ended 31 December

BEt-A=t-BHL%E

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

—E-=f CZFCZC —T-% ZZZTF ZENE

(RMB’000) (RMB'000) (RMB'000) (RMB'000) (RMB'000)

(AE®TR) (ARETT) (ARETRT) (AREFRD) (ARETRL)

Revenue Wz 627,732 540,630 420,543 424313 333,379

Profit/{loss) for the year FRERH/(EB) (144,894) 279,606 97,990 80,001 13,905
Profit/(loss) for the year attrioutable A7 7] B A A JE1E R

to owners of the Company w7/ (E#8) (146,461) 282,499 94,236 81,309 10,791

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the total revenue amounted to
approximately RMB627.7 million, representing an increase of approximately 16.1%
as compared with the year ended 31 December 2022.

2. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company recorded a loss attributable
to owners of the Company amounted to approximately RMB146.5 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 151.8% as compared with the year
ended 31 December 2022.

10 7Road Holdings Limited 25+ K &% i B R A A

BHE-_Z-_=F+_A=+—RHItEE kx4
HAOBARBITEE L BHEZZT ==
TZRA=+—BIEFEEMEI161% °

HE-_ZT-_=F+-A=+—RALEE "  AQ7
BEARAEEAREEENAARK 14658
Bl BEBEET__F+-A=+—HLFE
W #9151.8% ©



CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

I
Financial Performance Highlights (continued)

MBRERE (E)

HRGRSEEREBR

BALANCE SHEET
As at 31 December
R+t=A=1+-8
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
ZECZZH -z “EF 2 —E-NF
(RMB’000) (RMB'000) (RMB000) (RMB'000) (RMB000)
(AR®Tn) (AR®Tn) (ARETRT) (AR%Tn) (AR®TRL)
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEBE 1,928,117 1,955,212 1,535,214 1,243 1150 1,097,007
Current assets THEE 346,256 690,926 473 591 871,194 844,954
Total assets BEE 2,274,373 2,646,138 2,008,805 214,344 1,941,961
Equity and liabilities #kBE
Total equity BiER 1,754,388 1900,847 1,621,684 1,511,897 1,114,834
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 170,508 290,464 43114 127,756 365,555
Current liabilities mEaE 349,477 454,807 344,007 474,691 461572
Total liabilities aff@R 519,985 745,291 387121 602,447 827127
Total equity and liabilties EnkaBes 2,274,373 2,646,138 2,008,805 2,114,344 1,941,961
— T = =& R Annual Report 2023 11



Chairman’s Statement

On behalf of the Board and the management of 7Road Holdings
Limited, | am pleased to present to you the financial results of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023, review our business
development during the year, and discuss the strategies and
prospects of the next year.

In the past 2023, the Company was committed to strengthening
our internal R&D capabilities in games, focusing on core products,
exploring the market deeply, strengthening independent research
and innovation, strengthening operation, actively exploring domestic
and overseas markets, striving to bring more high-quality and
interesting game experience to players, and continuing to operate
in the field of cloud computing business. In 2023, the Company
generated a total revenue of approximately RMB627.7 million,
representing an increase of approximately 16.1% as compared to
the total revenue of approximately RMB540.6 million in 2022. The
Company recorded a loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately RMB146.5 million in 2023, representing a decrease
of approximately 151.8% as compared to 2022. In 2023, the gross
profit margin of the Company was 61.0%, and the gross profit of
the Company was RMB383.1 million, with the latter representing
an increase of approximately 46.7% as compared to approximately
RMB261.2 million in 2022.

In terms of our gaming business in 2023, the Company’s online
game revenue was approximately RMB471.8 million, as compared
to approximately RMB426.1 million in 2022, representing a
year-on-year increase of approximately 10.7%, of which revenue from
mobile games and web games accounted for 84.5% and 15.5%,
respectively. Other revenue included IP licensing and sales of online
game technology and publishing solutions services, etc. In terms
of businesses such as cloud computing in 2023, the Company’s
revenue generated from its businesses such as cloud computing
amounted to approximately RMB148.1 million, as compared to
approximately RMB106.4 million in 2022.

In terms of 2023, the Group decided to take the competitive leisure
games, large-scale multiplayer online games (‘“MMORPG”) and card
games as the main development direction of the gaming business,
distribute and publish a wide range of games at the same time.
Due to the Group’s exceptional capabilities in operations and R&D,
many of our games remained popular after their launches in previous
years. The Group’s online game revenue was mainly derived from
several well-known classic IP games, including the “DDTank” (3858 %)

series and “Wartune” (14 i) series.

12 7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&2 &G R A 7]

AANERRBLREBEERERARESRS
RERBE  MAR BTREAKEEZ
2023F12HBIH I FEMBEEE - HEF
NEBER  WHENRK—FHRBE XA

=
= °

iR ER2023F 2 RAIBHORREAR
iR e ) BERLER  AAR
W% R EalE - sebEE - Bk
MEERINTE  BHEDREREZE
B ABNEEER WEEAEXKSE
i EIES o N2023%F © KRR EAKZE
BEEA AN REE27.7H & T » BI2022%F W
HE A RE540.68 8 T 8 AN 4916.1% °
R2023F + ARRIB AR HEE AE
EEOAEANRE14658 8 IT  BK2022F
R #9151.8% © 20234 - A QD F 8 E F
& A61.0% * AR AEHEF| A A R¥3831
BB EFR2022FH AR ¥261.2H S
TCIE IN4946.7% °

B S A T PR2023F 0 AR RIA K
i BB R W 2K 4471.8F B T A R (2022
FEHNBARELA61EE L) RELEMNY
10.7% o H A F# 5 B U A (5 1£84.5% + 48
BB E W AL E15.5%  E IR ABEIP
R EHE NS ER M RBEITRERA
KRGS EFESEB AT - R20234F
ARRIEHEZER ITAELERENHAR
#148.18 B JL(2022F 49 & A R #106.45
B -

HrEi2023%F - SEAKEH RS - A%
A AR (TMMORPG | ) K - h& 48 15 18k /5 1 B4
EBTBERTMA  AKKEZTZHE
BE - SERARELERNEZSIEES -
SREFLROERDARRELTRDH
) AEBBEKBERREETERERN
BRECGEEZ)RF M) 75 F L L
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

o0 Aig »

In 2023, the classic games of “DDTank” (3858 &) and “Wartune” (1%
i) series published by us continued to perform well, with a steady
growth in product revenue, which improved players’ stickiness and
willingness to pay through a well-designed upgrade model, and
through data-driven refined operation activities and continuous
R&D of new gameplay to maintain the long life cycle and player
activity of the games. We have innovatively added a new gameplay
of restarting future careers in certain games of the “DDTank” (38 38
&) series, bringing a new experience to players. In terms of player
matching, we launched a pilot competition to further balance the
attributes of players. In addition, in the gameplay designed by us,
players can also allocate attributes and freely match different pets
to achieve a comprehensive competition with more elements. In
terms of the domestic market, the Group’s newly launched DDTank
products at the end of 2022 performed well. After ranking among the
App Store Top 3 on the same day of launch at the end of 2022, the
Group’s total receipts exceeded RMB360 million in 2023. In terms
of overseas markets, the Group actively promoted the international
development of classic IP games. The “DDTank Classics” (58 58 &
18 & KR ) was launched in Thailand in the second quarter of 2023.
Currently, the R&D of the European and American versions has
entered the stage of commercial testing. The Portuguese version
of “DDTank Adventure” (5% 58 &= KX § k&) was launched in Brazil in
the third quarter, which was popular among players and topped
the list of free-to-play Google Play games on the first day of its
launch. Following the hot spots of DDTank series products, the
new generation of “DDTank” ( 5& 58 = ) products has been in the
process of R&D, of which the new mobile game with the code of
“DDTank x” ( 58 38 & x) was jointly developed by the Group and a
well-known group. With a new world concept as the core and a
multi-character card as the design framework, the Group will make
every effort to create an innovative DDTank product that is easy to
use and meaningful with a long life cycle. It will be innovated on the
basis of the existing product essence in terms of character painting,
game plots and core gameplay, with an aim to bring new feeling
and experience to users. The overseas version of “Wartune H5” (&
i H5), another classic IP of the Group, was basically completed at
the end of 2023 and is expected to be officially launched in multiple
overseas regions in 2024.

In addition, the Group is also actively exploring opportunities in other
niche game tracks. The Group’s new product “GINTAMA” (SRz% £ &%),
which has been intensively developed by the Group, has been in the
final stage of improvement at the end of 2023. The game characters
and scenes adopt full 3D modeling, and the design and technology
are constantly adjusted and optimized, striving to pursue excellence
in the restoration of the animation plot and classic characters of
GINTAMA, so as to provide players with better game experience.

=+ JF 2T (58)

R2023F + HMIBFHITHCGEBE YRGB )
RIEHBERKERBFEE  ERWARE
FEE BBBORTHOARENRAT
DRMEMNBER WREBSBEERS
FEFE AL BB & TR B LA M FT DU A 89 AT
MBEAEFTEEOREEGBHMTRE
BE - HMAIF b ECGEEBE)RY S i
BAMATERMARBEIAIE - Bt
XERTEHMER - ENIREE E#ED
THARBREE  #—FTFEHERREBME - T
B ERMREFOERITEZPIRE
AADEBERR  BREETREY -
ERELZLENGARR - BRAMH @ -
EE2022F KT LRH BB E ERKRIRE
&  R2022F KR 1£ £ 4 & X B & App Store
45 §15 155 Top 318 » 7£2023%F & & i 7K #83.6
BITARK - BImBEHE ESERBEGHE
FLHRPEBANBEBER GEEER
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)
=+ EEY (8)

In 2023, with the new round of artificial intelligence wave led by
ChatGPT and the rise of other Al large models, part of the content
was generated by Al technologies, which brought new challenges
and opportunities to the game industry. The Group has grasped
the market trend and actively embraced technological changes.
The Group has used AIGC technology (i.e. Artificial Intelligence
Generated Content) in some aspects of game development and
publishing. By learning from the use of Al to generate certain text,
images, audio and other multimodal content, the Group has applied
Al technology in multiple application scenarios to innovate and
create content, so as to enrich product content, optimize product
expression, and improve R&D efficiency.

In terms of the cloud computing business, the Group will strive to
respond to the changes in the cloud computing market after the
large-scale rise of Al in 2023, and based on the strategy of focusing
on serving major customers, strive to maintain the stability of the
Company’s cloud computing service business. Since November
2022, represented by the Al ChatGPT large model released by OPEN
Al, it has quickly set off a global boom in the R&D of Al models and
applications. The training tasks of Al large models require a large
number of GPUs with high computing power, and the structural
change in computing power demand in the cloud computing market
is also very obvious, focusing on steering Al training, reasoning and
applications. The Group started to invest in the cloud computing
business in 2021, with an earlier layout. The GPU, the Group’s main
equipment, focus on cloud games, animation rendering, metaverse
and other sub-sectors. Against the backdrop of rapid growth of
the cloud computing market, the cloud computing field of non-Al
training, reasoning and applications did not grow as rapidly as
expected due to structural differences in the market.

The huge progress of Al technology and the rapid development of
GPU technology far exceed market expectations. The rapid iteration
of GPU technology has caused a large gap between the Group’s
existing GPUs and new high-end GPUs such as H100 and H800.
The performance of GPU equipment originally deployed by the
Company cannot fully meet the demand for Al training computing
power. There are quantitative differences, and it is also unable to
convert into Al computing power in a superimposed manner due to
the limitation of the technical architecture.
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

Domestic internet giants, relying on their strong capital strength and
profound technology accumulation, have advantages in terms of
continuous R&D investment and diversification of cloud computing
service products. Combined with the strong and rich ecological
resources of their own main business, these internet giants have
formed an integrated comprehensive business synergy with their
cloud computing business, enabling them to have large-scale
advantages. With their product price strategy, these internet giants
have formed the Matthew effect and strong global integrated
comprehensive product service capabilities in the market segment,
so that small and medium-sized cloud computing companies face
various challenges such as technology, capital and business ecology
in competition. The Group’s cloud computing business in the fields
of graphic rendering, digital twin and metaverse did not develop as
expected.

As the Group’s cloud computing business faced challenges such
as fierce industry competition, rapid changes in demand and rapid
equipment iteration, the Company still lost some customers despite
various measures such as improving and optimizing operations and
launching marketing activities. At the end of 2023, the Group’s cloud
computing business related assets were significantly impaired, which
was an important reason for the Group’s loss in 2023.

=+ JF 2T (58)

BANEMEERKIEERANESENM
RENRMER  EREWBERA 5t
ERBERNZEE T BABES &
AELEMPEERBSTERAMEEA
HFREREEEHEXHEN—BILES
XBHREME  EEAGBRRICESDS &
BHEREREKE EADMEREKSE
ABEAEBRNERA - RBILEEER
RGeS - R/ DAEFHERREBRFP
mEREA - B - FHELEREZTEEE
SEEERER BFELE TTFHER
BHMEAEERERMES -

HREEEHEXEBEBITERI AR
BRREFL BERBERSKE - &
ERRBRIMBEMBLES HBEHE
BEZRFR - DRATEHSEF 20238
FREBEEFEEBHBEEZARK
BE B2023FEEEXEBENEEZR
& o

Z— & = ZF iR Annual Report 2023 15



Chairman’s Statement (continued)
=+ EEY (8)

In 2024, in terms of our game business, the Group will continue to
deeply explore user needs, continuously improve game quality, strive
to create high-quality games, as well as expand themes and develop
new games of different genres to enrich the Group’s product
portfolio.

In terms of game development and IP value, the Group plans to
promote a number of self-developed products in 2024. The R&D of
“DDTank X” (38 38 % X) is expected to be completed and launched
in the fourth quarter. As the core R&D IP project of the Group, the
DDTank series will continue to be updated in the future. Based on
market and user conditions, the Group will regularly launch relevant
competition activities, add new gameplay, maintain IP popularity and
continue to attract users’ attention and participation. “DDTank 2”
(58 58 = 2), the official sequel to DDTank, is also under pre-research.
As for “Wartune H5" ( # #R H5), another classic IP series game of
the Group, we will continue to upgrade its art style based on test
feedback and further optimize its operation and gameplay design
before launching it into the market. The R&D cooperation products
between the Group and other IP parties are also progressing
gradually. In addition, we may try to cooperate with other high-quality
developers through IP licensing to continue to focus on the
application of our classic IPs in gaming products, including trying
to cooperate in developing mini-program games, cloud games and
other new gaming products using our own IPs.

In the 2D arena, the Group’s layout is expected to be developed.
A well-known Japanese IP mobile game developed by our studio,
namely “Gintama” (R 2 £ 45), has obtained publication approval in
February 2024 and is expected to be published and tested within
this year. The IP of the mobile game itself is broadly known with a
huge audience base. The product was developed with a focus on
high restoration of IP images and plots, with an aim to provide fans
with an authentic IP gaming experience.
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

In terms of our game publishing business, the Group will continue
to focus on the global layout and actively expand our overseas
publishing business on the basis of domestic business development.
The Group expects that “DDTank Classics” ( 58 38 & 18 & AR ) will
be tested and launched gradually in North America, Europe and
other regions from the second quarter. “Wartune H5” ( ## f H5),
another classic IP of the Group, is also actively expanding in multiple
regional user markets. It has been officially launched in Brazil and
North America in February and March 2024, respectively, and we
will gradually proceed with plans to launch it in other regions of the
world. The Group’s self-developed “DDTank X” (3 38 & X) and 3D
mobile game “Gintama” (3R 5% £ 4%) are expected to be tested and
launched in relevant regions within this year. The female-oriented
character customization game “Alice’s Closet” ( & B 44 H) 7K 1),
which is operated by the Group, has obtained publication approval
in the third quarter of 2023 and is scheduled to be published this
year. As the gaming industry brings joy to people, with the aim of
providing a reasonable and comfortable gaming experience, we will
continue to devote ourselves to the innovation and development of
games and bring better gaming experiences to players.

In terms of investment, we will continue to seek appropriate
investment or cooperation opportunities, and selectively acquire and
invest in companies or assets with potential in the Internet-related
industry chain in accordance with the Group’s development strategy.

In terms of the cloud computing business, the Group has entered
into an agreement to sell an indirect subsidiary which is responsible
for a major part of the Group’s cloud computing business.

In summary, in 2024, the Group will continue to focus on the R&D
and publishing of the Group’s core IP products, strengthen the value
of our IP, promote game refinement, and continue to improve our
gaming product portfolio. At the same time, the Group will control
investment risks, optimize resource allocation, focus on global
layout, and further enhance the Group’s game development and
operation capabilities and performance. We will actively respond
to changes in technology and in the market, continuously improve
our overall competitiveness, resource control capabilities, follow-up
development capabilities and anti-risk capabilities to consolidate,
develop and enhance our position in the industry and create more
value for our Shareholders.

Meng Shugqi
Chairman

Wuxi, the PRC, 28 March 2024
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management

ESREREEAEBTN

Below are the brief profiles of our current Directors and senior

management.

The Board currently comprises six Directors, of which three are
executive Directors and three are independent non-executive
Directors. The following table sets forth the information regarding the

UTRBRMEZEREREEENEN -

EZCHABAABRESAN BRE=2H
TESL=2BIUFNTES - TRHEJ
BERESFNER:

Directors:

Date of Appointment as
Name Age Position Director
% & Fie Bz EEZEAH
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Meng Shuqi 46 Chairman and executive Director 6 September 2017
mEAEE 46 ITERRTES —E—t+FAAXE
Mr. Li Zhengquan 48 Executive Director, chief financial officer and 30 April 2019

joint company secretary
FEREE 48 WITES BRWBAERBELATGNE —E-NAFWOA=+H
Mr. Yang Cheng 47 Executive Director, vice president 29 October 2018
B & 47 HITEEREIAE —E-\FE+tAZtTNHE
Independent
Non-executive Directors

BYFBITES
Mr. Xue Jun 49 Independent non-executive Director 14 December 2018
BERAE 49 BUFRITES —E-N\E+__A+WMA
Ms. Li Yiging 51 Independent non-executive Director 30 September 2019
Etad L 51 BIUFERITES —E-NFALAZ=TH
Mr. Lui Chi Ho 51 Independent non-executive Director 1 December 2021
AERLE 51 BYERITES —E_—%+-A—H
18 7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&2 &G R A 7]



Profiles of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

-

Mr. Meng Shugqi, aged 46, is our executive Director and Chairman.
He has been appointed as the Chairman since the Listing Date,
and is responsible for the overall management, strategic planning
and decision-making of our Group. Mr. Meng is also the chairman
of the Nomination Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee.

Mr. Meng has more than 17 years of experience in the internet and
gaming industry. Mr. Meng joined Shenzhen 7Road in June 2009. He
had served as the chief operation officer and a director of Shenzhen
7Road since May 2011. He ceased to be the director of Shenzhen
7Road in May 2013 and subsequently retired from his role as the
chief operation officer in February 2014. In August 2015, Mr. Meng
returned to Shenzhen 7Road and has been the director, chairman
of the board and general manager of Shenzhen 7Road since then.
Mr. Meng was also the chief executive officer of the Company from
March 2018 to September 2019.

Mr. Meng is a director of Ben 7Road Holdings Limited, a substantial
shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Li Zhengquan, aged 48, is our executive Director, joint company
secretary and chief financial officer. Mr. Li has over 18 years of
experience in financial management. Mr. Li served as the assistant
president of Guolian Securities Co., Ltd. (BB & 5 IR () & R 2 7))
(“Guolian Securities”), a company whose shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1456), from July 2011 to December
2012. Mr. Li then served as the deputy general manager of Guolian
Trust Co., Ltd. (Bl B 15 5E X 10 B R 2 \)) from January 2013 to
December 2013. He served as the director of Hua Ying Securities
Co., Ltd. (EXRFEH FR F T 2 7)) from April 2016 to September
2017. Mr. Li also served as the vice president and the secretary of
the board of directors of Guolian Securities from January 2014 to
November 2018. Mr. Li has been a non-independent director of
Cloud Live Technology Group Co., Ltd. (FRIZBRIHEERHE
R 2 ®]), a company whose shares are listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 002306), since March 2019. Mr. Li served
as a director of Jiangsu Haohua Transmission Control Co., Ltd., a
company whose shares are listed on the National Equities Exchange
and Quotations (“NEEQ”) (Stock Code: 831602). Mr.Li was an
independent director of Lawton Development Co., Ltd. (the shares of
which were listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange during his tenure
of office) from November 2020 to June 2022. Mr. Li has been an
independent director of Wuxi Fangsheng Heat Exchanger Co., Ltd.,
a company whose shares are listed on the Beijing Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 832662), since December 2021.
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

EEZNEREEAERGN (B)

Mr. Li obtained a doctoral degree in economics from Peking University
(4t R K £ ) in July 2005, and was a member of the Committee of
Investment Industry of the Securities Association of China (F Bl 78 %
(e REEKZ B ) from July 2012 to December 2020.

Mr. Yang Cheng, aged 47, is our executive Director and vice
president. Mr. Yang has over 21 years of experience in financial
management. Mr. Yang managed the overall financial affairs of
Besttone Holding Co., Ltd ( 5% & = & I& 1 & B 2 7)), a listed
company on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 600640),
for more than 10 years, as the general manager of the planning and
finance department and the chief financial officer. Mr. Yang obtained
a bachelor’s degree in Economics from East China University of
Science and Technology ( 2 %X 3 I X £ )in July 2000, and a
master’s degree in financial management from the same university in
March 2003. Mr. Yang obtained the qualification of senior accountant
in December 2009.

Mr. Xue Jun, aged 49, is our independent non-executive Director. He
is also the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of each
of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee,
respectively. Mr. Xue has over 23 years of experience in auditing
and financial management. Mr. Xue served as an audit manager in
PricewaterhouseCoopers from July 1998 to October 2005. He has
been a partner and the deputy chairman of Shanghai My Whole
Way Certified Public Accountants (_t /& & & & =t Bl 55 # FfT) since
October 2005. Mr. Xue obtained his bachelor’'s degree in Economics
from Shanghai Jiaotong University (_F /8 22 38 KX £2) in June 1998, and
obtained the qualifications of Chinese Certified Public Accountant and
Chartered Financial Analyst in December 2001 and November 2010,
respectively.
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management (continued)
EEZENAREEAEBRBIT(E)

Ms. Li Yiqing, aged 51, is our independent non-executive Director.
She is also the chairman of the Remuneration Committee, and
a member of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee, respectively. Ms. Li has substantial experience in
corporate management and investment. Ms. Li has been the
chairwoman of Hangzhou Li Zi Cultural Technology Co., Ltd. (#7H Ai
F b EHE A BR A B]) from September 2018; a director of Hangzhou
Shunwang Technology Co., Ltd. (1 BB Ik D B R A A]), a
company whose shares are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 300113) from September 2018 to May 2022, and the
director of Chengdu Hua Qi Yun Technology Co., Ltd. (A #B % 2 &
£ £ & BR A 7)) since August 2018. From April 2017 to April 2018,
Ms. Li was the chairwoman of the investment committee of De Qing
Pu Hua Equity Investment Fund Enterprise (Limited Partnership) ( 12
BEEREREEASABPLE(BERAE ). From May 2018 to
March 2020, Ms. Li was the chairperson of the Investment Committee
of Puying Guoshi (Shanghai) Equity Investment Fund Partnership
(Limited Partnership) (# BB G( L8 BREREREASAB L X (F
R & %£)). From September 2012 to September 2015, Ms. Li was the
chairwoman and chief executive officer of Hua Shu Media Holdings
Co., Ltd. (ZE &{F E 15 IR Bk 19 A PR 2 7)), a company whose shares
are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 000156),
and was a director and chief executive officer of such company from
September 2015 to March 2017. From December 2009 to November
2015, Ms. Li was the chairwoman and the chief executive officer of
Huashu Media Network Co., Ltd. From July 2001 to December 2009,
Ms. Li was the senior vice president of Hua Shu Digital Television
Media Group Co., Lid (E# BT ERBEEE B R AR]).

Ms. Li obtained her bachelor’s degree in finance from the Zhejiang
University of Finance and Economics ( #7 /T Bf 48 K £ ) (formerly
known as Zhejiang Institution of Finance and Economics ( #7 JT 84
& B BT ) in July 1995 and further obtained her master’s degree
in business administration from Zhejiang University (34 )T X £ ) in
March 2001.

Mr. Lui Chi Ho, aged 51, is our independent non-executive Director.
He is also a member of each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee, respectively. Mr. Lui has
extensive experience in advising banking, corporate finance and
cross-border project finance transactions.
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

EEZNEREEAERGN (B)

Mr. Lui is a partner of Ince & Co. and has been qualified as a lawyer
in Hong Kong and England & Wales since July 1999 and May 2004,
respectively. Mr. Lui is also a China Appointed Attesting Officer
appointed by the Ministry of Justice of the PRC. In addition, Mr.
Lui has also been appointed as chairman of the Appeal Tribunal
Panel (Buildings) and a member of each of the Solicitors Disciplinary
Tribunal Panel, Licensing Appeals Board, Fishermen Claims Appeal
Board and Disciplinary Panel A of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, respectively.

Mr. Yang Cheng, see “— Executive Directors” in this section for details.

Mr. Li Zhengquan, see “— Executive Directors” in this section for details.

Mr. Liu Zhizhen, aged 41, our CEQ, joined the Group in September
2019 and was mainly responsible for managing the Group’s R&D. In
September 2022, Mr. Liu was appointed as the vice president of the
Company and began participating in the overall management of the
Group. Before and after joining the Group, Mr. Liu’s background in
the R&D of games was extensive with over 20 years of experience.
He has served as a game producer and R&D leader in a number of
large and well-known gaming companies, has led the R&D and team
management of multiple types of gaming projects and achieved
excellent performance results. From April 2005 to July 2006, Mr.
Liu was a gaming project planner at Netstar Square Enix Network
Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd.* (# 2 % 7 B R X fE e T 48 48 B & (4
) A R A A)). From August 2006 to September 2007, Mr. Liu was
the chief gaming project planner and assistant producer at Beijing
Guoji Chuanshi Network Technology Co., Ltd.* (1 5 B £ {# tt 48 4%
1 A BR 2 &), From November 2007 to September 2011, Mr. Liu
was a producer in the gaming division of Beijing Wuzhou Zongheng
Sports Development Co., Ltd* (It R AMMEE S EXLR AR
A a]), and from September 2011 to August 2019, he was a producer
of games at Giant Network Group Co., Ltd. (B A @8 4% & E & 1n

R 2 ®]), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock
code: 002558).

Since September 2007, Mr. Liu has been an external lecturer at the
Academy of Arts & Design of Tsinghua University (/& 5 K2 £ fif £
Bt ) in the PRC. In May 2022, he was appointed as an expert tutor at
the Art and Technology Innovation Base* (£ 1iy £2 £} 5 &l #7 £ i) of
Tsinghua University (/& 2 X £) in the PRC.
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

-

Ms. Zhou Wenwen, aged 38, has been appointed as Chief Human
Resources Officer of the Company since 1 January 2022. Ms. Zhou
is primarily responsible for formulating corporate human resources
strategic planning and the implementation of comprehensive
administrative management policies of the Group’s operations. Prior
to joining the Group, Ms. Zhou has more than 10 years of experience
in administration and human resources management in a large-scale
well-established gaming company. Ms. Zhou received her bachelor’s
degree from Shanghai Maritime University in 2010.

With effect from 8 March 2023, Mr. Peng Cheng became the
executive Director. With effect from 8 March 2024, Mr. Peng Cheng
resigned as the executive Director and CEO, and Mr. Liu Zhizhen
was appointed as the CEQ.

With effect from 20 March 2024, Mr. Jiang Mingye, resigned as the
Company’s chief operating officer.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEBNWEDTH

The Group is a leading game developer and operator in China with
a global reach. Since our incorporation in 2008, we have been
engaging in the R&D, operation and publishing of a number of
popular games.

Overview of the industries in which the Company operates in

In terms of the gaming business, according to the “2023 Global
Games Market Report” (2023% Bk #% & ™ % 3k £ ) released by
Newzoo in 2024, the global games market size was estimated to be
US$184.0 billion in 2023, and the number of game players around
the world was over 3.3 billion, with a year-on-year increase of 4.3%.
Among which, (i) mobile games still represented the most important
sector of the gaming industry, and the global mobile games market
size was estimated to be US$90.5 billion in 2023, accounting
for 49% of the total revenue of the industry, with a year-on-year
decrease of 1.4%; and (ii) the PC games market size accounted for
21% of the total revenue of the industry, reaching US$38.4 billion
with a year-on-year increase of 5.3%. The report concluded that the
gaming industry will continue to develop steadily, and the games
market is expected to continue to grow in the next few years. It is
estimated that the number of players around the world will increase
from the current 3.3 billion to 3.6 billion by 2026, with the market size
reaching US$205.4 billion.

In terms of the cloud computing business, a global boom in the
R&D of Al models and applications has generated a high demand
for GPUs with high-computing power. Market demand is rapidly
changing and equipment is rapidly iterating. Against the backdrop
of rapid growth of the cloud computing market, due to the structural
differences in the market, the growth of non-Al training, reasoning
and application sectors in the cloud computing field was not as
rapid as expected. Furthermore, domestic internet giants, relying on
their strong capital strength and profound technology accumulation,
have advantages in terms of continuous R&D investment and
diversification of cloud computing service products. Combined with
the strong and rich ecological resources of their own main business,
these internet giants have formed an integrated comprehensive
business synergy with their cloud computing business, so that
small and medium-sized cloud computing companies face various
challenges such as technology, capital and business ecology in
competition.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Principal risks relating to our business

There are certain risks involved in our operations and our prospects
and future financial results could be materially and adversely affected
by these risks. The following highlight the principal risks exposed to
the Group and are not meant to be exhaustive:

° we are required to comply with new policies or any
amendment to current policies in relation to the gaming
industries, which may affect our business operations;

° we face uncertainties in the continued growth of the gaming
business as well as the market acceptance of our games;

o delays of game launches could negatively affect our
operations and prospects;

° we rely on our key personnel, and our business and growth
prospects may be severely disrupted if we lose their services
or are unable to attract new key employees;

° if we are unable to extend the expected lifecycle of our
games, our business, financial condition, results of operations
and prospects could be materially and adversely affected;

° we rely on third-party distribution and publishing platforms
to distribute and publish our games. If these third-party
distribution and publishing platforms fail to effectively
promote our games on their platforms or otherwise fulfil their
obligations to us, our business and results of the operations
will be materially and adversely affected; and

° our business relies on our data analysis capabilities, any
impact on which would materially and adversely affect our
ability to formulate appropriate business strategies.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
BIEE N EDNT (8)

To mitigate the identified risks, we shall monitor the risks, and review AT HEE#BIMRE @ RS ERER -
our business strategies and financial results. We have implemented I 3 & F 960 E TS BB K BA RS 3 48 - B AP
the following strategies to ensure the risks are being managed: EERATEEARRRRSHER:

. our Directors and management teams actively exchange  ® BMMEEREEEREEHES
views and information in relation to the new policies and HBERIRA BRBER R ERIR
amendments to current policies of the gaming industries THRETNERREES - WEKR
with relevant regulatory authorities and take appropriate HETHURBRBEZSELLIEARRN
actions to respond to the changes and ensure the Group is in SEETHEMEREERER:
compliance with the latest applicable laws and regulations;

. our user support department is committed to tracking and e BPMAPXEHFIR N REE M
responding to the changes in players’ preferences in a timely IR K R TR E A0 1L
and effective manner;

. we further strengthen our data analytics capabilities e BME— P MBBIESTEES - A
to continue developing popular games, and improving BERBEBDMEE - AR HE
the gaming experience of players and the needs of our DM EREREEMEERERTP

cloud-related customers; MFHE:

o we constantly enhance or update our existing games with e BT EBBARIMNFTIN LG R E

new features to attract players;

° to keep pace with the market, we bring on board new talents

to keep the competitiveness of our businesses; and

° we strengthen our relationships with major domestic and

international publishing and business partners.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Operational Information

During the year ended 31 December 2023, we continued to focus
on the R&D of games and the operations of high-quality games
to cope with the intensifying competition in the gaming industry
and endeavored to become a world-renowned game developer
integrated with research, operation and development capabilities.
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s online game
revenue was mainly derived from several well-known games,

o0 Aig,

including “DDTank” (58 58 &) series and “Wartune” (# ) series.

We assess the operating performance with a set of key performance
indicators, which include MAUs, MPUs and ARPPU. Fluctuations in
our operating data are primarily a result of changes in the number
of players who play, download (in the case of mobile games) and
pay for virtual items and premium features in our games. Using
these operating data as our key performance indicators allows
us to monitor our ability to offer highly engaging online games
and helps us to increase the continuous popularity of our games,
gain the monetization of our player base and deal with the intense
competition in the online gaming industry, so that we can implement
better business strategies.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, our web games had (i) an
average MAUs of approximately 0.7 million; (ii) an average MPUs of
approximately 32,300; and (iii) an ARPPU of approximately RMB587;
and our mobile games had (a) an average MAUs of approximately
0.7 million; (b) an average MPUs of approximately 65,000; and (c) an
ARPPU of approximately RMB729.

The Group provided cloud computing resources and relevant
support services to its customers. For the year ended 31 December
2023, the Company’s cloud business generated a revenue of
approximately RMB148.1 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
BIEEmES T (&)

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 BEz—_FT_=F1=A

COMPARED TO THE YEAR ENDED =E+—HIEFEHEZZ

31 DECEMBER 2022 = __—_F+=ZA=+—81t
FELER

The following table sets forth the comparative statements of profitor TXEHIHEE2 T -_=FR T - —

loss for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022: T A=+ —BHLEFELERMNERRK:

Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+—HLFE Year-on-year

2023 2022 change
—®=-= —E2-— A bt % &)
(RMB’000) (RMB'000) %
(AR%Tx) (AR®BTFIT) %
Revenue Iy &= 627,732 540,630 1641
Cost of revenue I 25 X AR (244,628) (279,427) 125
Gross profit EX 383,104 261,203 46.7
R&D expenses BB (168,489) (129,482) 30.1
Selling and marketing expenses HERTSHEER (49,837) (115,563) -56.9
Administrative expenses THRAX (72,423) (60,554) 19.6
Net provision of impairment losses on  TEHAE EE BRI
financial assets under expected credit 18 & &b & & (&
loss model BB TR (33,626) (11,446) 193.8
Other income H At g A 5,424 10,056 -46.1
Other gains or losses, net Hih sk BB FE (180,227) 353,160 -151.0
Operating (loss)/profit K (BB RF (116,074) 307,374 -137.8
Finance income BBl A 1,172 642 82.6
Finance costs EUR DN (24,719) (20,820) 18.7
Finance costs, net B 75 B 2N 5 R (28,547) (20,178) 16.7
Share of results of associates DIEBETEER (588) (3,807) -84.6
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETESHAT(ER),
= Rl (140,209) 283,389 -149.5
Income tax expense Fristi& A (4,685) (3,783) 23.8
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(BE)BER (144,894) 279,606 -151.8
28 7Road Holdings Limited 25+ K &% i B R A A



Management Discussion and Analysis (oontinued)

The following table sets forth the breakdown of our revenue for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022:

B E & B 0 AT (A8
TEHIAMBE-_B-SFR-T-=

FT_A=t—BLEFENKEBAA:

For the year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=t—-HLEE

2023 2022
—EC-=E —E-=
(% of total (% of total
(RMB’000) revenue) (RMB’000) revenue)
(AR¥% (1l e 2= (ANR® (1 e 25
T ) B EE%) Fo) %)
Types of goods or services EmdREESE
Online game revenue A A% e B W & 471,804 75.2% 426,054 78.8%
— Self-development games — B EE
published by the Group RE@BIT 356,996 56.9% 165,569 30.6%
published by other publishers Hth TR R 112,961 18.0% 151,949 28.1%
— Licensed games —RIB R
published by the Group REEELT 1,795 0.3% 1,283 0.2%
published by other publishers Hth TR BT 52 0.0% 107,253 19.9%
Sales of game copyrights i 6 7 1Bk AR AE - - 1,458 0.3%
Sales of online game technology and ~ $# ’% B EE R BT &
publishing solutions services BITHRA R RRY 664 0.1% 82 0.0%
Intellectual property licensing M ERET T 7,159 1.1% 6,669 1.2%
Cloud computing and related cloud EHERERBERS
service 148,105 23.6% 106,367 19.7%
Total et 627,732 100.0% 540,630 100.0%

For the year ended 31 December 2023, total revenue was
approximately RMB627.7 million, representing an increase of
approximately 16.1% as compared with the year ended 31 December
2022. This was mainly due to the increase in revenue of the game
business and cloud business.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, revenue of the Group’s
game business was approximately RMB471.8 million, representing
an increase of approximately 10.7% as compared with the year
ended 31 December 2022. This was mainly due to the increase in
revenue in 2023 generated from the game “DDTank Adventure” (5&
58 ¥ K E k) we launched at the end of 2022. For the year ended
31 Deoember 2023, revenue of the Group’s cloud computing and
related cloud service business was approximately RMB148.1 million,
representing an increase of approximately 39.2% as compared with
the year ended 31 December 2022. This was mainly due to the fact
that we commenced cooperation with part of our existing customers
in the cloud computing and related cloud service business in the
second quarter and second half of 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

&2 E AR ()

Our cost of revenue mainly comprises depreciation cost and lease
expenses of property, plant and equipment, employee salary
and benefit expenses incurred by our operations departments,
bandwidth and server custody fees, cost of game licensing and
amortized cost of IP games. The cost of revenue amounted to
approximately RMB244.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2023, representing a decrease of approximately 12.5% as compared
to approximately RMB279.4 million for the year ended 31 December
2022, mainly due to the decrease in cost of game licensing and
amortized cost of IP games.

Our gross profit amounted to approximately RMB383.1 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023, representing an increase of
approximately 46.7% as compared to approximately RMB261.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2022, which is mainly due to
the year-on-year increase in revenue and the year-on-year decrease
in cost of revenue.

Our gross profit margin was approximately 61.0% for the year ended
31 December 2023, representing an increase of 12.7 percentage
points as compared to approximately 48.3% for the year ended 31
December 2022, mainly due to the increase in revenue for the year
ended 31 December 2023 as compared to the corresponding period
for 2022, and the year-on-year decrease in cost of revenue.

R&D Expenses

Our R&D expenses mainly comprise employee salary and benefit
expenses incurred by our R&D department and outsourcing
expenses. The R&D expenses amounted to approximately RMB168.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, representing an
increase of approximately 30.1% as compared to approximately
RMB129.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. Such
increase was mainly because we increased the investment in R&D
in 2023, leading to an increase in employee salary expenses and
outsourcing expenses.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses mainly comprise employee salary and
benefit expenses, rental expenses of office premises and professional
consulting fees. The administrative expenses were approximately
RMB72.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, representing
an increase of 19.6% as compared to approximately RMB60.6 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022. Such increase was mainly
because of the increase in expenses such as property rents.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

Our selling and marketing expenses mainly comprise advertising
expenses incurred by marketing. The selling and marketing expenses
amounted to approximately RMB49.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, representing a decrease of approximately 56.9%
as compared to approximately RMB115.6 million for the year ended
31 December 2022. Such decrease was mainly due to the increased
promotion activities for launching new games in 2022, while the
number of promotion activities during 2023 remained steady.

Income Tax

The income tax expenses increased for the year ended 31
December 2023 as compared to the corresponding period in 2022,
which was mainly due to the change in tax rates applicable to the
proceeds from taxable income of certain subsidiaries for the year.
The estimated income tax rates applicable to the Group entities
(excluding the entities that are currently tax exempted) for the year
ended 31 December 2023 varied from 12.5% to 25% (2022: 12.5%—
25%).

For the year ended 31 December 2023, our loss for the year
attributable to owners of the Company amounted to approximately
RMB146.5 million, representing a decrease of approximately 151.8%
as compared with the year ended 31 December 2022. This was
mainly attributable to (i) the absence of gain on disposal of an
associate of other gain or loss, net, for the year ended 31 December
2023, which recorded approximately RMB306.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022, (i) the impairment of assets in relation to
the Group’s cloud computing business, and (iii) a recorded increase
in fair value loss of the Group’s financial assets, mainly attributable
to the fair value loss of a trust. For further details on impairment of
assets in relation to the cloud computing business and fair value
loss of the financial assets, please refer to notes 8 and 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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I\/Ianagement Discussion and Analysis (continued)

B IR E R am B AT ()

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flow and equity or debt financing activities for its capital
requirements. As at 31 December 2023, cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately RMB48.1 million (2022: RMB104.7
million), which were denominated in RMB, representing a decrease of
approximately 54.1% as compared to the year ended 31 December
2022. Such decrease was mainly due to the repayment of principal
and interest of borrowings and addition to investment in assets
during the year.

We adopt a prudent treasury management policy to ensure
that our Group maintains a healthy financial position. As at 31
December 2023, our bank and other borrowings amounted to
approximately RMB231.0 million (2022: RMB206.9 million), mainly
due to new borrowings during the year. As at 31 December 2023,
our borrowings were denominated in RMB. Details of the Group’s
borrowings, including maturities, currencies and interest rates, are
set out in note 31 of the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s gearing ratio was
approximately 22.9% (2022: 28.2%). The decrease was mainly due
to the higher decrease in total liabilities relatively to total assets. The
gearing ratio is calculated as total debt divided by total assets of the
Group as at 31 December 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

ERE R RS (F)

Year ended 31 December

BEt+t-A=+t—-HLHEE

Year-on-year

2023 2022 cnange

—EZ=F —E-Z [ bt 2 &)

(RMB’000) (RMB’000) %

(AR%Tx) (AR®BFI) %

Servers and other equipment PR 75 83 & H A 5% 8 4,022 183,176 -97.8

Office furniture and leasehold MARER

improvement HEMFEEE 1,692 639 164.8
Buildings and leasehold land BFERHEE LM 42,082 —

Total et 47,796 183,815 -74.0

Our capital expenditure includes servers and other equipment, office X FIE A X B IERIG S K Efth =845 -

furniture and leasehold improvement and buildings and leasehold
land. The total capital expenditure for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022 was approximately RMB47.8 million and RMB183.8
million, respectively. The decrease was mainly due to the purchase of
servers and other equipment for the development of cloud business
during 2022, while such purchases decreased in 2023.

The Group operates in overseas markets through overseas
publishers and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
various currency exposures, primarily with respect to the US dollar.
Foreign exchange risk arises primarily from recognized assets and
liabilities when foreign currency is or will be received from overseas
counterparties. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
did not have policies to hedge any foreign currency fluctuation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BIEE T AT ()

As of 31 December 2023, (i) the fair value of the investment in
Shanghai Silicon was approximately RMB383.5 million; (ii) an
unrealised fair value gain on the Group’s investment in Shanghai
Silicon of approximately RMB3.5 million was accumulatively
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2023; and (iii) no
dividend/income distribution was received. Accordingly, the fair
value of the investment in Shanghai Silicon compared to the Group’s
total assets as at 31 December 2023 was approximately 16.9% and
therefore classified as a significant investment of the Group.

As of 31 December 2023, the Group effectively invested in
approximately 2.2% of Shanghai Silicon (correspondingly held
approximately 23,150,127 shares in Shanghai Silicon) though
indirect shareholding at a total capital commitment of RMB380
million. Shanghai Silicon is a market-leading domestic manufacturer
of large-scale semiconductor silicon chips, and is expected to
have broad market prospects in the future. Shanghai Silicon’s
products are widely used in the production of memory chips,
central processing units, graphic processing units and various
semiconductor components.

The investment in Shanghai Silicon is expected to be for long-term
purposes. The Directors are of the view that Shanghai Silicon is
positioned as an upstream company of cloud related business, and
given the future prospects of large-scale semiconductor silicon chips
and it is expected that the Group will be able to generate investment
returns from the investment in Shanghai Silicon.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any other
significant investments held as of 31 December 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company did not have
other future plans for material investments or capital assets as of 31
December 2023.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

The Company did not have any other material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As of 31 December 2023, we pledged property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets as security for loans of RMB221.0 million. For
further details, please refer to note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Save as disclosed above, as of 31 December 2023, there was no
other material charge on the Group’s assets.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND
GUARANTEES

As of 31 December 2023, save as disclosed in the section headed
“Material Legal Proceedings” in this annual report, we did not have
any other unrecorded significant contingent liabilities, guarantees or
any material litigation against us.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

B IR E R am B AT ()

As of 31 December 2023, we had 422 full-time employees, mostly
based in Shenzhen, Wuxi and Shanghai, the PRC. The following
table sets out the number of our employees by function as at 31
December 2023:

BE-_ZE-_=f+-A=+—08" &M%
a2t zBEE  HEFRKZHUNFE
I mH R EE  TERHIBEMR T
T ZFE+ A=+ HEBESONESR
8 :

Number of
Function B3 B8 Employees % of total
BE®E HEBESL
R&D ot 2% 285 68%
Operation L 67 16%
Administration 1T 70 17%
Total 5t 422 100%

For the year ended 31 December 2023, our employee remuneration
amounted to approximately RMB185.3 million (including salary,
bonus interest, share-based compensation, pension scheme
contribution, other social security fund and other employee benefits).

The remuneration of our employees is determined based on their
performance, experience, competence and market comparables.
Their remuneration package includes salaries, performance-related
bonus interest, RSUs, allowances and state-managed retirement
benefit schemes for employees in the PRC. The Group also provides
customized training to its staff to enhance their technical and product
knowledge.

The remuneration of Directors and members of senior management
is determined on the basis of each individual’s responsibilities,
qualification, position, experience, performance, seniority and time
devoted to our business. They receive compensation in the form
of salaries, performance-related bonus interest, RSUs, and other
allowances and benefits-in-kind, including the Group’s contribution
to their pension schemes.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining high
standards of corporate governance by focusing on the principles of
integrity, accountability, transparency, independence, responsibility
and fairness. The Company has developed and implemented sound
corporate governance policies and measures, and the Board is
responsible for performing such corporate governance duties. The
Board will continue to review and monitor the corporate governance
of the Company, as well as various internal policies and procedures,
including but not limited to those applicable to employees and
Directors, with reference to the CG Code and other applicable legal
and regulatory requirements so as to maintain a high standard of
corporate governance of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has
complied with the applicable code provisions of Part 2 to the CG
Code.

The Board is responsible for leadership and the internal control of the
Company and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions
and performance and is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs.
The Board has general powers for the management and plans the
Company’s business development. The day-to-day operations and
management are delegated by the Board to the management of
the Group, who implements the Group’s strategy and direction as
determined by the Board.

The Board currently consists of six Directors, namely Mr. Meng
Shugi (Chairman), Mr. Li Zhengquan and Mr. Yang Cheng, as
executive Directors, and Mr. Xue Jun, Ms. Li Yiging and Mr. Lui Chi
Ho, as independent non-executive Directors. None of the Directors
have a relationship (including financial, business, family or other
substantial or related relationship) with each other. The Board has a
balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of
the business of the Group.

The biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 19 to 22 of this
annual report.

There is no information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
rERERWmE (8)

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company and the Company has issued letters of
appointment to each of the independent non-executive Directors.

Code provision B.2.2 of Part 2 to the CG Code states that every
director, including those appointed for a specific term, should be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, all the Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any
new Director appointed by the Board (i) to fill a casual vacancy in the
Board; or (ii) as an additional Director to the Board shall hold office
only until the first annual general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of three years and is
subject to retirement by rotation at an annual general meeting of the
Company at least once every three years.

The service contracts and letters of appointment are subject to
termination in accordance with their respective terms. The term of
the service contracts and the letters of appointment may be renewed
in accordance with the Articles of Association, the Listing Rules and
other applicable laws.

The aggregate remuneration (including fees, salaries, contributions
to pension schemes, share-based compensation expenses,
discretionary bonuses, housing and other allowances and other
benefits in kind) payable to the Directors for the year ended 31
December 2023 was approximately RMB12.4 million.

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with reference to
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the Directors and performance of the Group.
Details of the remuneration of the Directors and senior management
for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in notes 10 and 11
to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect
of legal proceedings against the Directors.

The Company has procedures as agreed by the Board to
enable Directors, upon reasonable request, to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expense as required pursuant to code provision C.5.6 of Part 2 to
the CG Code.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of
this annual report, the Board at all times met the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors, representing one-third of the
Board.

The Company has received a written confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and considered them to be
independent. In addition, each of the independent non-executive
Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023 had
demonstrated the attributes of an independent non-executive
director by providing independent views and input and there is no
evidence that their tenure has had any impact on their independence.
Accordingly, the Directors are of the opinion that each of the current
independent non-executive Directors have the required character,
integrity, independence and experience to perform the role of an
independent non-executive director. The Board is not aware of any
circumstances that might influence each of the current independent
non-executive Directors in exercising their independent judgement
and the Board believes that their external experience will continue
to ensure independent views and input are available to the Board,
as well as generate significant contribution to the Company and
the Shareholders as a whole. The Board has conducted its review
on such mechanism to ensure independent views and input are
available to the Board and considered that the said mechanism was
effective for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Directors have access to the services of the joint company
secretaries to ensure that the Board procedures are followed. The
joint company secretaries of the Company are Mr. Li Zhengqguan
and Mr. Cheung Kai Cheong, Willie. In compliance with Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules, Mr. Li Zhengquan and Mr. Cheung Kai Cheong,
Willie have undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the year ended 31 December 2023. Mr. Cheung Kai
Cheong, Willie has the necessary qualifications and experience
as required under Rules 3.28 and 8.17 of the Listing Rules. As
confirmed by the Stock Exchange, Mr. Li Zhengquan is qualified to
act as the company secretary of the Company under Rule 3.28 of
the Listing Rules.

Mr. Cheung Kai Cheong, Willie is a senior manager of SWCS
Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited and his primary
corporate contact person at the Company is Mr. Li Zhengquan,
the Company’s executive Director, chief financial officer and joint
company secretary.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

TEERHRSE (B)

In compliance with code provision C.1.4 of Part 2 to the CG Code,
all Directors attended various continuous professional development
(“CPD”) trainings during the year ended 31 December 2023,
including CPD activities by way of reading materials and/or trainings
regarding the updating of the Listing Rules, the responsibilities and
continuous obligations of Directors and the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide. The Company has arranged
suitable trainings for all Directors in order to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills as part of their continuous professional
development.

Mr. Peng Cheng was appointed as the executive Director with effect
from 8 March 2023. He has obtained the legal advice referred to Rule
3.09D of the Listing Rules on the same date. Mr. Peng confirmed he
understood his obligations as a director of a listed issuer. With effect
from 8 March 2024, Mr. Peng resigned as the executive Director.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
TtxEBE ARG (B)

The particulars of the trainings of each Director during the year I T&EMEE - - =F+_-A=+—H

ended 31 December 2023 are set out as follows: HTFEBUNESEI ZBINFE:
Participation of
Name of Director CPD trainings Types of CPD trainings participated
EYIESE
EEpE HEXHRZFI SMBBEXRRIZINER
Executive Directors
HITHE
Mr. Meng Shuqi v Online training and reading materials for seminar on
enhanced continuing professional development for corporate
governance professionals
RETRE BEARAGBEXEATRICFHBEEXERBENR LT

2l 52 69 5 41 4

Mr. Li Zhengquan v Seminar on enhanced continuing professional development
for corporate governance professionals

FEREE FRARTIRBEEA TR EZRERAR

Mr. Yang Cheng v Online training and reading materials for seminar on

enhanced continuing professional development for corporate
governance professionals

1% BRI EEEATRICHEZXERRBENR 15
A K B & R

Mr. Peng Cheng (Nete) v Online training and reading materials for seminar on
enhanced continuing professional development for corporate
governance professionals

2=l BRARARABEREATRICHEZERRBENR LT
Al & B :E A R

Independent non-executive Directors

BYKBITES

Mr. Xue Jun v Online training and reading materials for seminar on
enhanced continuing professional development for corporate
governance professionals

BERAE BRARRICBEEEALRICBESEERBENR L1F
A1l B B i 1 Kt

Ms. Li Yiging v Online training and reading materials for seminar on
enhanced continuing professional development for corporate
governance professionals

Etadx L BEARAGEBEEATRICFHEEXERBENR LT
Al & B E R

Mr. Lui Chi Ho 4 Online training and reading materials for seminar on
enhanced continuing professional development for corporate
governance professionals

BEEREE EHARAABEXEATREFESELERBENR 15
B 3 B0 AT
Note: B 5

With effect from 8 March 2024, Mr. Peng Cheng resigned as the executive Director. BE-T-_MF=ANBE ZRELEBHTHNTES -
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
rERERWmE (8)

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in code
provision A.2.1 of Part 2 to the CG Code.

The principal roles and functions of the Board in relation to corporate
governance are to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance, to review and monitor the
training and continuous professional development of Directors and
management, to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to
employees and Directors, and to review the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance
Report.

Pursuant to the CG Code, the Board has adopted a Board diversity
policy and a nomination policy. The Board diversity policy sets
out the basic principles to ensure that the Board has the requisite
knowledge of the Company and experience in different business
and cultural conditions of different regions and markets and a
variety of perspectives necessary to maintain and enhance the
overall effectiveness of the Board and taking account of succession
planning. All Board appointments will continue to be made on a merit
basis based on the Group’s business needs from time to time, while
taking into account the benefit of diversity (including gender diversity
at Board level). In accordance with the Company’s nomination policy,
the Company will ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives necessary to enhance
the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain high standards of
corporate governance. Selection of Board candidates will be based
on a range of factors with reference to the Group’s business needs,
including but not limited to age, gender, nationality, educational
background, industry and professional experience. The Nomination
Committee will select board members in accordance with the
Company’s nomination policy and will also give consideration to
the Company’s Board diversity policy. The Nomination Committee
will review the Board diversity policy at least annually to ensure its
continued effectiveness. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
the Nomination Committee was satisfied with the diversity of the
existing Board and did not, for the time being, set up any measurable
objective regarding the diversity of the Board.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Currently, the Board comprises five male Directors and one female
Director and has achieved gender diversity in respect of the Board.
Our male to female senior management gender ratio is 3:1. Further
details on the gender ratio of the Group together with the relevant
data can be found in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 at the
Appendix to this annual report.

The Company has adopted a practice to convene Board meetings
regularly which is at least four meetings per year and roughly on
a quarterly basis. A notice of a regular Board meeting shall be
delivered to all the Directors at least 14 days in advance with the
matters to be discussed specified in agenda of the meeting. For
other Board and Board committee meetings, reasonable notice is
generally served. Agendas or relevant documents of the Board or
Board committee meetings shall be despatched to the Directors
or members of the committees at least three days prior to the
convening of the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time
to review the relevant documents and be adequately prepared for
the meetings. When Directors or Board committee members are
unable to attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters to be
discussed and given an opportunity to make their views known to
the Chairman prior to the meeting. The minutes are kept by the joint
company secretaries of the Company and the copies are circulated
to all Directors for reference and recording purposes.

The minutes of the meetings of the Board and Board committees,
composing of all matters under consideration and decisions made
including any problems raised by the Directors, are thoroughly
recorded. Draft minutes of each Board meeting and Board
committee meeting are sent to the Directors for comments within
a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held.
Directors have a right to review the minutes of the Board meetings
and the Board committee meetings.

tEERHmS (B)

ARl  EXQERAEBHEER—RK
MEF CERESFEMMNZT - M
EREEENSERLEER L RR3
BREAREEER L RA KRB IBAE—
FHBARAERMEABARBEE
T _=Ft+_-_A=t—HILFENRE -
HEeREBRREEM -

ARG RPN EHRITEETSSHMNER
Me8FELBTONAERRABERETE
BOISZ - EFTZHTEZNBEANER
SHRBTHELUEHEELEEE  EF
HESHRAENYBEFNRNERE - i E
HWEESREZTLZESCTHME ' AQA
—REeEBHAEBEN ZRENEBEES
CREELZEEER N BERNEZBHA
EL-HEAXATEETRLZESNE ' UE
RESEEARCFEERBEEAXHRERSD
EELEECE - WESKEEZEEKE
ReEHFE L MRS BEENE TR
MEERREZEBHIIARENEEFEER
BEENER SRLCHEARRABEER
AWERT mMAASEMTEEES
A2 E K8 -

EXEe R NEFTRREERNE R
BREFECBRMEEZSTRALMERN
RE - BREFEONIARNE  ZEF
CEENEFRECERNERCHE
BAKNREZRITERZRNGIERBR
BEATRES UHEREFI -E=AH#
EHNEEe R NEFRREREENE

Bk

— %~ = 3R Annual Report 2023 43



Corporate Governance Report (continued)
rERERWmE (8)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company held eight
Board meetings. The attendance of each Director at the Board
meetings is set out below:

HE_T-_=F+-A=+—HILFE"
ARABRATNREZEEH - SRRESF
HEEEFESINBEREIIMT

Attendance/
Number of
Directors E=E meetings held
HERR
EHERERE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Meng Shugi BEFEE 8/8
Mr. Peng Chengotl EZ i e ol 4/4
Mr. Li Zhengguan FEREE 8/8
Mr. Yang Cheng 15K % & 8/8
Independent non-executive Directors BIYFHTES
Mr. Xue Jun BEELE 8/8
Ms. Li Yiging Basxt 8/8
Mr. Lui Chi Ho EREE 8/8
Note: B 5% -

With effect from 8 March 2023, Mr. Peng Cheng was appointed as the executive Director
and began attending Board meetings during the year ended 31 December 2023 from the
fifth Board meeting of the year. With effect from 8 March 2024, Mr. Peng Cheng resigned as
the executive Director.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under code provision C.2.1 of Part 2 to the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual.

The Chairman and CEO of the Company are independent of each
other and their positions are held by different individuals. Mr.
Meng Shugi, the Chairman of the Company, is responsible for the
management of the Board and the formulation of the overall strategy
of the Group. Mr. Peng Cheng, the CEO, (resigned as CEO with
effect from 8 March 2024) is responsible for the implementation
of the Group’s strategies and business strategies formulated by
the Board and the day-to-day operations of the Group, including
product development management and channel operations. Mr.
Liu Zhizhen, the CEOQO, (appointed as CEO with effect from 8 March
2024) is responsible for the implementation of the Group’s strategies
and business strategies formulated by the Board and the day-
to-day operations of the Group, including product development
management and channel operations.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Annual general meeting proceedings are reviewed from time to time
to ensure that the Company follows best corporate governance
practices. The notice of annual general meeting is distributed to all
shareholders at least 21 days prior to the annual general meeting
and the accompanying circular also sets out details of each
proposed resolution and other relevant information as required
under the Listing Rules. The chairman of the annual general meeting
exercises his power under the Articles of Association to put each
proposed resolution to the vote by way of a poll. The procedures for
demanding and conducting a poll are explained at the beginning of
the meeting. The poll results announcement will be posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange on the day of the
annual general meeting.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, one annual general
meeting was held and no extraordinary general meetings were held.
The attendance of each Director at the meetings is set out below:

tEERHmS (B)
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BE_Z-_=ZF+-_A=+—HLFEL
TT—RBRRBFAGR I ERITR IR
ARG ZREZESHEREAZHEBNR
BB

Attendance/
Number of
Directors E=E meetings held
HERR
BHEERRE
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Meng Shugi REFEE 11
Mr. Peng ChengNotel EZ el 1/1
Mr. Li Zhengquan TEREE 11
Mr. Yang Cheng 15K 5 & 1/1

Independent non-executive Directors BIUkHITESE
Mr. Xue Jun EERE 1/1
Ms. Li Yiging Besd =t 1/1
Mr. Lui Chi Ho EEREE 11

Note:
With effect from 8 March 2024, Mr. Peng Cheng resigned as the executive Director.
The forthcoming AGM is expected to be held on Tuesday, 28 May

2024. The notice of the AGM will be sent to the Shareholders at least
21 days before the AGM.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
rERERWmE (8)

The Company has three principal Board committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. Each of the Board committees operates under its terms
of reference. The terms of reference of the Board committees are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company held seven
Board committee meetings. The attendance of each Director at the
Board committee meetings is set out below:

ARARE-EXTBREFTEZES HEZ
ZBg wHEZEELREEZEE - &
S8 HBREEEFE -EFE
BenBESENARR M EA
HER -

HE-_ET-_=—F+-_A=+—HIEE"
ARBIBRATLAESEZESSH - B4
BEEHEEEZECERMBEREYIDT

Attendance/Number of meetings held
HEBR BREBIRE

Audit Remuneration Nomination

Directors 5% Committee Committee Committee
EREEE FMWEEES REZES

Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Meng Shugi REFEE N/A 3/3 2/2
3

Mr. Peng Chengotel T RE ST A N/A N/A N/A
T E A i A 38 A

Mr. Li Zhengguan FERESE N/A N/A N/A
38 A 38 A I3 A

Mr. Yang Cheng 15K & N/A N/A N/A
3 A I3 A 3 A

Independent non-executive Directors Bk HTESE

Mr. Xue Jun EELE 2/2 3/3 2/2

Ms. Li Yiging Bas &+ 2/2 3/3 2/2

Mr. Lui Chi Ho AEREE 2/2 3/3 2/2

Note:

With effect from 8 March 2024, Mr. Peng Cheng resigned as the executive Director.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The Audit
Committee consists of three members, namely Mr. Xue Jun, Ms. Li
Yiging and Mr. Lui Chi Ho, all being our independent non-executive
Directors. Mr. Xue Jun is the chairman of the Audit Committee. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise,
and provide an independent view of the effectiveness of, the financial
reporting process and the risk management and internal control

ML -

BE-Z-_ME=-ANAR TRELBERTES -

ERERE®

ARARBEEE R TARIBZEES
WEIZEMBELE BEEREZEEH=F
REEIBYIFATESRHELRE B
FEREIRBERELE)EK - BEEXRESR
BERLZBEXIF BRZBEENIERE
AR kEEARENPHERERE B
RERELABEZRGYABEHEEEN
BRMEREHBYIER BEREBJRE N

systems of the Group, oversee the audit process and perform other REBITEEZE R RKMEMBENEMT -

duties and responsibilities as assigned by the Board.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, major works performed
by the Audit Committee included, among others, (i) reviewing
the Group’s annual results announcement for the year ended 31
December 2022; (i) reviewing the Group’s internal control policy, risk
management systems and internal audit functions; (jii) reviewing the
Group’s interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2023 and
audit plan; and (iv) discussing and addressing audit issues raised by
the external auditors of the Company.

The external auditors of the Company were invited to attend the
Audit Committee meetings without the presence of the executive
Directors to discuss with the Audit Committee issues arising from the
audit and financial reporting matters. There was no disagreement
between the Board and the Audit Committee regarding the
re-appointment of the external auditors of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
Remuneration Committee has four members, comprising three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Li Yiging, Mr.
Xue Jun and Mr. Lui Chi Ho, and one executive Director, namely Mr.
Meng Shugi. Ms. Li Yiging is the chairwoman of the Remuneration
Committee. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee
are to assess performance of executive Directors, establish and
make recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure
of the remuneration for the Directors and senior management (i.e.
the model described in the code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of Part 2 to the
CG Code is adopted) and make recommendations to the Board on
employee benefit arrangement (including reviewing and/or approving
matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration
Committee reviewed the remuneration policy and structure, assessed
the performance of executive directors, approved the terms of
executive directors’ service contracts and made recommendations
to the Board on the annual remuneration packages of the executive
Directors and the senior management and other related matters.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of Part 2 to the CG Code, details of
the annual remuneration of the senior management by band for the
year ended 31 December 2023 are set out under “Compensation of
Directors and Senior Management” in the Director’s Report.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
rERERWmE (8)

Nomination Committee

The Company has established a Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The Nomination
Committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors,
being Mr. Xue Jun, Ms. Li Yiging and Mr. Lui Chi Ho, and one
executive Director, being Mr. Meng Shugi, who is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing and
assessing the composition of the Board and the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors and making recommendations
to the Board on appointment and removal of Directors. When
nominating a new Director, the Nomination Committee shall conduct
adequate due diligence in respect of such individual and hold a
meeting to make recommendations for consideration and approval
by the Board, The Nomination Committee will consider candidates
on merit against objective criteria and with due regards to the
benefits of diversity on the Board in accordance with the Board
diversity policy adopted by the Company. Diversity of the Board will
be considered from a number of perspectives, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, industry
experience, technical and professional skills and/or qualifications,
knowledge, length of services and time to be devoted as a Director.
The Company will also take into account factors relating to its own
business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination
Committee reviewed the structure, size and composition of the
Board, assessed the independence of independent non-executive
Directors and recommended the Board on the appointment of an
executive Director and the re-election of Directors.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors and the
Group’s employees who, because of their office or employment, are
likely to possess inside information in relation to the Group or the
Company’s securities.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, they have all confirmed
that they have complied with the Model Code during the year ended
31 December 2023. In addition, the Company is not aware of any
non-compliance of the Model Code by the relevant employees of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Company has in place a policy on handling and dissemination
of inside information which sets out the procedures and internal
controls for handling and dissemination of inside information in
a timely manner in such a way so as not to place any person in
a privileged dealing position and to allow time for the market to
determine the price of the listed securities of the Company with the
latest available information. This policy also provides guidelines to
staff of the Company to ensure proper safeguards exist to prevent
the Company from breaching the statutory disclosure requirements.
It also includes appropriate internal control and reporting systems
to identify and assess potential inside information. Dissemination of
inside information of the Company shall be conducted by publishing
the relevant information on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company, according to the requirements of the Listing Rules.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023, the fees paid/payable to Elite
Partners CPA Limited, the external auditors of the Company, were as
follows:

HE-_T_=F+-A=+—BLEFE"
BN/ EBNAABRIIBREEOATERS
AR SEBAERARMNERMT

Nature of Services REME RMB’000

ARETIT
Audit services (including annual audit) BEVRB (BEFEER) 3,465
Non-Audit related services (interim review) JERAZ A BRI (R HIEE ) 430
Total et 3,895

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements which give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flows
during the year ended 31 December 2023. A statement from the
auditor about its reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements is set out on pages 88 to 91 of this annual
report. In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2023, the Directors have selected suitable
accounting policies and applied them consistently, made judgments
and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared
the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The basis on which the Company generates or preserves value
over the longer term and the strategy for delivering its objectives
are explained in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” as set out on pages 25 to 40 of this annual report.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature
and extent of the risk the Company is willing to take to achieve the
Group’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Group establishes
and maintains appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems. The Board has developed its internal
management systems and has an internal audit function, which
includes but is not limited to the following processes:

° the Board receives regular updates from the senior
management and reviews the Group’s business plan, financial
results, investment strategies and business indicators to
ensure that the business risks are identified and managed;

° the senior management supervises the Group’s business
performance on an on-going basis via regular meetings
with respective departments and project teams, to identify
potential risks and develop strategies to address the risk;

° the Group monitors a wide range of indicators, such as game
statistics, player feedbacks and employee turnover rate, and
responds promptly if any risk indicators arise; and

° the Group works with external legal, accounting and other
professional advisers in various jurisdictions to ensure that it is
in compliance with relevant legislation and regulations.

However, the risk management and internal control systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

TEERHRSE (B)

The Board is responsible for overseeing the management in
the design, implementation and monitoring of such systems,
and reviewing and maintaining appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems. During the year ended
31 December 2023, the Board conducted an annual review of the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group and
considered the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group have been implemented effectively and are adequate. Such
review covered financial, compliance and operational control. The
Board also discussed the business risk, financial risk, compliance
risk, operational risk and other risks. The Company has set up an
internal control department to conduct regular review of the internal
control system, policies and procedures of the Group and make
recommendations for rectification. The Company will continue to
improve its internal control system, to meet its obligations under the
Listing Rules and to satisfy the development requirements of the
Company.

In addition, the Board has reviewed and considered that the
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs and
budget of the Company’s accounting, compliance, legal and financial
reporting functions are adequate and effective during the year ended
31 December 2023.

The Group attaches utmost importance to the proper handling
and dissemination of inside information. Internal policies have
been put in place to ensure that inside information is adequately
controlled. To ensure the confidentiality and the timely disclosure of
inside information, all employees have been provided with learning
materials and guidelines regarding the handling and dissemination of
inside information. Our data system controls have been implemented
to ensure the access to sensitive data is restricted to authorized
personnel only.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential so as to provide Shareholders and other
stakeholders with ready, equal, regular and timely access to material
information about the Company, in order to maintain an on-going
dialogue with Shareholders and to enable Shareholders to exercise
their rights in an informed manner, and to allow Shareholders and
other stakeholders to engage actively with the Company through
general meetings or other proper means.

The Company communicates information to Shareholders and
other stakeholders through various channels, including its periodical
financial announcements and reports, annual general meetings and
extraordinary general meetings, all the disclosures submitted to
the Stock Exchange and its corporate communications and other
corporate publications on the Company’s website.

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and
extraordinary general meetings, which provides opportunities for
Shareholders to ask questions about the Company’s performance.
The Chairman of the Board, independent non-executive Directors,
and the chairmen of all Board committees (or their delegates) will
make themselves available at general meetings to meet Shareholders
and answer their enquiries.

In addition, to promote effective communication, the Company
maintains a website at www.7road.com, where up-to-date
information and updates on the Company’s business developments
and operations, financial information, corporate governance
practices and other information are available for public access.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholders’ communication policy. Having considered the multiple
channels of communication and engagement in place, it is satisfied
that the Shareholders’ communication policy has been implemented
during the year ended 31 December 2023 and is effective.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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On 23 May 2023, a special resolution approving the adoption
of the Articles of Association in substitution for the then existing
memorandum and articles of association of the Company was
passed by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the
Company. For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 30 March 2023, the circular of the Company dated
27 April 2023 and the announcement of the Company dated 23 May
2023.

A copy of the Articles of Association is available on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Pursuant to
the Articles of Association, general meetings of the Company shall
be convened on the written requisition of any one or more members
of the Company deposited at the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such
a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects of
the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided that such
requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up share capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.
Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition.

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution is proposed for each substantially separate issue at
general meetings, including the election of individual Directors. All
resolutions put forward at general meetings of the Company will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be
posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange
after each general meeting.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Under article 64 of the Articles of Association, any one or more
Shareholders holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company, on a one vote
per Share basis, shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the joint company secretaries of the Company, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business or resolution specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition. If, within 21 days of such deposit, the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may convene a physical meeting at only one
location, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

The Board is not aware of any provisions allowing the Shareholders
to put forward proposals at general meetings of the Company under
the Articles of Association and the Companies Act. Shareholders
who wish to put forward proposals at general meetings of the
Company may refer to the preceding paragraph to make a written
requisition to require the convening of an extraordinary general
meeting of the Company.

Detailed procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director are published on the Company’s website. For
putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send
written enquiries to the Company as follows:

Address: No. 2-18-1902, Long Shan Road, Xin Wu District, Wuxi,
Jiangsu Province, PRC

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries.
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Directors’ Report

EEEHRE

The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands on 6
September 2017 as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Act. The Group is a leading game developer
and operator in China with a global reach. The Group is principally
engaged in the R&D, operation and publication of games and the
provision of other services such as cloud computing.

The activities and particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are
shown under note 39 to the consolidated financial statements. An
analysis of the Group’s revenue and operating profit for the year
ended 31 December 2023 by principal activities is set out in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this
annual report and consolidated statement of profit or loss.

A review of the Group’s business during the year ended 31
December 2023, which includes a discussion of the principal
challenges and uncertainties faced by the Group, an analysis of the
Group’s performance using financial key performance indicators,
particulars of important events affecting the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2023, and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s business, could be found in the
sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management Discussion
and Analysis” and “Corporate Governance Report” in this annual
report. The review and discussion form part of this Directors’ report.

The Group actively abides by the regulatory requirements in various
jurisdictions which it operates in and has kept a close watch on any
new laws or regulatory changes.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
annual report, the Group has complied with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Company in material
respects.
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The consolidated financial results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 are set out on pages 92 to 99 of this annual report.
The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of any final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 23 May 2024 to Tuesday, 28 May 2024, both days
inclusive and during which period no share transfer will be effected,
for the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entittlement to attend
and vote at the AGM to be held on Tuesday, 28 May 2024 at 11.00
a.m. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged for registration with the Company’s share registrar in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 22
May 2024.

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years
is set out on pages 10 to 11 of this annual report.

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note
16 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 176 to 177 of
this annual report.
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Directors’ Report (continued)
EEgHE (B)

The Group is highly aware of the importance of environment
protection and has not noted any material non-compliance with any
relevant laws and regulations in relation to its business including
health and safety, workplace conditions, employment and the
environment. The Group has implemented environmental protection
measures and has also encouraged staff to be environmentally
friendly at work by consuming electricity and paper according to
actual needs, so as to reduce energy consumption and minimize
unnecessary waste. See “Appendix — Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” to this annual report for further details.

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements on page 197 of this annual report.

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in
the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity on pages 96 to
97 of this annual report and in note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 216 to 217 of this annual report, respectively.
As at 31 December 2023, the Company had distributable reserves
amounting to RMB3,942.7 million.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any Shares for the year ended 31 December 2023.

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association, or the Companies Act, which would oblige the
Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing
Shareholders.
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The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to
the date of this annual report were as follows

Executive Directors

Mr. Meng Shuaqi (Chairman)

Mr. Peng Cheng (appointed with effect from 8 March 2023 and
resigned with effect from 8 March 2024)

Mr. Li Zhengquan

Mr. Yang Cheng

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Xue Jun
Ms. Li Yiging
Mr. Lui Chi Ho

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management
of the Group as at the date of this annual report are set out on
pages 18 to 23 the section headed “Profiles of Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company. Pursuant to their respective service contracts,
() Mr. Meng Shugi has agreed to act as executive Director for an
initial term of three years commencing from 18 July 2018, which was
renewed for three more years on 18 July 2021; (i) Mr. Yang Cheng
agreed to act as executive Director with effect from 29 October 2018
for a term of three years, which was renewed for three more years
on 29 October 2021; and (i) Mr. Li Zhengquan agreed to act as
executive Director with effect from 30 April 2019 for a term of three
years, which was renewed for three more years on 30 April 2022.
The above service contracts may be terminated by not less than
three months’ notice in writing served by either the executive Director
or the Company. Each of the independent non-executive Directors
has signed an appointment letter with the Company for an initial term
of three years commencing from his/her respective appointment
date, which may be terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either of the Director or the Company.
Under the respective appointment letters, each of the independent
non-executive Directors is entitled to a fixed Director’s fee.
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Directors’ Report (continued)
EETRE (B)

The appointments of the Directors are subject to the provisions of
retirement and rotation of Directors under the Articles of Association.

None of the Directors (including the Directors proposed for
re-election at the AGM) has a service contract with members of the
Group that is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Other than disclosed in the section headed “Related Party
Transactions” in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements,
no contract of significance was entered into between the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholders of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended 31
December 2023 or subsisted at the end of the year and no contract
of significance for the provision of services to the Company or any of
its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries was entered into during the year ended 31 December
2023 or subsisted at the end of the year ended 31 December 2023.

Other than disclosed in note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transaction, arrangement and contract of significance
to the business of the Group which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or any entity
connected with such a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management
of the Group are decided by the Board with reference to the
recommendation given by the Remuneration Committee, having
regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.
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Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the five
highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in notes 10 and 11
to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report. The
annual remunerations of senior management (excluding those who
are also the Directors) for the year ended 31 December 2023 fall
within the following:
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For the year ended 31 December 2023, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to any Directors or any of the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. None of the Directors had waived
any emoluments for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Except as disclosed above, no other payments had been made or
were payable, for the year ended 31 December 2023, by our Group
to or on behalf of any of the Directors.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Relationship with our
Controlling Shareholders” in the Prospectus, for the year ended
31 December 2023, none of the Directors or their respective close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a
business that competed or was likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group, other than being a director
of the Company and/or its subsidiaries.

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all the independent non-executive Directors
are independent.
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Directors’ Report (continued)
EEgHE (B)

On 12 October 2018, 7Road Elite Holdings Limited (the “Lender”),
a subsidiary of the Company, entered into a loan agreement (the
“Original Loan Agreement”) with Ben 7Road Holdings Limited (the
“Borrower”), pursuant to which the Lender granted an unsecured
loan in the principal amount of HK$3,066,892 (the “Loan”) at an
interest rate of 5% per annum to the Borrower, which shall be repaid
on or before 11 October 2020. On 9 October 2020, 9 October 2021
and 9 October 2023, the Lender and the Borrower entered into the
first supplemental loan agreement, the second supplemental loan
agreement and the third supplemental loan agreement (collectively,
the “Supplemental Loan Agreements”), respectively, pursuant
to which the date of repayment for the Loan was extended to 11
October 2021, 11 October 2023 and 11 October 2025, respectively.

The purpose of the Loan is for the general working capital of the
Borrower.

As at the date of each of the Original Loan Agreement and
the Supplemental Loan Agreements (collectively, the “Loan
Agreements”), the Borrower is owned as to 100% by Mr. Meng
Shuaqi, the chairman of the Board, an executive Director and a
substantial shareholder of the Company. Accordingly, each of Mr.
Meng and the Borrower is a connected person of the Company
within the meaning under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and
each of the provision and/or extension of the Loan under the each
of the Loan Agreements constituted a connected transaction of the
Company.
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Contractual Arrangements
Background

On 11 December 2001, the State Council promulgated d
the Regulations for the Administration of Foreign-Invested
Telecommunications Enterprises (the “FITE Regulations”), which
were amended on 10 September 2008 and 6 February 2016.
According to the FITE Regulations, foreign investors are not allowed
to hold more than 50% of the equity interests of a company providing
value-added telecommunications services. In addition, a foreign
investor who invests in a value-added telecommunications business
in the PRC must possess prior experience in operating value-added
telecommunications businesses and a proven track record of
business operations overseas (the “Qualification Requirements”).
Currently, none of the applicable PRC laws, regulations or rules
provided clear guidance or interpretation on the Qualification
Requirements. Therefore, in order for the Company to be able to
carry on its business in the PRC, the Group has entered into the
Contractual Arrangements to enable the Company to exercise
and maintain control over operations of the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities and to consolidate these companies’ financial results into
the Company’s results under IFRSs as if they are wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company.

Despite the lack of clear guidance or interpretation on the
Qualification Requirements, we have taken and plan to continue to
take specific steps to comply with the Qualification Requirements.

The table below set forth the connected persons of our Company
involved in the Contractual Arrangements and the nature of their
relationship with our Group.

Connected Person

BEAL RERF
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Connected Relationship

Mr. Meng Shuqi

an executive Director and a substantial shareholder of our Company

RETRE RARMITEERTEZRR

Mr. Hu Min a substantial Shareholder

A& FERR

Mr. Liu Jing a substantial shareholder of Shenzhen 7Road
2IE L& RINELRKRBENETERR

Ningbo Bao Pu Xing Sheng Investment
Management Center (Limited Liability
Partnership)
(BERVEBEREETERL(ERER)

BERNEBEREEETL(ERER)

Shanghai Ting Can Entity Investment Center
(Limited Liability Partnership)
(EBERBRERERL (BRER)

FBERRERERL (BRER)

an associate of our Company’s substantial Shareholder

ARAEEZRROBERA

a substantial shareholder of Shenzhen 7Road
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Up to the date of this annual report, there is no further update
in relation to the Qualification Requirement. The Contractual
Arrangements which were in place during the year ended 31
December 2023 are as follows:

The voting rights proxy agreement and powers of the attorney
dated 13 April 2018, pursuant to which each of the Registered
Shareholders irrevocably appointed Qianhai Huanjing or
the Directors and their successors as his attorney-in-fact to
exercise such shareholder’s rights in Shenzhen 7Road (the
“Proxy Agreement and Powers of Attorney”).

The exclusive option agreement dated 13 April 2018, pursuant
to which Registered Shareholders jointly and severally
granted irrevocably to Qianhai Huanjing the exclusive rights to
require the Registered Shareholders to transfer any or all their
equity interests and/or assets in Shenzhen 7Road to Qianhai
Huanjing and/or a third party designated by it, in whole or
in part at any time and from time to time, at a minimum
purchase price permitted under PRC laws and regulations.
The Registered Shareholders have also undertaken, subject
to the relevant PRC laws and regulations, they will return to
Qianhai Huanjing any consideration received in the event
that Qianhai Huanjing exercises the option to acquire the
equity interests of Shenzhen 7Road (the “Exclusive Option
Agreement”).

The equity pledge agreement dated 13 April 2018, pursuant
to which each of the Registered Shareholders agreed to
pledge all of their respective equity interests in Shenzhen
7Road to Qianhai Huanjing as a security interest to guarantee
the performance of contractual obligations and the payment
of outstanding debts under the Contractual Arrangements (the
“Equity Pledge Agreement”).

the exclusive business cooperation agreement dated 13
April 2018, pursuant to which Shenzhen 7Road agreed to
engage Qianhai Huanjing as its exclusive provider of technical
support, consultation and other services and Shenzhen
7Road agreed to pay service fees to Qianhai Huanjing (the
“Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement”).

No service fee was paid pursuant to the Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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The revenue and net profit of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
subject to the Contractual Arrangements amounted to approximately
RMB333.3 million and RMB111.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, respectively. The total assets and total liabilities
of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities subject to the Contractual
Arrangements amounted to approximately RMB819.80 million and
RMB349.02 million as at 31 December 2023, respectively.

Risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements

For risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements, please see
the section headed “Risk Factors — Risks Relating to our Corporate
Structure” in the Prospectus for details.

Material change in relation to the Contractual Arrangements

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no material
change in the Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances
under which they were adopted.

Unwinding the Contractual Arrangements

The Company will unwind the Contractual Arrangements as soon as
the laws allows the business of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities to
be operated without the Contractual Arrangements.

However, for the year ended 31 December 2023, none of the
Contractual Arrangements had been unwound as none of the
restrictions that led to the adoption of the Contractual Arrangements
had been removed.

Waiver from the Stock Exchange

The Stock Exchange has granted a waiver to the Company from
strict compliance with the connected transactions requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the Contractual
Arrangements. For details, please refer to the section “Connected
Transactions” in the Prospectus.
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Annual review

The Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors,
have reviewed the Contractual Arrangements and have confirmed
that the Contractual Arrangements were entered into (i) in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, (ii) on normal
commercial terms, and (iii) in accordance with the respective
agreement governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a
whole. In addition, the independent non-executive Directors confirm
that (i) the transactions as contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements carried out during the year ended 31 December
2023 have been entered into in accordance with the relevant
provisions of the Contractual Arrangements; (ii) no dividends or
other distributions have been made by Shenzhen 7Road to the
holders of its equity interests which are not otherwise subsequently
assigned or transferred to the Group; and (i) no new contracts
have been renewed and/or adopted as a result of the Contractual
Arrangements.

Further, the Company’s external auditor, Elite Partners CPA Limited,
was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has
issued an unqualified letter containing their conclusions in respect of
the continuing connected transactions disclosed above by the Group
in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have
any other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22
of the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Other than the Directors’ service contracts and appointment letters,
no contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group was
entered into or in existence as at the end of the year or at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company did not
enter into any equity-linked agreement.

(i) Legal proceedings commenced by Digital Hollywood
Interactive Limited against Qianhai Huanjing and Shenzhen
7Road in April 2020

On 27 April 2020, Guangzhou Zhang Ying Kong Information
Technology Company Limited (E M ERIZEERFEER A
A]) (“Zhang Ying Kong”), a subsidiary of D|g|ta| Hollywood
Interactive Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 2022), as plaintiff, litigated against Qianhai
Huanjing and Shenzhen 7Road, each a subsidiary of the
Company, as defendants, concerning a game cooperative
development agreement (the “April 2020 Lawsuit”). The
amount of the claims made by Zhang Ying Kong in relation
to the April 2020 Lawsuit was approximately RMB11.7
million. The April 2020 Lawsuit was filed to the People’s
Court of Haizhu District, Guangzhou, the PRC on 18 May
2020 and was subsequently transferred to the Guangzhou
Intellectual Property Court on 30 June 2020. On 25 March
2022, the court made a preliminary judgement (“Preliminary
Judgement”), which held that Qianhai Huanjing shall refund
usage fees of approximately RMB6.6 million to Zhang Ying
Kong. On 14 December 2023, the second trial’s judgment
was delivered and the Supreme People’s Court of PRC
overruled the Preliminary Judgement, which means Qianhai
Huanjing does not need to make any payment to Zhang Ying
Kong.
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Legal proceedings commenced by Qianhai Huanjing in
March 2021

On 3 March 2021, the Company was informed by Qianhai
Huanjing that it, as the plaintiff, filed a lawsuit (the “March
2021 Lawsuit”) with the Shenzhen Intermediate People’s
Court (the “Shenzhen Intermediate Court”) against
Proficient City Limited (“PCL’), as the defendant, in relation
to intellectual property rights dispute over the online
game Wartune ( ## # ), and has received the Notice of Case
Acceptance from the Shenzhen Intermediate Court. The
amount of the claims made by Qianhai Huanjing in relation
to the March 2021 Lawsuit amounted to approximately
RMB69.6 million. On 30 June 2022, the court made a
preliminary judgement requiring PCL to pay to Qianhai
Huanjing the share of payment and income after the
termination of the contract in the amount of approximately
RMB29 million together with interest thereon. Both parties
lodged appeals against the judgment of the first trial. On
October 26, 2023, the second trial’'s judgement by the
Guangdong Higher People’s Court (the “Guangdong Higher
Court”) was delivered, which decided the same as the
judgment of the first trial save for the fact it did not support
PCL paying interest to Qianhai Huanjing for late payment.
Quanhai Huanjing has since applied for enforcement
regarding the March 2021 Lawsuit. Details of the above legal
proceedings are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 3 March 2021.

Legal proceedings commenced by Qianhai Huanjing in
April 2021

On 28 April 2021, Qianhai Huanjing, as the plaintiff, filed
a lawsuit (the “April 2021 Lawsuit”) with the Shenzhen
Intermediate Court against Zhang Ying Kong and Angame
Inc., as the defendants, in relation to the intellectual property
rights contractual dispute over the mobile game version
of the online game DDTank. The amount claimed by
Qianhai Huanjing in relation to the April 2021 Lawsuit was
approximately RMB60.2 million. On 1 August 2023, the court
issued the first judgement and dismissed the lawsuit. Qianhai
Huanjing appealed, and on 22 January 2024, the Guangdong
Higher Court made a second-instance ruling, revoking the
first judgement and sending the case back to the Shenzhen
Intermediate Court for retrial. As at the Latest Practicable
Date, the April 2021 Lawsuit is still pending retrial by the
Shenzhen Intermediate Court but is not expected to affect the
normal business operations of the Group.

Details of the above legal proceedings are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 28 April 2021.
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Legal proceedings commenced by PCL against Qianhai
Huanjing and Shenzhen 7Road in August 2022

On 8 December 2021, PCL, as plaintiff, filed a lawsuit with
the Guangdong Higher Court against Shenzhen 7Road and
Qianhai Huanjing, as defendants, in relation to a dispute on
infringement of trade secret over the online game Wartune (18
#H), an Shenzhen 7Road and Qianhai Huanjing had received
the Notice to Respond from the Guangdong Higher Court
in July and August 2022, respectively (the “August 2022
Lawsuit”). The amount of the monetary claims made by PCL
in relation to the August 2022 Lawsuit was RMB25 million.
Shenzhen 7Road and Qianhai Huanjing had already engaged
legal advisors, and the legal advisors had advised them that
there is insufficient factual and legal basis for PCLs claims. As
at the date of this report, the August 2022 Lawsuit is at the
trial stage.

Save as disclosed above, the Group was not involved in any other
material legal proceedings during the year ended 31 December

20283.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had not made
any loan or provided any guarantee for any loan, directly or indirectly,
to the Directors, senior management of the Company, the controlling
shareholders of the Company or their respective connected persons.

On 6 March 2018, the RSU Scheme was approved and adopted by
the Directors.

(1)

Purpose of the RSU Scheme

The purpose of the RSU Scheme is to incentivize Directors,
senior management and employees of our Group for their
contribution to our Group, to attract, motivate and retain
skilled and experienced personnel to strive for the future
development and expansion of our Group by providing them
with the opportunity to own equity interests in our Company.
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Participants of the RSU Scheme

Persons eligible to receive RSUs under the RSU Scheme
are existing employees, directors (whether executive or non-
executive, but excluding independent non-executive directors)
or officers of our Company or any member of our Group (the
“RSU Eligible Persons”). Our Board selects the RSU Eligible
Persons to receive RSUs under the RSU Scheme at its
discretion.

Total number of shares available for issue under the RSU
Scheme

The maximum number of RSUs that may be granted under
the RSU Scheme in aggregate (excluding RSUs that have
lapsed or been cancelled in accordance with the rules of the
RSU Scheme) shall be such number of Shares held or to be
held by the trustee for the RSU Scheme for the purpose of the
RSU Scheme from time to time.

Our Company has appointed Mr. Meng Shugi and Mr. Hu
Min as the trustees (the “RSU Trustees”) to assist in the
administration of the RSU Scheme. Our Company may (i)
allot and issue Shares to the RSU Trustees to be held by the
RSU Trustees and which will be used to satisfy the Shares
underlying the RSUs upon exercise and/or (ii) direct and
procure the RSU Trustees to receive existing Shares from any
Shareholder or purchase existing Shares (either on-market or
off-market) to satisfy the Shares underlying the RSUs upon
exercise. In the event that our Company intends to issue
and allot Shares underlying any RSUs to the RSU Trustees,
our Company shall rely on any general mandate or specific
mandate obtained from the Shareholders at any general
meetings of our Company in accordance with the Listing
Rules to issue and allot Shares underlying any RSUs to the
RSU Trustees. The total number of Shares available for issue
under the general mandate approved by the Shareholders at
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 23 May
2023 was 550,640,000 Shares, representing 20.0% of the
total number of issued Shares as at the Latest Practicable
Date. Our Company shall procure that sufficient fund is
provided to the RSU Trustees by whatever means as our
Board may in its absolute discretion determine to enable the
RSU Trustees to satisfy its obligations in connection with the
administration of the RSU Scheme.
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As at 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023, the total
number of Shares held by the RSU Trustees for the purpose
of the RSU Scheme were 178,932,000 and 178,932,000
Shares, respectively.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the RSU
Scheme

The rules of the RSU Scheme do not contain provisions
governing the maximum entitlement of each participant under
the RSU Scheme. The Company will comply with the relevant
requirements under Rule 17.03D of the Listing Rules as and
when appropriate.

Period within which the option may be exercised by the
grantee

The RSU Scheme does not involve the grant of share options
to subscribe for Shares.

Vesting period of RSUs granted under the RSU Scheme

An offer to grant a RSU will be made to a RSU Eligible Person
selected by our Board (the “RSU Selected Person”) by a
letter, in such form as our Board may determine (the “RSU
Grant Letter”). Our Board can determine the vesting criteria,
conditions and the time schedule when the RSUs will vest and
such criteria, conditions and time schedule shall be stated in
the RSU Grant Letter. The RSU Grant Letter will also specify,
among others, the manner of acceptance of the RSUs and
the exercise price of the RSUs (where applicable). A RSU
Selected Person may accept an offer of the grant of RSUs in
such manner as set out in the RSU Grant Letter.

The amount, if any, payable on application or acceptance
of the RSU and the period within which payments or calls
must or may be made or loans for such purposes must be
repaid

The rules of the RSU Scheme do not contain provisions
governing the amount, if any, payable on application or
acceptance of the RSU and the period within which payments
or calls must or may be made or loans for such purposes
must be repaid.
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(8) The basis of determining the exercise price of options
granted or the purchase price of shares awarded, if any

The rules of the RSU Scheme do not contain provisions
governing the basis of determining the exercise price of
options granted or the purchase price of shares awarded.

9) Remaining life of the RSU Scheme

The RSU Scheme will be valid and effective for a period of
ten (10) years, commencing from 6 March 2018 (unless it
is terminated earlier in accordance with its terms). As at 31
December 2023, the remaining life of the RSU Scheme was
approximately four years.

Further details of the principal terms of the RSU Scheme are set out
in the Prospectus.

Since 31 December 2022, the Company did not have any
outstanding RSUs. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
no RSUs were granted, exercised, expired, lapsed, cancelled or
outstanding.

The above RSU Scheme constitutes a share scheme under Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules. Since the Listing Date, the Company did not
have any other share schemes. The total number of Shares that may
be issued in respect of the RSU granted under the RSU Scheme
during the year divided by the weighted average number of Shares in
issue for the year was 0%.
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As at 31 December 2023, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO),
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which he/she has taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the
register referred to therein; or (c) were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code,
were as follows:

Interests in the Company
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EETWmE (B)

RZTE-_=F+-A=+—H BEFRKEAK
RAERSITRABRARR R EIEHEE
(EERBHFREBEEMEXVED) KM - 48
ERNEEEEFEBQREESFRBE
IEBHIEXVIBE7TR ESH EBAME AR A &
X P (B IR AR IR B 5 R B B B A9 & 3T
WEEISRBEENERIAR)  2(b)
B 35 5 & B B K 0 553521% ZH 78 8 R 7%
EOIFTIE M ZE LM ko) B IFZESTR
BHERARR B TRERIARIT

Approximate
percentage of

Name of Director/Chief Capacity Number of Shares or  issued share
Executive /Nature of interest underlying Shares held® capital®

HEBRITRAE
Es BRTHRAEBHE S5 HEEHH" HEROGEE? HMAOFIEO
Mr. Meng Shugi®® Interest in a controlled corporation 528,854,000 19.20%

REFEE

Notes:

XEHAE s

The calculation is based on the total number of 2,753,200,000 Shares in issue as
at 31 December 2023.

All interest stated are long positions.

429,922,000 Shares are registered under the name of Ben 7Road Holdings
Limited, the issued share capital of which is wholly owned by Mr. Meng Shugqi.
Accordingly, Mr. Meng Shuqi is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by
Ben 7Road Holdings Limited for the purpose of Part XV of the SFO.

98,932,000 Shares are registered under the name of 7Road Elite Holdings Limited,
the issued share capital of which is wholly owned by Ben 7Road Holdings Limited.
Ben 7Road Holdings Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Meng Shugi. Accordingly,
each of Mr. Meng Shugi and Ben 7Road Holdings Limited is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares held by 7Road Elite Holdings Limited for the purpose of
Part XV of the SFO.

() HEDRE-_F_=F+- A=+ -ANDE?T
i 1) 42 #42,753,200,000% ©

@ ISR 2HARTR -

) 429,922,000/% f% 7 3% fit 7 Ben 7Road Holdings
Limited & T MZARIMNBEEITRABLZESR
AEZEER R REHFRBEKRNE
XVE T &EHF T AEWE A K Ben 7Road
Holdings Limited FT B 8 2 Zi Ak (0 R B %= o

(4) 98,932,0008% % 7 & ft A7Road Elite Holdings
Limited & T~ » ifl 7% 2 @ # 2 % 17 I 4~ B3 Ben
7Road Holdings Limited & & # & - Ben 7Road
Holdings Limited i i E & 5 £ 2 EHEH © FEL -
REFRBEROEXNVBME  AETHER
Ben 7Road Holdings Limited & H # 1% & 7 7Road
Elite Holdings Limited FT # A ) & SR H P A
s o
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Interests in Other Members of the Group MNAEBEMKE AR 2z
Approximate
percentage
Name of Director/ Name of other members Capacity/ of registered
Chief Executive of the Group Nature of interest capital®
= iR A
Ex BRETBRAEME FEEHMKEQARER B EBMEE BMAOBFD O
Mr. Meng Shuqi Shenzhen 7Road® Beneficial owner 21.50%
hEAFEE RYIE KB EnEBA
Notes: B 5
) All interests stated are long positions. © 3B #EZEDARITE -
@) Mr. Meng Shugi is a registered shareholder of Shenzhen 7Road directly holding ~ (2) HEAREARINELRENELDREL T E

21.560% of the entire registered capital of Shenzhen 7Road. Pursuant to the
Contractual Arrangements, Mr. Meng Shugi does not enjoy the voting right in
the general meeting of Shenzhen 7Road nor its economic benefit and each
of Shenzhen 7Road and its subsidiaries is accounted for a subsidiary of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in any of the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO;
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code; or to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO.
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So far as the Directors were aware, as at 31 December 2023, the
following persons (other than the Directors and the chief executive of
the Company) or corporations who had interests or short positions
in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336
of the SFO; or which were required to be disclosed to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Division 2 and 3 of part XV of
the SFO, were as follows:

Directors’ Report (continued)
EETWmE (B)

BEEMA R-ZE-_=F+—-A=+—8 "
THAL(EERARFRSITERABBRIN
SEBRARBRDREER D PERL
B AR BB IE B 5 & B B & 17 353361%
GFEMNZEMANEZIAE  XBEER
BEAFARBEKRMEXVIE2R B3I
ARANR R ENESZ AR

Number of Approximate
Shares or percentage
underlying of registered
Name Capacity/nature of interest Shares held® capital®
FRERBH R A
“E/ AR B/ REME HERGHE? S ER AU
Baohu Holdings Limited Beneficial owner® 352,714,000 12.81%
Baohu Holdings Limited EnBEAAC
Shanghai Bao Hu Investment Interest in a controlled corporation® 352,714,000 12.81%
Management Center (Limited
Partnership)
LENRREEERL(ERAE) REHEEERC
Shanghai Bao Pu Investment Interest in a controlled corporation® 353,586,000 12.84%
Management Co., Ltd.
FENERBERERAA REGERERC
Ningbo Hao Chu Investment Interest in a controlled corporation® 353,586,000 12.84%
Management Co., Ltd.
ERENREERERRT REtEEERC
Mr. Zhou Hao Interest in a controlled corporation® 353,586,000 12.84%
R EE REHEE#ERC
Shengqu Technology Korean Limited Beneficial ownert 51,902,000 1.89%
Shengau Technology Korean Limited Interest in a controlled corporation®! 88,764,000 3.22%
ERBEAAY
XEHEERERY
Zhejiang Century Huatong Group Interest in a controlled corporation® 274,366,000 9.97%
Co., Ltd.
HIELEREBARNHERRA REHEERERY
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EE2gHE(E)

Number of Approximate
Shares or percentage
underlying of registered
Name Capacity/nature of interest Shares held? capital®
FRERAHR HERRE
“E/ AR 5/ EEtE HERGHEC BREA O
Shangyulongcheng Holdings Limited Beneficial owner® 174,410,000 6.33%
Shangyulongcheng Holdings Limited ERBEAANY
Shaoxing Shang Yu Long Cheng Capital  Interest in a controlled corporation® 174,410,000 6.33%
Investment Fund (Limited Partnership
RRIBREIAREREABLE REHERERS
BRAE)
Zhejiang Long Xin Equity Investment Interest in a controlled corporation® 174,410,000 6.33%
Management Co., Ltd.
HIREREREERARAF REtEBER0
Wolong Holding Group Co., Ltd. Interest in a controlled corporation® 174,410,000 6.33%
EEREBRRAA REHEE#E RO
Mr. Chen Jiancheng Interest in a controlled corporation® 174,410,000 6.33%
REKEE XEHERERC
Ms. Chen Yanni Interest in a controlled corporation® 174,410,000 6.33%
BREExL REtEE RS
Ben 7Road Holdings Limited Beneficial owner® 429,922,000 15.62%
Ben 7Road Holdings Limited Interest in a controlled corporation® 98,932,000 3.59%
ExBERAO
REHEEE RO
World 7Road Holdings Limited Beneficial owner” 331,130,000 12.03%
World 7Road Holdings Limited Interest in a controlled corporation® 80,000,000 2.91%
EREAAD
REtERERD
Mr. Hu Min Interest in a controlled corporation” 411,130,000 14.93%
HELE REHEBERD
Songshuxing Holdings Limited Beneficial owner® 189,936,000 6.89%
Songshuxing Holdings Limited ExBEAC
Mr. Song Shuxing Interest in a controlled corporation® 189,936,000 6.89%

REEKAE

REHEE RS
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Notes:

The calculation is based on the total number of 2,753,200,000 Shares in issue as
at 31 December 20283.

All interests stated are long positions.

352,714,000 Shares are registered under the name of Baohu Holdings Limited,
the entire issued share capital of which is directly owned by Shanghai Bao Hu
Investment Management Center (Limited Partnership). Accordingly, Shanghai
Bao Hu Investment Management Center (Limited Partnership) is deemed to be
interested in such number of Shares held by Baohu Holdings Limited. In addition,
the general partner of Shanghai Bao Hu Investment Management Center (Limited
Partnership) is Shanghai Bao Pu Investment Management Co., Ltd., which is in
turn owned by Ningbo Hao Chu Investment Co., Ltd. as to 42.75%; and Ningbo
Hao Chu Investment Co., Ltd. is owned by Mr. Zhou Hao as to 70%. Accordingly,
each of Shanghai Bao Pu Investment Management Co., Ltd., Ningbo Hao Chu
Investment Management Co., Ltd. and Mr. Zhou Hao is deemed to be interested
in such number of Shares held by Baohu Holdings Limited. In addition, 872,000
Shares are registered under the name of Baopu International Limited (formerly
known as Baopu Hong Kong Limited), the entire issued share capital of which
is directly owned by Shanghai Bao Pu Investment Management Co., Ltd.
Shanghai Bao Pu Investment Management Co., Ltd. is owned by Ningbo Hao
Chu Investment Co., Ltd. as to 40%; and Ningbo Hao Chu Investment Co., Ltd.
is owned by Mr. Zhou Hao as to 70%. Accordingly, each of Shanghai Bao Pu
Investment Management Co., Ltd., Ningbo Hao Chu Investment Co., Ltd. and Mr.
Zhou Hao is deemed to be interested in such number of Shares held by Baopu
International Limited.

88,764,000 Shares are registered under the name of Actoz Soft Hong Kong
Limited, which is wholly owned by Actoz Soft Co. Ltd, which is owned as
to 51.08% by Shengqu Technology Korean Limited. Accordingly, Shengqu
Technology Korean Limited is deemed to be interested in such number of Shares
held by Actoz Soft Hong Kong Limited. Together with the Shares directly owned
by Shengqu Technology Korean Limited, Shengqu Technology Korean Limited
is interested in approximately 5.11% of the issued share capital of the Company.
In addition, 133,700,000 Shares are registered under the name of DianDian
Interactive Holding. DianDian Interactive Holding and Shengqu Technology Korean
Limited are ultimately wholly owned by Zhejiang Century Huatong Group Co., Ltd..
Accordingly, Zhejiang Century Huatong Group Co., Ltd. is deemed to be interested
in such number of Shares held or deemed to be held by DianDian Interactive
Holding and Shengqu Technology Korean Limited.

174,410,000 Shares are registered under the name of Shangyulongcheng Holdings
Limited, the entire issued share capital of which is directly owned by Shaoxing
Shang Yu Long Cheng Capital Investment Fund (Limited Partnership). Accordingly,
Shaoxing Shang Yu Long Cheng Capital Investment Fund (Limited Partnership)
is deemed to be interested in such number of Shares held by Shangyulongcheng
Holdings Limited. In addition, the general partner of Shaoxing Shang Yu Long
Cheng Capital Investment Fund (Limited Partnership) is Zhejiang Long Xin Equity
Investment Management Co., Ltd., which is directly owned by Wolong Holding
Group Co., Ltd.. Wolong Holding Group Co., Ltd. is owned directly as to 48.93% by
Mr. Chen Jiancheng, 38.73% by Ms. Chen Yanni (daughter of Mr. Chen Jiancheng)
and 12.34% by certain other shareholders. Accordingly, each of Shaoxing Shang
Yu Long Cheng Capital Investment Fund (Limited Partnership), Zhejiang Long Xin
Equity Investment Management Co., Ltd., Wolong Holding Group Co., Ltd., Mr.
Chen Jiancheng and Ms. Chen Yanni is deemed to be interested in such number
of Shares held by Shangyulongcheng Holdings Limited.
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6) The entire issued share capital of 7Road Elite Holdings Limited is directly owned by
Ben 7Road Holdings Limited. Accordingly, Ben 7Road Holdings Limited is deemed
to be interested in such number of Shares held by 7Road Elite Holdings Limited.

(7) The entire issued share capital of 7Road Talent Holdings Limited is directly owned
by World 7Road Holdings Limited. Accordingly, World 7Road Holdings Limited is
deemed to be interested in such number of Shares held by 7Road Talent Holdings
Limited. In addition, World 7Road Holdings Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Hu Min.
Accordingly, Mr. Hu Min is deemed to be interested in such number of Shares held
by World 7Road Holdings Limited and 7Road Talent Holdings Limited.

8) The entire issued share capital of Songshuxing Holdings Limited is directly owned
by Mr. Song Shuxing. Accordingly, Mr. Song Shuxing is deemed to be interested in
such number of Shares held by Songshuxing Holdings Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Directors are
not aware of any other person or corporation who had interests or
short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO; or which would
require to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2023 was the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debt securities including
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s largest
customer accounted for 23.9% of the Group’s total revenue. The
Group’s five largest customers accounted for 46.4% of the Group’s
total revenue.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s largest supplier
accounted for 10.8% of the Group’s total purchase. The Group’s five
largest suppliers accounted for 35.4% of the Group’s total purchase.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined
under the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest suppliers or the Group’s five largest customers.
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The Company has adopted a dividend policy which allows the
Shareholders to share the profits of the Company whilst retaining
adequate reserves for the Group’s future growth. The declaration
and amount of dividends shall be determined at the sole discretion
of the Board. Pursuant to the dividend policy, in deciding whether
to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the
Board shall take into account, inter alia, the following factors:

(@)
(b)

the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

dividends received from the Company’s subsidiaries and
associates;

retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and its subsidiaries and associates;

the liquidity position of the Group;

the Group’s expected working capital requirements;
general business conditions and strategies;
taxation considerations;

possible effects on creditworthiness;

legal, statutory and regulatory restrictions;
contractual restrictions; and

any other factors that the Board deem appropriate.

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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The Group’s employees in Hong Kong have all participated in the
Mandatory Provident Fund in Hong Kong. The employees of the PRC
subsidiaries are members of the state-managed retirement benefits
scheme operated by the PRC government. The employees of the
PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of
their payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to this retirement
benefits scheme is to make the required contributions under the
scheme.

Details of the pension obligations of the Company are set out in note
10 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Non-exempt Connected
Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions” in the
Directors’ Report of this annual report, during the year ended 31
December 2023, the Group had not entered into any connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction which should be
disclosed pursuant to the requirements of Rule 14A.71 of the Listing
Rules. The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements
set out in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements contained herein.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Non-exempt Connected
Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions” of the
Directors’ Report of this annual report, none of the related party
transactions constituted a non-fully exempt connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Board, as at the Latest Practicable
Date, the Company has maintained the public float as required under
the Listing Rules.
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A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance) in relation to the director’s and officer’s
liability insurance is currently in force and was in force during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

The Company recognizes the importance of good corporate
governance for enhancing the management of the Company as
well as preserving the interests of the Shareholders as a whole. The
Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the CG Code
as its own code to govern its corporate governance practices.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with the
relevant code provisions contained in Part 2 to the CG Code during
the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the
Company with an aim of maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance.

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages
37 to 55 of this annual report.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 have been audited by Elite Partners CPA Limited,
Certified Public Accountants, who are proposed for reappointment
at the forthcoming AGM.

With effect from 12 May 2021, Moore Stephens CPA Limited
resigned as the auditor of the Company and the Company’s current
auditors, Elite Partners CPA Limited, were appointed as the new
auditor of the Company to fill the casual vacancy so arising.

Save for the aforementioned, there has been no other change of
auditors in the past three years.
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On 28 March 2024, the Group entered into an equity transfer
agreement with an independent third party (the “Purchaser”),
pursuant to which the Group had conditionally agreed to sell, and the
Purchaser agreed to acquire, 100% equity interest in Shanghai Lingsu
Network Technology Co., Ltd* (E /& 2 Z BRI K ER R A)) a
indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, at a consideration
of RMB14,850,000 (the “Disposal”). For details in respect of the
Disposal, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 28
March 2024.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have
any other significant subsequent events after the year ended 31

December 2023.

On behalf of the Board

Meng Shugqi
Chairman

Wuxi, the PRC, 28 March 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report

elite
< partners

To the Shareholders of 7Road Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of 7Road
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 92 to 217, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity, and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)
Y& Nz BREm R (A)

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional RBIREFEEZBBERMANETELHE - R
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated AY AHG AR K REAN B ZTAETE
financial statements of the current period. These matters were HJEE - L FEEESERMBTRELSS
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial BA#HE LKL EE REETERIEN o HM
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we & ¥ iE L EIHBHEBHE R -

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows: BMESESTPEANERETSES RSN

g
. Impairment assessment of goodwill . EES TR
. Fair value measurement of unlisted equity investments and ARIERRAARBEFTABEZNS
unlisted limited partnerships recorded as financial assets at BEEMNIF ELTRELERIELT
fair value through profit or loss EREEBEENAABERE
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

Key audit matter

REETER

Impairment assessment of goodwill

7 2R (B AT 1

(Refer to Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements)

(FRHEEHBEHZNZ18)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a balance of
goodwill of approximately RMB624,183,000 in respect
of the cash-generating units (the “CGUSs”) principally
engaged in the development and distribution of web
games and mobile games in the People’s Republic of
China, which are subject to impairment assessment
at the end of each reporting period. The directors of
the Company considered no impairment on goodwill
is necessary as at 31 December 2023. Details of the
impairment assessment of goodwill are disclosed in
Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

RZZE-_=F+-A=+—H > BEEEFHH

EXBN(BEELEEN)NBEESRHOARE
624,183,000T * HE EA BN T EBRHREARKLM

?ﬁé%%ﬁ%&@z&?%ﬁfﬁzﬂ’ﬁﬂ%& %ﬁ'/,\HAR
BEMRETREN G - BERAREZTRA/ANZ
T+ A=t—HBEAELEERE" Fﬁ%ﬂ
ENFHFEERBERGESMBEHRRM T8 -

Impairment of goodwill is assessed based on the value
in use calculation by applying discounted cash flow
model, which is highly judgmental and is dependent on
certain significant inputs, including the discount rates,
growth rates and expected changes to sales and direct
costs.
HMEBRENDEEREAUBReREREAENER
BEETHG ZREPRGEAE  WEORRSE
TERBAEE BRERERE EBRELAREER
BEKANTERES -

We focused on this area because of the significance of
goodwill and the significant judgments involved in the
assessment of the recoverable amount of the CGUSs.
BRI ER AN EEEENERTARESES
B A7 AT W (@ & B S N BN A o

Az HEN R E (F)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BB NMNERFARETS R

We understood and assessed the rationale of the
management on the impairment assessment process,
including the impairment model, CGUs allocation and
preparation of the cash flow projections.
BPBELTIHEREEYRENEETFNERE &
EREER ReELABUIELGFRRASRER
Al o

We discussed with the management and evaluated the
appropriateness of the impairment model and inputs
applied in the impairment model, including the discount
rates, growth rates and expected changes to sales and
direct costs.

TAPI B 3R B & e A b RUE AR AL KR E 1R B P A
WA BB EE M @%ﬁﬁfﬂﬁ‘i§$u&%%
REEKRANTARE

We evaluated the reasonableness of the management’s
cash flow projections by comparing the actual results of
those CGUs to the previously forecasted results.
BMBBALRZERcEAEUMNERESEHELR
FEAMNESE FHEEEERSRERINGEM -

We tested, on a sample basis, the arithmetical accuracy
of the valuation computation.

AR EEAENERE

Based on the audit procedures performed, we found
that the significant judgments and estimates involved in
the impairment assessment of goodwill adopted by the
management were supportable.
ERBAMBTHEARF RMAEREEEERD

R E R B AR T AT P R E K A B AL 5 B3
179 PT 2488 EX 38 R ) S HF o
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

8 N Az A R (48)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REETER

Fair value measurement of unlisted equity investments
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and
unlisted limited partnerships in the PRC recorded
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL))
REARAMB(HE])IETRERE RTEIELE
MAEREEEXR(ARIMERARBEFABR(R
ARBEFARBDNEREE)NAREEFE
(Refer to note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.)

(FRRAGEHBEHREN E22 °)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group held unlisted
equity investments in the PRC and unlisted limited
partnerships in the PRC recorded as financial assets
at FVTPL amounting to RMB315,212,000 and
RMB549,231,000 respectively, which were carried at
fair value. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
a net fair value loss of RMB3,257,000 was recognised
against the unlisted equity investments in the PRC and
a net fair value gain of RMB67,000 was recognised
against unlisted limited partnerships in the PRC.
RZZEZ=F+-A=+—H ' EBEEERHPEFAE
WIELTRERERFELITARERECEARIEG
RARBEAAEGNEHEE  2EIIRAR
#315,212,0007T & A R #549,231,0007T * W & A 7
BEIE BET_=F+-_A=+—HILFE"
RPBEEFTREREERALABEERFEAR
#3,25670007T - Mt PR LT HRE K B E®R
NABEEKEFEAREE67,0007T

We focused on this area due to the magnitude of
the financial assets at FVTPL and the subjectivity of
significant assumptions and inputs used in determining
the respective fair values of such financial instruments.

HREBEAABEFTAEGENEHEERKEREAN M
METZEcRIAZANAABERKANERX
R MBABBAGFEN  MBEMBIERLA@E -
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BB NMNERFARETS R

We understood and evaluated management’s internal
control and assessment process of the fair value
measurement of such financial instruments, including
development of the key assumptions applied in
determining the fair value, and assessing the inherent
risk of material misstatement by considering the degree
of estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent risk
factors such as subjectivity of significant assumptions
used;
BPBEBETFAEEEEZSeRmIAAAREE
ENRNHERHRAHEF  BERERETAAEBE
FEBNEEZRRE ITHRBERGANTHETEE
KPR E KRR B S At R R ERKF -
BREEDN RS Sul: I apey e

We performed retrospective review by comparing the
actual results for the current year with the outcome
of the Group’s prior period forecast to assess the
effectiveness of management’s estimation process;
BPBBLEBAFEERFEEAEEBERMBHN
FERABRETERN RS AT EEREMEFTIREFH
BRI

For fair value measurement of some investments
involves independent professional valuers, we assessed
the competence and objectivity of the independent
professional valuers engaged by the Group;

WP RBUEEGEMNTIREN DA EETS -
BMESH ESEMREE TEXMGHEMME
NEBM:
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

B 2 ER R (48)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HREGERE EMWETNNEEBREETSE

We assessed the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies used by management and independent
professional valuer by reference to industry practice and
the financial status and business plans of the investees;
BFI2ETREN RREHRNTBEMRR KRS -
FEERENEYEXMGEMRANGERERS
g

We tested, on a sample basis, the appropriateness
of the unobservable and observable inputs used for
measuring the fair value of such financial instruments
by reference to relevant market information
including recent rounds of financing information and
underlying supporting documents of the unlisted
equity investments in the PRC and unlisted limited
partnerships in the PRC, and by evaluating the
underlying assumptions and inputs;
K2ZRBTSER(BEPBEIELETRIERE KIE
FHAEREREENTEZRENE B R AR A )
PYSEREREI N CE IS PN € A kL= i
ZEEMIAAABEMANTIBRRE KA H2H
ABEERRE:

We tested, on a sample basis, the arithmetical accuracy
of the valuation computation.

B AR EEFENERE

Based on the audit procedures performed, we found
the valuation methodologies used were acceptable and
the key inputs used for measuring the fair value were
supported by the available evidence.
BEEHTESEF  BMRRAKAMGESEA
TEX MAEQAABEEANETEH ASIEAE
BBIRMHF -
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)
Y& Nz BREm R (A)

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed
term of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

BN Z BRI (58)
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)
Y& Nz BREm R (A)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely

responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control

that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards

applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Leung Man Kin, with Practising Certificate
number PO7174.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Level 23, YF Life Tower
33 Lockhart Road
Wan Chai, Hong Kong
28 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

SEBEZmR

92

consolidated financial statements.

7Road Holdings Limited &+ A &

ERERAT

B —#8D

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ—E - =F+_-_A=+—HILtFE
Year ended 31 December
EZ+t-A=+—-HILEE
2023 2022
—E_=F T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B & ARET T ARETTT
Revenue W = 5 627,732 540,630
Cost of revenue W g A AR 9 (244,628) (279,427)
Gross profit EA 383,104 261,203
R&D expenses HERAX 9 (168,489) (129,482)
Selling and marketing expenses HERTISHEEE M 9 (49,837) (115,563)
Administrative expenses THRAX 9 (72,423) (60,554)
Net provision of impairment losses on EHIE EEEBEA T
financial assets under expected TREEREEE
credit loss model B FE 6 (33,626) (11,446)
Other income H A e A 7 5,424 10,056
Other gains or loss, net H iz ek B 18 558 8 (180,227) 353,160
Operating (loss)/profit ReE(Fr|), #mA (116,074) 307,374
Finance income B A 12 1,172 642
Finance costs B 7 P AR 12 (24,719) (20,820)
Finance costs, net BF 7 P AR F KR 12 (23,547) (20,178)
Share of results of associates IJ o 1 B “é“ NGIE$5 20 (588) (3,807)
Share of results of joint ventures DHEETLEER 19 - —
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETEHA(EBR) BF (140,209) 283,389
Income tax expense FisHiE R 13 (4,685) (3,783)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(ER)EF (144,894) 279,606
(Loss)/profit attributable to: UTALEWS(EER),
& F
— Owners of the Company . YNEIE ﬁ)\ (146,461) 282,499
— Non-controlling interests — FERER 1,567 (2,893)
(144,894) 279,606
(Loss)/earnings per share for (loss)/ 2727 #H A E1h
profit attributable to owners of (B8 BAER
the Company (expressed in RMB (& #8), BRI (UEKR
per share): ARBTHIR) :
Basic and diluted HEAREE 14 (0.0569) 01097
The notes on pages 100 to 217 are integral parts of these %10012175 WB sE R SR MWK



Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

GeEZEHWER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #EZE T - =F+-_A=+—HItFE

Year ended 31 December

BEt+t-A=+—-HLEE

2023 2022
—E2-= T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARET T
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(EE)EF (144,894) 279,606
Other comprehensive Hi2mFExX), Wi
(expense)/income:
Item that will not be reclassified to T2 E# 5 2 18z #7HH
profit or loss
Fair value changes on financial EAARBEFTAEMEZEKZED
assets at fair value through other ERMEENAABEZS -
comprehensive income, net of MR IE
tax (2,171) (526)
ltem that may be reclassified to AIEEF 7 E B ) IHH
profit or loss
Currency translation differences of BN EFEBIRE =58
foreign operations 153 6,549
Other comprehensive Hib2mE(FX) M 0k
(expense)/income, net of tax HiIE (2,018) 6,023
Total comprehensive (expense)/ FREZME(BIX), W25
income for the year (146,912) 285,629
Total comprehensive (expense)/ M TATEALZEBIXR), K
income attributable to: kI
— Owners of the Company —ARRBEEA (148,479) 288,522
— Non-controlling interests — IR 1,567 (2,893)
(146,912) 285,629

The notes on pages 100 to 217 are integral parts of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B IR R &R

At 31 December 2023 R=—E-=%+=-H=+—H

As at 31 December

R+=ZHA=+—H
2023 2022
—E2-= —_EF -
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR® T ARET T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREGERE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W BEREHE 16 214,153 355,190
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 135,125 211,461
Intangible assets BmEAE 18 624,850 626,778
Interests in associates FOEE A R B 2 20 14,932 16,265
Financial assets at fair value through & QA R EBEFA S
other comprehensive income HRZH e EE 21 — 2,171
Financial assets at fair value through % QA 7 BE T A B 2R
profit or loss TREE 22 864,443 600,733
Prepayment and other receivables  F& 1<t 7k 18 K H i & Ug
TRIE 23 34,933 92,872
Restricted cash SRR 2 26 140 139
Deferred income tax assets EEFEHEE 32 39,541 49,603
1,928,117 1,955,212
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 24 — 2,019
Trade receivables B 5 W RIE 25 169,254 368,329
Prepayment and other receivables 815 ZX T8 K E 4ib & U 2%
T8 23 109,184 120,204
Financial assets at fair value through 1% 2 A BEFTAEFH
profit or loss TREE 22 19,729 95,626
Restricted cash Z MR HHE S 26 1 1
Cash and cash equivalents ReEkREEEY 26 48,088 104,747
346,256 690,926
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 & HAb BRI 33 108,183 239,241
Lease liabilities HERE 30 87,420 70,913
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 31 118,347 55,250
Current income tax liabilities BNEfFT G AaE 173 15,814
Contract liabilities BHEE 5 35,354 73,609
349,477 454,827
Net current (liabilities)/assets RE (BB EEFE (3,221) 236,099
Total assets less current liabilities B EERM A B A B 1,924,896 2,191,311
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued)

b A B 7K

N == A

S Sk ()

At 31 December 2023 R —E - =9¢+—-"HA=+—H

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—H
2023 2022
—g== g
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 7 AR® T ARET T
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEARE 30 49,503 130,607
Bank and other borrowings 1T R B K 31 112,656 151,627
Deferred income tax liabilities BEMEHARE 32 8,349 8,230
170,508 290,464
Net assets EEFE 1,754,388 1,900,847
EQUITY =
Share capital A& 7 27 90 90
Share premium &0 mE 27 4,083,085 4,083,085
Other reserves H A1 28 (2,964,937) (2,963,174)
Retained earnings REZF 633,675 780,608
Total equity attributable to RATEBEAELERE
owners of the Company = 1,751,913 1,900,609
Non-controlling interests FE IR R 2,475 238
Total equity 4R 1,754,388 1,900,847

The consolidated financial statements on pages 92 to 217 were

FRENTEMHRETHEREAESTZ R

approved by the Board of Directors of the Company on 28 March
2024 and were signed on its behalf:

_?_EE AZ+N\B#ERBAUTA
TRAER

Meng Shugqitt Li Zhengquan
BEH ZFEE
Director Director

BE 3

The notes on pages 100 to 217 are integral parts of these
consolidated financial statements.

Yang Cheng
B
Director

EF

%1001217EH’JW FAZSERAVERE
B — &85
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
ReREmBEX

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ & — & —

=F+-_A=t—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARREREEAES
Non-
Share Other  Retained controlling
Share capital  premium  reserves  eamings Total interests Total equity
k& BRHEE HtfE RERN By FEREZ  HER
Note  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
Wit ARMTR ARETn ARMTn AR%Tn ARMTR ARETR ARETR
(Note 28)
(Rt &£28)
At 1 January 2023 R-E-=£-f-8 90 4,083,085  (2,963,174) 780,608 1,900,609 238 1,900,847
Comprehensive income 2ENE
(Loss)profitfor the year ER(ER) /& - - - (46461) (146,461 1567 (144,899)
Other comprehensive income A2 AN
— Fair value changes on financial - BAAREGARLS
assets at fair value through HhENeREE
other comprehensive income, MAAEEED:
net of tax nBHE - - 217) - 217 - (217)
— Currency translation differences of ~ — BN EHELREZE
foreign operations - - 153 - 153 - 153
Total comprehensive income/(loss) ~ 2E K% /(FE) B8 - - 2,018 (146,461)  (148,479) 1567 (146912
Transactions with ownersintheir ~ HEREAAIEREAEA
capacity as owners LU
Capital contrioution from non-controling ~ 342 & f& 2 3 &
interests - - - - - 490 490
Acquisition of non-controling interest W SEERBRE M AHEE
without change n control 1 - - - (208) (208) 208 -
Transfer upon deregister of a subsiciary 3t #— B AT R ER - - - ) ) 9 -
Appropriations Ly - - 255 (255) - - -
Acquisttion of a subsidiary WE-RHBAT - - - - - (37) (37)
Total transactions with owners in their EHEAANEREAAS
capacity as owners Dl - - 255 (47 (217) 670 453
At 31 December 2023 RZZ-=£+Zf=1-H 90 4,083,085 (2,964,937) 633,675 1,751,913 2475 1,754,388
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (continued)

ERmEER(E)

L\ main
For the year ended 31 December 2023 #EZE T - =F+-_A=+—HItFE

n\/T\ ‘&= fm <

Attributable to owners of the Gompany
ARAERRAARR

Non-
Share Other  Refained controling
Share capital ~ premium reserves eamings Total interests  Total equity
RE  BRAHEE HtREE REEA i FERER  LEa
Note RVB000  RMB00O0  RMB000  RMB00O0  RMB000  RMB0OO0O  RMB'000
it ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR
(Note 28)
(Kt3ko8)
At 1 January 2022 R-B-Z%-f-H 90 408308  (2963930) 495,225 1,614,464 7220 1621684
Comprehensive income 2ENE
Profit/oss) for the year Ergfl/(Bi) - - - 0499 282499 (893 279606
Other comprehensive income A2 AN
— Fair value changes on financial - BAAREGARLS
assets at fair value through HhENeREE
other comprehensive income, MAREEED
net of tax NBHE - - (526) - (526) - (526)
— Currency translation dfferences of ~ — BN EHELREZE
foreign operations = = 6,549 = 6,549 = 6,549
Total comprehensive income/loss) 2% /(B 8) 85 - — BB %490 B5R (89 28560
Transactions with ownersintheir ~ HEREAAEREEA
capacity as owners LU
Disposal of a subsidiary HEHBAR - - - - - (1,249) (1,249)
Captal reduction in a subsidiary HELRHE - - - (2377) @377) (680 (921)
Capital contribution from non-controling 32 iEX T &
interests = = = = = 44000 44000
Transfer upon disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEB AR BEE - - (5.261) 5,261 - - -
Total transactions with owners in their B BEAMNEREELY
capacity as owners RHR5EE - - (5,261) 2884 (2377) (4,089) (6,466)
AL31 December 2022 Wog=zE+=A=t-8 9 4063085 (ORI  TBOEB 1900609 238 190084
The notes on pages 83 to 217 are integral parts of these %8312175 W FRZEFREMB®RE
consolidated financial statements. B — &5
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GEHRETRER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+-_A=+—HLFE

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t+-ALEE

2023 2022
—E-=F —F-—
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR¥ TR ARETT
Operating activities REFR
Cash generated from operations BEELNRE 35 254,463 199,957
Interest received B F 8 1,172 642
Income tax paid EfFEH (10,234) (4,593)
Net cash generated from operating RETHELENWELSFE
activities 245,401 196,006
Investing activities REEH
Payments for purchases of wealth BEEVEMMK
management products - (12,000)
Proceeds from maturities of wealth BB E BB TS 5 0A
management products — 12,000
Prepayment for potential investments BT EENFKIEA (20,000) (45,000)
Refunds for potential investments BERERK 45,000 -
Payments for purchases of other financial B EZ ARBEFABZED
assets at fair value through profit or loss Hh S mEEMNMR (314,900) (571,000)
Proceeds from disposals of other financial ~ HEZ A RBEFTABZER
assets at fair value through profit or loss Hh & mEEMNMERIE 4,721 60,655
Payments for acquisition of an associate U 88 — BB & A A4 3) -
Payments for purchases of property, plant  BBEM¥ - BERRE MK
and equipment (3,938) (87,797)
Prepayments for purchases of property, BEVE BERZBRENMNKE
plant and equipment - (42,872)
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant  HEY ¥ « FE KR & M F B
and equipment and right-of-use assets BEMBHIE 569 -
Payments for purchases of intangible assets B & £ /& & {4 7 (128) (2,089)
Payments for acquisition of a subsidiary U B — 1 BT B 2 B 5 3K (82) -
Payments for right-of-use assets FREEEMNK (1,103) —
Payments for rental deposits MARE MR (9,933) -
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries BEFELEWNBRRMERIE
in prior year 34 43,000 =
Net cash inflow from disposal of subsidiaries &I B A 71 &3R8 & i A F &8 34 — 49,783
Payments for contingent consideration BN B QR B A
payable for acquisition of a subsidiary REMK - (133,170)
Proceeds from disposal of an associate HE— & QR 5 RIE - 350,350
Dividend received from an associate e —fEE QR W EIR BFTE - 82,810
Net cash used in investing activities RETBHREANESTE (219,797) (338,330)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

;\\/j—\ E/% kN2 //|L:£%( )

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # =~ T - =+ - A=+—HBItFE

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t+-ALEE

2023 2022
—E-=HF g
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

B 5 ARETTT ARET T

Financing activities MEED
Capital contribution from non-controlling FERERNTE

interests 490 44,000
New bank and other borrowings raised LRI REMEE 86,000 220,000
Repayments of bank and other borrowings & BTN £ EE (61,874) (23,123)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEHAEERE (82,393) (80,676)
Interest paid EANENESS (24,719) (20,820)
Capital reduction of non-controlling interests  3E 4% i% % 5 E - (3,932)
Net cash (used in)/generated from METHFER) ELEN

financing activities ReERE (82,496) 135,449
Net decrease in cash and cash ﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ%fg%

equivalents WA F (56,892) (6,875)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FHNRERELEEY
of the year 26(a) 104,747 108,500

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, MNEEZRS BT EFE
net 233 3,122

Cash and cash equivalents atend of the FARNEERELZEY
year 26(a) 48,088 104,747
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B IS AR MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+-_A=+—HLFE

2.1

100

7Road Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on 6 September 2017 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law,
Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman lIslands. The address of the Company’s registered
office is Sertus Chambers, Governors Square, Suite #5-204,
23 Lime Tree Bay Avenue, P.O. Box 2547, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1104, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are principally engaged in the development and
distribution of web games and mobile games in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) and other countries and
regions (the “Business”) as well as the provision of cloud
computing services and other cloud-related services in the
PRC.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (‘RMB”), unless otherwise stated, and have been
approved for issue by the Board of Directors of the Company
on 28 March 2024.

This note provides a list of the material accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to
all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (the “IASB”). In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&2 &5 R A ]
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2.1

2.2

Notes to the Consolidated Finaneial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & & —~E - =%+—-HA=+—Hit

Basis of preparation (continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis, except for financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income that are measured at
fair values at the end of each reporting period.

New and amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and amendments to IFRS issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB”) for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

IFRS 17 (including the June Insurance Contracts
2020 and December 2021

Amendments to

IFRS 17)

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities

arising from a Single Transaction

Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform-Pillar Two model Rules

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS
Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Except for described below, the application of the new and
amendments to IFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial position and performance for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out
in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

irE ISR R KT R ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+-_A=+—HLFE

2.2  New and amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

Impacts on the application of Amendments to IAS 1 and
IFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

In accordance with the guidance set out in the amendments,
accounting policy information that is standardised information,
or information that only duplicates or summarises the
requirements of the IFRSs, is considered immaterial
accounting policy information and is no longer disclosed in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements so as not to
obscure the material accounting policy information disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

2.3  Amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to
IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to IFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between

IAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture'
Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current?
Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants?
Amendments to IAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements?
IFRS 7
Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability®

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a
date to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024.

€ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of all new and amendments to IFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ire B HRERNEGE)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE - T - =F+_-_A=+—H I FE

Going concern assessment

As of 31 December 2023, the Group had net current liabilities
of approximately RMB3,221,000, out of which approximately
RMB35,354,000 was non-refundable contract liabilities.

Taking into account the above factors, the directors of the
Company are satisfied that the Group will have sufficient
financial resources to meet its financial obligations as they fall
due in the next twelve months from the end of the reporting
period. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis.

Subsidiaries
Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the
date that control ceases.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

FRE LT

BE_Z_=F+-_A=+—H"
AEBNRBAEBEFELHAA
R 3,221,000 E A AR
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REEEMAER  NRAREEEH
REB KRB TR 815 E IRIA M
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B B B B A5 AR HE o Btk - AR A BT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
RE SRR T (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+-_A=+—HLFE

25
(a)

104

Subsidiaries (continued)

Consolidation (continued)

U

Subsidiaries controlled through contractual agreements

Pursuant to a series of contractual agreements,
including Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement,
Exclusive Option Agreement, Share Pledge Agreement,
and Powers of Attorney Agreement, dated 13 April
2018 (collectively, the “Contractual Agreements”)
among the wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
Shenzhen Qianhai Huanjing Network Technology Co.,
Ltd. (ORI A& £) 3R 8 4% B 5 B BR 2 1) (“Qianhai
Huanjing”), Shenzhen 7Road Technology Co., Ltd. (i
I E+ X ER AR AF) (“Shenzhen 7Road”) and
its shareholders, which enable Qianhai Huanjing and
the Group to:

° governing the financial and operating policies of
Shenzhen 7Road;

o exercise shareholders’ voting rights of Shenzhen
7Road;
° receive substantially all of the economic

interest returns generated by Shenzhen 7Road
in consideration for the business support,
technical and consulting services provided by
Qianhai Huanjing;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE - T - =F+_-_A=+—H I FE

2.5  Subsidiaries (continued)
(@) Consolidation (continued)

0] Subsidiaries controlled through contractual agreements
(continued)

obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right with
an initial period of 10 years to purchase all
or part of the equity interests in Shenzhen
7Road from the respective shareholders at a
minimum purchase price permitted under the
PRC laws and regulations, and the irrevocable
and exclusive right shall be unconditionally
and automatically extended thereafter until
it is terminated by Qianhai Huanjing. Qianhai
Huanjing may exercise such options at any
time until it has acquired all equity interests of
Shenzhen 7Road. The respective shareholders
have also undertaken, subject to the relevant
PRC laws and regulations, they will return to
Qianhai Huanjing any consideration received
in the event that Qianhai Huanjing exercises
the option to acquire the equity interests of
Shenzhen 7Road; and

obtain a pledge over the entire equity interests
of Shenzhen 7Road from its respective
shareholders as collateral security for all of
Shenzhen 7Road’s payments due to Qianhai
Huanjing and to secure performance of
Shenzhen 7Road’s obligation under the
Contractual Arrangements.

As a result of the Contractual Arrangements, the
directors of the Company believe that the Group
has rights to exercise power over Shenzhen 7Road
and its subsidiaries, receive variable returns from its
involvement with Shenzhen 7Road and its subsidiaries,
has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over Shenzhen 7Road and its subsidiaries
and is considered to control Shenzhen 7Road and
its subsidiaries. Consequently, the Company regards
Shenzhen 7Road and its subsidiaries as the controlled
entities and consolidated the financial position
and results of operations of these entities in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+-_A=+—HLFE

Subsidiaries (continued)

Consolidation (continued)

U

Subsidiaries controlled through contractual agreements
(continued)

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not
be as effective as direct legal ownership in providing
the Group with direct control over Shenzhen 7Road
and its subsidiaries and such uncertainties presented
by the PRC legal system could impede the Group’s
beneficiary rights of the results, assets and liabilities
of the Shenzhen 7Road and its subsidiaries. The
directors of the Company, based on the advice of its
external legal counsel, consider that the Contractual
Arrangements among Qianhai Huanjing, Shenzhen
7Road and its shareholders are in compliance with
the relevant PRC laws and regulations and are legally
binding and enforceable.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which
is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair
values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss
as incurred.
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2.5

(a)

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H = — %

Subsidiaries (continued)
Consolidation (continued)
(i) Business combinations (continued)
At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired

and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, with limited exceptions:

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are initially measured at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets or at fair value. The choice of measurement
basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries disclosed in Note 39 are
accounted for at cost less impairment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis
of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.
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Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of associates and joint ventures used
for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity
method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is
initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate or joint venture. When the Group’s
share of losses of an associate or joint venture exceeds the
Group’s interest in that associate or joint venture (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part
of the Group’s net investment in the associate or joint venture),
the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 H = — %

Associates and joint ventures (continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which
is included within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.
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2.6
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Associates and joint ventures (continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When
the Group retains an interest in the former associate or joint
venture and the retained interest is a financial asset within the
scope of IFRS 9, the Group measures the retained interest
at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its
fair value on initial recognition. The difference between the
carrying amount of the associate or joint venture and the
fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from
disposing of the relevant interest in the associate or joint
venture is included in the determination of the gain or loss
on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that associate or
joint venture on the same basis as would be required if that
associate or joint venture had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate
or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of
the relevant associate or joint venture.
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(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H = — %

Revenue recognition

The Group evaluated and recognised revenue based on a five
step approach:

o Identify the contract(s) with a customer

° Identify the performance obligations in the contract

° Determine the transaction price

° Allocate the transaction price to each performance
obligation

° Recognise revenue when each performance obligation
is satisfied

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable for
services provided, stated net of discounts, returns and value
added taxes. Revenue is recognised when or as the control
of the goods or services is transferred to the customer.
Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that
apply to the contract, control of the goods and services may
be transferred over time or at a point in time.

Online game revenue

The Group is a web-based and mobile online game developer
and also a publisher. The Group’s online game revenue is
generated primarily from its self-operated, i.e. game publishing
by the Group, and licensed-out, i.e. game publishing by other
publishers under various game distribution arrangements.

The Group’s online games are operated under free-to-play
model whereby game players can play the games free of
charge and are charged for the purchase of in-game tokens,
which entitle the game players to exchange for in-game virtual
items, including those consumable and durable in-game
virtual items.
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Revenue recognition (continued)

Online game revenue (continued)

U

Revenue from online games (both self-developed
games and licensed games) published by the Group

The Group sells in-game tokens to its game players
via payment channels, such as various mobile carriers
and third-party internet payment systems. The in-game
tokens are non-refundable and non-cancellable, and
can be exchanged for in-game virtual items. The
payment channels are entitled to a handling fee which
is withheld and deducted from the gross proceeds
collected from the game players, with the net amounts
remitted to the Group. The handling fee charged by
payment channels are recognised as cost of revenue
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The Group is obligated to provide on-going services to
the game players and such obligation is not deemed
to be inconsequential after game players purchase
in-game virtual items. Revenue is recognised when the
Group satisfies its performance obligations, i.e. at a
point in time for the consumable in-game virtual items
upon consumed and over the estimated playing period
of paying players (the “Player Relationship Period”)
for the durable in-game virtual items, given there is an
implicit obligation of the Group to maintain and allow
access of the players to the games operated by the
Group.

Estimation of the Player Relationship Period

The Group estimates the Player Relationship Period
and re-assesses such periods at the end of each
reporting period. If there is insufficient data to
determine the Player Relationship Period, such as
in the case of a newly launched game, the Group
estimates the Player Relationship Period based on
other similar types of games developed by the Group
until the new game establishes its own pattern and
history. The Group also considers game profile,
target audience, and its appeal to players of different
demographics groups in estimating the Player
Relationship Period. Adjustments arising from changes
in the estimated useful lives of durable in-game virtual
items are applied prospectively.
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2.7  Revenue recognition (continued) 27 WawER(E)
(@  Online game revenue (continued) () PZEHWKEE)
(i) Revenue from online games (both self-developed (ii) HEMBETERBEREERDHEET

games and licensed games) published by other
publishers under game distribution arrangements

The Group also grants its online games to third-party
game publishers (the “Publishers”) to publish its
online games through the Publishers’ platforms,
including web-based and mobile game portals, or
other distribution platforms, including major social
networking websites (such as Facebook), online
application stores installed in mobile (such as Apple
Inc.’s App Store (“Apple App”) and Google Play),
web-based and mobile game portals.

Proceeds earned from selling in-game tokens are
collected by the Publishers or its designated payment
platforms and shared between the Group and the
Publishers based on a pre-determined rate.

The Group is jointly obligated to provide on-going
services to the game players

In certain arrangements, the Group is responsible
for providing game products, technical supports
and upgrades, while the Publishers are responsible
for publishing (including determining the platforms),
providing payment solutions, customer services,
promotion activities and other daily game operations,
and the right to determine the ultimate pricing of
in-game virtual items are shared among the Group and
the Publishers.

The Group recognises revenue that the Group is
entitled to, i.e. on a net basis and under the same
principles as stated in (i) above as the Group is jointly
obligated to provide on-going services to the game
players.
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2.7 Revenue recognition (continued)
(@) Online game revenue (continued)

(i) Revenue from online games (both self-developed
games and licensed games) published by other
publishers under game distribution arrangements
(continued)

The Group is obligated to the Publishers to operate the
licensed-out games

In certain arrangements, the Group grants its online
games to the Publishers and the Publishers pay
license fees for the exclusive right to operate the
Group’s games in specified geographic areas. The
license fees normally comprise of a fixed license fees
(either up-front or under specific payment schedule)
and variable fees calculated based on a predetermined
rate on the cash paid by game players collected by
the Publishers in relation to the licensed-out games.
The Group views the Publishers as its customers as
the Group does not have the primary responsibility for
fulfilment and acceptability of the game services.

Under these arrangements, apart from providing
game license and initial game content, the Group is
also obligated to provide post-sale services to the
Publishers, including when-and-if-available technical
supports and upgrades. Normally, no activity that
significantly affect the game license is undertaken by
the Group. The performance obligations of the Group
in these arrangements comprise of the transfer of
control of game license and post-sale services. The
fixed license fees are allocated between the game
license and post-sale services based on relative fair
values of the standalone performance obligations. The
amount allocated to the game license is recognised
as revenue at a point in time when the license is
granted, given that it is considered to be a right to use
arrangement, and the amount allocated to post-sale
services is recognised as revenue ratably over the
license period.

The variable license fees which are contingent upon
future events (future cash paid by game players
collected by the Publishers in relation to the licensed
game) are recognised when the contingency is met
provided that collectability is reasonably assured.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H = — %

Revenue recognition (continued)
Sales of customisation game software

The Group is entrusted to provide customisation game
software to third parties. Revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the services are rendered to third parties.

Sales of game copyrights

Revenue from sale of game copyrights is recognised at a
point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the
customer, generally on delivery of the game software master
copy and completion of the registration change of the game
copyright.

Sales of online game technology and publishing solution
services

The Group provides technology development services,
games installation services, software copyright and publishing
solution services to third parties. Revenue is recognised at a
point in time when the services are rendered to third parties.

Intellectual property licensing

The Group also generates revenue from licensing its
copyrights to other online game companies for agreed
periods. The license fees normally comprise of a fixed license
fees (either up-front or under specific payment schedule)
and variable fees calculated based on predetermined terms.
Normally the Group do not have any substantive post-sale
services to the licensee.

Revenue from licensing agreements is recognised at a point in
time when the license is granted, given that it is considered to
be a right to use arrangement. The variable license fees which
are contingent upon future events (future cash paid by game
players collected by the Publishers in relation to the licensed
game) are recognised when the contingency is met provided
that collectability is reasonably assured.
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Revenue recognition (continued)
Cloud computing services revenue

The Group earns cloud computing services revenue from
the provision of a number of services, including cloud
computing services such as elastic computing, storage,
GPU computing, and security. These cloud computing
services allow customers to use hosted software over the
contract period without taking possession of the software
and hardware. Cloud computing services are mainly charged
on either a subscription or consumption basis. Revenue
related to cloud services charged on a subscription basis is
recognised ratably over the contract period. Revenue related
to cloud services charged on a consumption basis, such as
the quantity of storage or elastic computing services used in
a period, is recognised based on the customer utilisation of
the resources.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is the Group’s obligation to transfer goods
or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer. The Group’s contract liabilities mainly comprise
of revenue sharing received in advance from customers,
unamortised revenue from sale of in-game virtual items and
the up-front license fees paid by the licensees, where there
are implied obligations to be provided by the Group in the
future. The amounts will be recognised as revenue when all of
the revenue recognition criteria are met.
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2.8 Leases

The Group as a lessee

U

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets.
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term is depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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2.8 Leases (continued) 28 MHE(E)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBERAHEAE)
(i)  Lease liabilities iy HEAME
At the commencement date of a lease, the Group REERIBBEE  AEEIK
recognises and measures the lease liability at the ZARNHEENFRERE
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at REFEHERE - RFE
that date. In calculating the present value of lease MEMNRBER  WHEEA
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing EMMEHBUBETE  AIAE
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest FRERRAGBHRMNIEE
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. BRMERTE o
After the commencement date, lease liabilities are RABBH®E HEAGREK
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments. 2HAMERBERIBELHA
%Ek o

AEERHERGBEERES

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate HEREEMBRARAZE
line item on the consolidated statement of financial Bl o
position.
2.9  Foreign currency translation 29 HNEm®mE
(@  Functional and presentation currency (@ WEREHREM
ltems included in the financial statements of each of the REBEETSERENPIFRERANFT
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the HIEEYRPBZEREEMAETE
primary economic environment in which the entity operates KEIRIBEHEE ([ThEEE¥ DT E o
(the “functional currency”). The functional currency of AKAFIMINgeE® A5 TiEx] -
the Company is Hong Kong Dollar (“‘HK$”). The functional AARHHEHME AR ANINEEE
currencies of the Company’s PRC subsidiaries are RMB, BARBIARE| ARG NG
while the functional currencies of the Company’s overseas SANIENGIEI A Y=-E L P
subsidiaries are United States Dollar (“‘US$”) or other SEMEREE mNAEEME
appropriate currencies. As major operations of the Group are EXBERBRIBEARNET ARAE
located in the PRC, the directors of the Company determined ERFUARBREIKREBLGLE G
to present the Group’s consolidated financial statements in R (BB HBAKRIN o

RMB (unless otherwise stated).
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Foreign currency translation (continued)
Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using exchange rates at the dates of
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are generally
recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings
are presented in the statement of profit or loss. All other
foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the
statement of profit or loss on a net basis within other losses,
net.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the date when the fair value was determined. Translation
differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss.
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29
()

120

Foreign currency translation (continued)
Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations (none
of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

° assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that statement of financial position;

° income and expenses for each statement of profit
or loss and statement of comprehensive income are
translated at average exchange rates (unless this is not
a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which
case income and expenses are translated at the dates
of the transactions), and

o all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising from the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing
rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H = — %

210 Borrowing costs

211

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other income”.

210

211
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212
(a)

(b)

(©

122

e BRERNEE)

Employee benefits
Pension and social obligations

The Group operates various defined contribution plans in
accordance with the local conditions and practices in which
it operates. Defined contribution plans are pensions and the
other social benefit plans under which the Group pays fixed
contributions to a separate entity. The Group has no legal
or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the
fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the
benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior
periods. The contributions are recognised as labour costs
when they are due.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of each reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.

Bonus plans

The expected cost of bonuses is recognised as a liability
when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation
for payment of bonus as a result of services rendered by
employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation can
be made. Liabilities for profit sharing and bonus plans are
expected to be settled within 1 year and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when they are settled.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H = — %

2.13 Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share-based
compensation reserve). At the end of each reporting period,
the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based
compensation reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based compensation reserve will be
transferred to retained earnings. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share-based
compensation reserve will be transferred to retained earnings.

When shares granted are vested, the amount previously
recognised in share-based compensation reserve will be
transferred to share capital.
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214

(a)

(b)

124

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred
tax. Tax is recognised in the statement of profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of each reporting period in the countries where the
Company’s subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be
paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. However, deferred income
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss and at the time of the transaction
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences.

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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214  Current and deferred income tax (continued) 214 BIEARGEIEFB T (E)
(b)  Deferred income tax (continued) (b) EZEFmEHGE)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies IAS
12 requirements to the lease liabilities, the provisions for
decommissioning and restoration and the related assets
separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related
to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all
taxable temporary differences.

Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end
of each reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income
tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied to the
same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.
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126

e BRERNEE)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets”
in the consolidated statement of financial position. When the
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease
building element and undivided interest in the underlying
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as property,
plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets, less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Any gain or loss arising from the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H = — %

Intangible assets
Goodwill

Goodwill arising from an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUs”) (or group
of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and
not larger than an operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more frequently
when there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising from an acquisition in a reporting period, the
CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting
period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the CGU (or group of CGUs).

Intangible assets other than goodwill

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.
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Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives
to determine whether there is any indication that these assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be established. The recoverable amount is determined for the
CGU or group of CGUs to which the corporate asset belongs,
and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant
CGU or group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H = — %

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill
(continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in,
first-out method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs
of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the
Group must incur to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.
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2.20 Financial instruments

T=F+ZA=+—RILFEE

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of

the instrument.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on

initial recognition.

(a) Financial assets

0] Classification and subsequent measurement of

financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual

cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount

outstanding.
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2.20 Financial instruments (continued) 220 &M ITAE)

financial assets (continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income:

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
selling and collecting contractual cash flows;
and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at fair value through profit or loss, except that at
initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair
value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for
trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which IFRS 3
“Business Combinations” applies.
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2.20 Financial instruments (continued)

(a)

132

Financial assets (continued)

U
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Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of selling in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired.
For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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2.20 Financial instruments (continued)
(@) Financial assets (continued)

U

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

Equity instruments designated as at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Investments in equity instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income reserve; and are not subject to
impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss
will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of
the equity investments, and will continue to be held
in the fair value through other comprehensive income
reserve.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right
to receive the dividends is established, unless the
dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the
cost of the investment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income or designated as fair value
through other comprehensive income are measured at
fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit
or loss includes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset.
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2.20 Financial instruments (continued)

(a)

134

Financial assets (continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL’) model on financial
assets (including trade receivables, other receivables,
restricted cash and cash and cash equivalents) which
are subject to impairment assessment under IFRS
9. The amount of ECL is updated at the end of each
reporting period to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Assessments are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the end of the reporting period as well as the forecast
of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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2.20 Financial instruments (continued)
(@) Financial assets (continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of
the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at
default. The assessment of the probability of default
and loss given default is based on historical data
and forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights. The Group uses a practical
expedient in estimating ECL on trade receivables using
a provision matrix taking into consideration historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are considered on
a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as
forward looking macroeconomic information.
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2.20 Financial instruments (continued)
(@) Financial assets (continued)

(i)

(i)

136
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Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables and other receivables, where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at the
end of each reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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2.20 Financial instruments (continued)

(a)

(b)

Financial assets (continued)

(V)

Derecognition of financial assets

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition to
measure at fair value through other comprehensive
income, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income reserve is not reclassified
to profit or loss, and continue to be held in the financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income reserve.

Financial liabilities and equity

U

)

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade payables, other
payables and bank and other borrowings) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign
currency and are measured at amortised cost at the
end of each reporting period, the foreign exchange
gains and losses are determined based on the
amortised cost of the instruments.
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3.1

(a)

138

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk, price risk and
cash flow and fair value interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management program
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance. Risk management is carried out by the senior
management of the Group.

Market risk

U)
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Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally through overseas
publishers and is exposed to foreign exchange risk
arising from various currency exposures, primarily with
respect to the US$. Foreign exchange risk primarily
arose from recognised assets and liabilities when
receiving or to receive foreign currencies from overseas
counterparties. The Group did not hedge against any
fluctuation in foreign currency during the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022.

For the Company’s PRC subsidiaries whose
functional currency is RMB, if US$ had strengthened/
weakened by 5% against RMB with all other variables
held constant, the post-tax profit would have been
approximately RMB1,655,000 (2022: RMB2,979,000)
higher/lower for the year ended 31 December 2023,
as a result of net foreign exchange gains/losses on
translation of net monetary assets denominated in
US$.
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31  Financial risk factors (continued) 31 WMBEREZ(E)
(@)  Market risk (continued) (@ ™WHREKE)
(i) Price risk iy EERRB

The Group is exposed to price risk in respect of
investments held by the Group that are classified on
the consolidated statement of financial position either
as at fair value through other comprehensive income
or at fair value through profit or loss. The Group is not
exposed to commodity price risk. To manage its price
risk arising from the investments, the Group diversifies
its portfolio. Each investment is managed by senior
management on a case by case basis.

The Group’s financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income are held for capital appreciation
and business strategic purposes. The sensitivity
analysis is determined based on the exposure to equity
price risks of financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income at the end of the reporting
period. If equity prices of the respective instruments
held by the Group had been 5% higher/lower, the
other comprehensive income for the year ended 31
December 2023 would have been approximately nil
(2022: RMB81,000) higher/lower.

In respect of the Group’s financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, the sensitivity analysis is
determined based on the exposure to price risk of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss at
the end of the reporting period. If the fair value of the
respective instruments held by the Group had been
5% higher/lower, the post-tax profit for the year ended
31 December 2023 would have been approximately
RMB33,240,000 (2022: RMB26,221,000) higher/lower.
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3.1
(a)

(b)

140

Financial risk factors (continued)
Market risk (continued)

)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group does not have significant exposure to
interest rate risk, as the Group has no variable interest
rate’s external borrowing and the interest rate risk
in relation to variable bank balances is insignificant.
A reasonable change in interest rate in next twelve
months is assessed to result in no material change
in the Group’s results and retained profit. Thus, no
sensitivity analysis on the interest rate risk has been
presented.

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in respect of its trade
receivables, other receivables, restricted cash and cash and
cash equivalents placed with banks. The carrying amount
of each class of the above financial assets represents the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to the
corresponding class of financial assets.

U
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Risk management

Credit risk is managed on group basis. Finance team is
responsible for managing and analysing the credit risk
for each of their new clients before standard payment
and delivery terms and conditions are offered. The
Group assesses the credit quality of its customers and
other debtors by taking into account various factors
including their financial position, past experience and
other factors.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 2%
(2022: 14%) and 15% (2022: 39%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer
and the five largest customers respectively. In order
to minimise the credit risk, the Group maintains
continuous communications with the customers from
trade receivables to ensure the effective credit control.

In view of the history of cooperation with the customers
from trade receivables and the collection history
of receivables due from them, the directors of the
Company believe that the credit risk inherent in the
Group’s outstanding trade receivables balances is low.
The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision
for all trade receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(0

Risk management (continued)

Restricted cash and cash and cash equivalents are
mainly placed with state-owned financial institutions
in the PRC and reputable international financial
institutions in the overseas. There was no recent history
of default in relation to these financial institutions. In the
opinion of the directors or the Company, the expected
credit loss is close to zero.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has mainly two classes of financial assets
that are subject to the expected credit loss model:
trade receivables and other receivables.

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. To
measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables
have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due.

Other receivables are measured as either 12-month
expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit
losses, depending on whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. The company considers the probability of
default upon initial recognition of an asset and whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk on
an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period.
To assess whether there is a significant increase in
credit risk the company compares the risk of a default
occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with
the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition.
It considers available reasonable and supportive
forwarding-looking information. Especially the following
indicators are incorporated:

o internal credit rating;

3.1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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3.1
(b)

142

Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

(i

7Road Holdings Limited &+ A &

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

° actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
change to the counterparty’s ability to meet its
obligations;

° actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the counterparty;

U significant changes in the expected
performance and behavior of the counterparty;

Regardless of the analysis above, a significant increase
in credit risk is presumed if a debtor is more than
90 days past due in making a contractual payment/
repayable demanded.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment
profiles of sales over a period of 36 months before
31 December 2023, and the corresponding historical
credit losses experienced within this period. The
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and
forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors
affecting the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables.

BB R A A

T=F+ZA=+—RILFEE
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3.1
(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
e B mRNEGEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

On that basis, the loss allowance for trade receivables
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 was determined as
follows:

The following table provides information about the
Group’s exposure to credit risk for trade receivables
which are assessed collectively based on provision

ECF=FFTA=THLEFE

3 MBEREREGE)

31 UH¥RABAZEE)
(b) EEERE)

(i)

CMEEREBEGE)
ERMEE R-_T-=fF

T F+=ZRA=+—H
MEBESRERRBEEREE
FER

TREH#ASERERGRE
EREFENE SRR
EERBRER:

matrix:
Average loss rate Gross carrying amounts Loss allowance

FHERE EHAR ERERE
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-ZE ZE-_"_F —E-_=FE —E-_-F —E-_=E —_E__EF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTRE ARBTR AR®TR AR®Tx
Within 6 months 618 A AR 0.14% 0.00% 63,505 224,154 89 =
Bmonthsto 1year 6 A =14F 0.73% 0.01% 17,878 76,932 130 9
1102 years 1EE2EF 5.04% 4.40% 82,216 69,789 4,146 3,074
Over 2 years pE:y 78.11% 9711% 45,778 18,560 35,758 18,023
Total @ 209,377 389,435 40,123 21,106
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+-_A=+—HLFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The Loss allowance for other receivables as at 31
December 2023 and 2022 was determined as follows:

As at 31 December 2023

3

3.1
(b)

B 5 E e B ()

f R A = ()
FERR(E)

(i)

CREEREE)
RIE_=FK_FT__
+ZA=1+—HMEMmERK
HENEEREETDT:

RZFZ_=F+-A=+—H

Carrying
Estimated amount
gross (net of
Expected Basis for recognition of  amountat impairment
Receivables credit loss expected credit loss provision default provision)
BHEE BREHEE GITELN REEMHKR
F& e = 0E B BEBANESR mE  RERR)
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®BTR
Other receivables
Hofth & W R IE
— Loans to third parties 0.5% 12 months expected credit losses 2,247 2,236
—-ME=ZFER REAEREEEE
— Loan to a related party 0% 12 months expected credit losses 3,509 3,509
— MBS &5 REREREEERE
— Others 0.5% 12 months expected credit losses 22,402 22,290
— Hfty REAEREEER
59.4% Lifetime expected credit losses 5,417 2,197
FHEBEEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

AR RS R M e

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE - T - =F+_-_A=+—H I FE

Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
As at 31 December 2022

31 HERBEZEE)
b) FERRGE)

(i) TREEREBEE)
W-—ZE-—&#+-A=+—H

Carrying

Estimated amount (net

Expected Basis for recognition of gross amount of impairment

Receivables credit loss expected credit loss provision at default provision)

BHEER
W IR B8

HREHEE AFEH REEGR

BREGBNEE mE RERE)

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETR

Other receivables

Hofth & W R IE
— Loans to third parties 21% 12 months expected credit losses 2,215 2,168
- ME=ZFER REAEREEER
— Loan to a related party 0% 12 months expected credit losses 3,337 3,337
— AT 8% REAEREEER
— Others 11% 12 months expected credit losses 10,228 10,112
— HEf REAEREEEE
43.0% Lifetime expected credit losses 4,352 2,480
THEHEEER

Apart from the above expected credit losses, certain
balances included in other receivables, amounted
to RMB31,569,000 (2022: RMB28,959,000) were
credit-impaired, due to the financial difficulties of the
respective counterparties identified by the Group.

BRTLEHMTBEHEEEEN
HRASEERNERERS
HFREMBERE  2ER
HMmEWREBEFNS T &
2 A R %31,569,0007T (= &
— —F: AR¥28,959,0007T)
EfEREERE -
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3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

146

—=5+-A=+—ALFE

31 BIERE

ASESC)

(b) EERREE

7Road Holdings Limited &+ A &

Impairment of financial assets (continued) (ii) CREEREE)
Movement of provision for impairment of trade FNE 5 RE W R IE BB G
receivables for the year is as follows: =) NN
Lifetime ECL
(not credit- Lifetime ECL
impaired) (credit-impaired) Total
(REEEE (BEREE
HENZH HENES
FHEEFE HBHGEER @
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T ARET T
At 1 January 2022 N
_ﬂ El 1,251 14,809 16,060
Increase in loss allowance recognised in 178 5 FE 37 A 55 18 B
profit or loss g 2,534 2,517 5,051
Written off i sH (100) (318) 418)
Transfer EE B (137) 137 -
Exchange realignment X A% 9) 422 413
At 31 December 2022 and i ——
1 January 2023 +-A=1+—-H
_ﬂ —H 3,539 17,567 21,106
Increase in loss allowance recognised M EHER KR
in profit or loss BB 10,642 17,376 28,018
Exchange realignment AT - - —
Witten off 84 (9,001) - (9,001)
Transfer B (735) 735 -
At 31 December 2023 RZE==%
TZRA=+—H 4,445 35,678 40,123
Trade receivables are written off when there is no BEWEASEFEEA 145( Bl 7 =
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that B - %ﬁ B REWFIE - I

there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include,
amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in
a repayment plan with the group, and indicators of
severe financial difficulty.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented
in the statement of profit or loss on a net basis within
net provision of impairment losses on financial assets
under expected credit loss model. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited against the same line item.

BB R A A

& A 32 78 2 AT i B AR A B
REREBABLEEEE
AE KA BRUR B A B
EW R

0.5 1 40 0T 03 0 9 1
FEERERNBRERLIR
EHEEERERTEME
EREEREEFE - LA
6 9% 0 2 T M 1 4 4 (31 B
FA—IEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Are IS R MY A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # =~ T - =+ - A=+—HBItFE

Financial risk factors (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Movement of provision for impairment of other
receivables for the year is as follows:

31 MBEREZEE)
(b) FEERRGE
i EWMEEREGE)
F A E b B UK IR RLE B R

EET
Lifetime ECL Lifetime
(not credit- ECL (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total

(RRERE  (BERE
nEAEN REKEE  REN2E

EEFE FRHUGEFE REUEEFE s
R!\ B CQ‘”‘ RMB'000 RMB' 000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETRE  ARETT  ARETR
At 1 January 2022 W=E--F-F-A 74 4578 49490 54142
Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss W@uﬁ%m EﬁEﬁﬁ@ﬁi' il 102 1,854 4439 6,395
Witen o i - - 06.271) 0§.27)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR - (3,500) - (3500)
Transfer to credit-mpaired ERSEEHE - (1073 1073 =
Transfer to lifefime ECL ERZ2ERUEERE (19 13 - -
Exchange realignment Ei@E - - 28 28
At 31 December 2022 and
1 January 2023 163 1872 28,959 3099
Increase i loss alowance recognised n Wﬁﬁnﬁ% WE’JESTE%%
profit orloss 1874 2,546 1188 5,608
Written off %’M‘ﬁ ‘ (1,915) - - (1915)
Transfer to credit-mpaired BREEEHE - (1125) 1125 -
Exchange realignment EiRE - (72) 297 225
At 31 December 2023 AZEZ=E+ZA=1-H 122 3221 31,569 34912
Other receivables are written off when there is no EEMEWRRERENFES

realistic prospect of recovery e.g. when the debtor has
deregistered, has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, whichever
occurs earlier.

Impairment losses on other receivables are presented
in the statement of profit or loss on a net basis within
net reversal of impairment losses on financial assets
under expected credit loss model. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited against the same line item.

Liquidity risk

The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and cash
equivalents. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying
businesses, the Group’s finance department maintains
flexibility in funding by maintaining adequate cash and cash
equivalents.

U e AT R E S M - Pl
EEBACBUEER W5
By o ARERFR AR
FEREERE) -

H i & U5 K TR O R (E B 1R 10
i@\ﬁ%ﬁ?ﬂ&ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂﬂa%ﬁi
ATHWEREERERIES
[B1 5 82 51 7 o 2 B 35 M) &
%ﬁiﬂé & [ Y 12 5C ARl — I8
H

© RBEZER
AEBEERBEANRE A S
EEY - ANEBEERBHERENE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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year ended 31 December 2023 HLZE - L - =F+-_A=+—HItFE

Financial risk factors (continued) 31 WMBEREZ(E)
Liquidity risk (continued) 0 wRBESERMKGE)
The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative financial TRERGEHRESGHNIHER
liabilities and lease liabilities into relevant maturity groupings Fler AR DA S B IR B 848
based on the remaining period at the end of the reporting FlESMETEcHMABENREER
period to the contractual maturity date. The amounts B RAFEENSELEELREIR
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash MERE °
flows.
Weighted Between Between
average  Lessthan 1and 2and Over Carrying
interest rate 1 year 2 years 5years 5years Total amount
mEFH
e HR-F -ZWE -ZEf REIF @t REE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
/‘\Eg;:, /1\?&5%:[ /\EHS:/:[ )\EQ%% A?\%%i /1\\E%:i
As at 31 December 2023 et 3
t=A=1-H
Bank and other borrowings BAREMEE 3.70%-
(Note 31) (B5E31) 8.42% 131,030 80,260 39,890 - 251180 231,003
Trade and other payables (excluding 25 & E {1 B 38
payrol liabilties, other tax (TeRIE8R:
payables, government grants) B HE -
(Note 33) 48 ) (B ££.33) - 68,855 - - - 68,855 68,855
Lease liabilties (Note 30) AERE(HF30) 3.85%-
4.75% 90,834 47,603 2,553 - 140,990 136,923
290,719 127,863 42,443 - 461,025 436,781
As at 31 December 2022 R=B=Zf
tZB=t-A
Bank and other borrowings BAREMEE 8.00%
(Note 31) (B3t31) -8.42% 69,769 69,769 97420 - 2398 206877
Trade and other payables (excluding 25 & £t [E{ 78
payrol liabilties, other tax (TREIEAR:
payables, government grants) MR HE -
(Note 33) R 48 ) (B ££.33) - 173060 - - - 173060 173060
Lease liabilties (Note 30) AERE(HF30) 3.85%-
4.75% 77,374 89,171 45,353 = 211,898 201,520
320,203 158,940 142,773 = 621,916 581,457

7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&2 &5 R A ]



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ire B HRERNEGE)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE - T - =F+_-_A=+—H I FE

Capital management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes bank and other borrowings and lease liabilities
disclosed in notes 31 and 30 respectively, net of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital, retained profits
and other reserves.

The management reviews the capital structure periodically.
As part of this review, the management considers the cost
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of the management, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment
of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well
as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

BRER
AEEBEREEAUBRAEER
EERERATELE AREBRE
1B 75 I B 9 F @ & KB A 3R @
HeAEENBABEEEF—F18
Lo I 48 B o

AEEBNEAREREERFE
H B FE MY 553154307 Bl 3% BB /Y SR 17
MEMEBEALRAESE KR
SRR EBYWARKAREES A
LD BREEEITRAEA . RE
i M) & B A R o

BEEBETHRIEARE - (EAE
REBEO—8D EEEEREN
AR EZBERBBOAR - 1R
BFEEEMNES AEESEBIK
AR B ~ FITH R R A @ 8B LA
RETHFESFXBEOBRGEE AT
MEBBEARARE -
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oo = —d
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 MKEkEE(E)
(continued)
Fair value estimation 3.3 QRABEMGEE
The table below analyses the Group’s financial instruments TRZFEALBEMBMGEERN
carried at fair value as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 by M ABBEERIOTAEER_Z
level of the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure CEFERZFEZF+ A=+ —
fair value. BEAAREBEBEIENEMITA -
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F-BR E_EBHR EZEBHR st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARETH
As at 31 December 2023 RZE-=%+ZA
=+—-H
Financial assets at fair value BRAREEGAEMD
through other comprehensive 2EK
income (Note 21) SREE (W21 - - - -
Financial assets at fair value BRAREEMBRED
through profit or loss (Note 22) SREE(W322) 19,729 - 864,443 884,172
19,729 - 864,443 884,172
As at 31 December 2022 R-ZB-ZF+=A
=+—-H
Financial assets at fair value BRAREEGAELMD
through other comprehensive 2EKE
income (Note 21) SREE (W21 - - 2171 2171
Financial assets at fair value BRAREEMBRED
through profit or loss (Note 22) eREE(MF22) 25,099 - 671,260 696,359
25,099 = 673,431 698,530

7Road Holdings Limited 25+ K &% i B R A A



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ire B HRERNEGE)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # =~ T - =+ - A=+—HBItFE

Fair value estimation (continued)

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets
is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are
readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer,
broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency,
and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted
market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the
current bid price. These financial instruments are categorised
within level 1. The Group’s level 1 financial instruments
comprise of investments in equity securities listed in Hong
Kong.

The fair value of financial instruments that is not traded in an
active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation
techniques maximise the use of observable market data
where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value
an instrument are observable, the financial instrument is
categorised within level 2. The Group did not have any level 2
financial instruments as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based
on observable market data, the financial instrument is
categorised within level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial
instruments include:

° Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar
instruments; and

° Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow
model, are used to determine fair value for financial
instruments.

There was no transfer between levels 1, 2 and 3 during the
year.

NABEM(E)
PRERMBEEMNESRIANAR
BEDERBRSHROMISREL
& o WRERERREHAIRRZAT -
RPpE - Lag17  T£EEB B
RAGHEEERBEG  MzEER
REEAFRAIER R EHEAR
MHER5 - B MGHSE RER - 5t
AEBFBFENSREERABNT
GRENEENEAEB -ZESR
Iﬁﬂﬁk% BHRA - AEEH
—EReRmITABENRBEASLM
mh$wﬁ&§°

WIRNERMEBEEENEM T A
BONTET RN A REBETEA
HERMNEE ZEHERNEE
ﬁ%T@mMﬁ%ﬁﬁwwﬂﬁﬁ

RETN KRB EREEMET o Wl
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(&)

Fair value estimation (continued)

Movements of level 3 financial instruments in respect of
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
and contingent consideration payable for acquisition of a
subsidiary for the year have been disclosed in Notes 21, 22
and 33, respectively.

The Group’s level 3 financial instruments comprise of
investments in unlisted equity securities and contingent
consideration payable for acquisition of a subsidiary. As these
financial instruments are not traded in an active market, their
fair values have been determined using various applicable
methodologies, as disclosed below.

—=5+-A=+—ALFE

3.3

NABEMGE (8)
BRAABEFAHEMEZEKIEN S
MEE ERAABESAEZNS
BEEMMB—HHBA ﬂﬁﬁ&
ﬁﬁﬁm“_ﬁmﬁﬂlﬂm

D RIAKTFE21 « 22 X33 H FE ©

AEENE-EAcHRIAD B
FE TR AE %&é&%%—ﬁw
BARIEMNIBERE- mma#i
MITEVTERTRMERS @ i H
ARBEDNERZEERAEERE
WEWT -

At 31 December 2023 R=-BZ-=%+=HA=+-—H

Sensitivity

Amount Valuation Significant Percentage or of fair value

RMB’000 technique unobservable inputs ratio range to the input

AEEH

¢8 BARE BAREN

ARBTR @ERE EAFAEERAYE bhEEE HRE

Unlisted equity securities 100,400  Recent market (@ NA N/A N/A

transaction
FEMRAE 5 TR S (@) ~EA FER TER
Unlisted equity securities 33,145 Market approach (&) N/A

I EMRAE 5 5% (@) TiEm

Unlisted equity securities 181,667  Discounted cash flow  (a) volatility 42.60%-48.40% Note a

FEMRAE 5 BRRENRE (a) 18 Mita

(b) R|sk free rate 1.98%-2.00% Note a

(o) EEmpF= Mita

Unlisted limited partnership, 549,231  Adjusted net assets  (a) N/A N/A N/A

trust and fund value
FIMERARLE 5 BRBEEFE (@ TEA FER FER
thEE

7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&2 &5 R A ]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #EZE T - =F+-_A=+—HItFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3

(continued)

Fair value estimation (continued)
At 31 December 2022

33 RnEEMEE)
HR-sE-—%#+=-B=+—H

B 5 E e B ()

Sensitivity
Amount Valuation Significant Percentage or of fair value
RMB'000 technique unobservable inputs ratio range to the input
MABEY
£ AR BAREN
ARETR fMERR EXTUBRERANE LEREE HRE
Unlisted equity securities 85,969  Recent market (@ NA N/A N/A
transaction
¥ EMRAE S MATHRS (@) ~EA TR FER
Unlisted equity securities 2171 Market approach () Eanings muttiples of comparable
companies
I EMRAE 5 5% 3 AHBARNAF/IEH
i) Enterprise value to sales 3.31 Note a
i) EXREEHEE fizta
i) Enterprise value to earnings before 11.85 Note a
interest taxes, depreciation and
amortisation
i) CXEBEHREHTEREHNEN ffzta
(b) Discount for lack of marketability 15.80% Note a
(o) BZmmnEitiE fizta
Unlisted limited partnership, 585,691  Adjusted netassets  (a) N/A N/A N/A
trust and fund value
¥ImARABRYE 5 GRBEEFE @ TER TER TER
k&S
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+-_A=+—HLFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HERREE(E)

(continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 33 RnEEMEE)
Notes: Wﬁ?i
(@) The following table summarises the quantitative information in (@) TEREER-_T-_=F+—-_A=+—H

respect of the significant unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair value
measurements as at 31 December 2023.

Range of inputs

Key unobservable inputs FEFTHERAKE BARBSHE

E-ERAABEHEMANEAT
ABEEAREORER -

Fair value

change

for the year

ended 31

Change December 2023
BE_z_=%

25 DAEEZD

Volatility ] 42.60%-48.40%
42.60%-48.40%

Risk-free rate 4 [ B 1| K 1.98%-2.00%
1.98%-2.00%

+5% 150
-5% (123)

+5% (133)
-5% 133

(b) The following table summarises the quantitative information in (b)
respect of the significant unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair value
measurements as at 31 December 2022.

Range of inputs

Key unobservable inputs FEFAERBASE @DAHEBEHE

TREANR-_ZE-_—_F+-_A=+—H
E-EBRAABEFEMANEKRT
AEREARBOHEER -

Fair value

change

for the year

ended 31

Change December 2022
Bzr—_T—_—

+=A=+—H

IHEE

<Xl AREERE

RMB’000

AR T

il

Earnings multiples of comparable companies Al
i.) Enterprise value to sales i) 3.31

3.31

E
i) Enterprise value to earnings before interest, i) (S EBEHKRE - B - 11.85
taxes, depreciation and amortisation i
11.85

Discount for lack of marketability R Z T 5 AT R 15.80%
15.80%

+5% 102
-5% (102)

+5% Less than
RMB1,000

-5% PRARE
1,0007T

+5% (20)
-5% 20

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the carrying amounts
of the Group’s financial assets, including trade receivables, other
receivables and cash and bank balances; and the Company’s financial
liabilities, including trade and other payables and bank and other
borrowings approximate their fair values.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H = — %

Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes assumptions and estimates concerning
the current and future periods. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual
results. The assumptions and estimates that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.

Estimates of Player Relationship Period in respect of online
game revenue

As described in Note 2.7, the Group recognises certain
revenue from sale of durable in-game virtual items in online
games ratably over the Player Relationship Period. The
determination of the Player Relationship Period for durable
in-game virtual items requires significant judgments and
estimates by the management. These judgments and
estimates included (i) the determination of key assumptions
applied in the estimation of Player Relationship Period,
including but not limited to the observation of historical paying
players’ behaviour, log-in records, churn rates and games
life-cycle; and (i) the identification of events that may trigger
changes in the Player Relationship Period. Such estimates
are subject to re-evaluation at the end of each reporting
period. Any adjustments arising from changes in the Player
Relationship Period as a result of new information will be
accounted for as changes in accounting estimates.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the CGUs to which
goodwill has been allocated, which is higher of the value
in use or fair value less costs of disposal. The value in use
calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from the CGUs with certain significant
inputs, including growth rates and expected changes to
sales and direct costs, and a suitable discount rate in order
to calculate the present value of future cash flows. Where
the actual cash flows are less than expected, a material
impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December 2023, the
carrying amount of goodwill is RMB624,183,000 (2022:
RMB624,183,000). Details of the impairment assessment of
goodwill are disclosed in Note 18.

£ — = ¥} Annual Report 2023

ire B HRERNEGE)

T=FFT A=t —HIEFE
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FHEMAFEANEERR
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ErTHERORESEHEENR
FMEmReEABEMN 2B S5
(AEABESNAERE &K K
MENRSBELBE)ETHET A
EFREE AEBRFTEHAS
EXBA(ABETERBASE -
BREEEERREEREERANTE
HEEMAREFRSREET
fhat  WREBFEE AR XK - LAE
ERREFREARENHEE - WNE
M\Iﬁi/\mitﬁﬁA$§Hﬁ TQEQFEE
BEAREEBE RZTE-_=F+=
BA=+—H BENEAEAAR
#624,183,000L (ZZE - —F AR
#624,183,0007T) ° B & R EFF1H K
HBRH 18I FE -
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e BRERNEE)

Impairment of trade receivables and other receivables

Impairment of trade receivables and other receivables are
assessed based on assumptions and estimates in respect of
the expected credit loss rates. In determining the expected
credit loss rates, the Group takes into consideration the
Group’s historical data, existing market conditions as well
as forward looking information at the end of each reporting
period. Changes in these assumptions and estimates could
materially affect the result of the impairment assessment.
Details of the impairment of other receivables and trade
receivables are disclosed in Notes 3.1(b), 23 and 25.

Fair value measurement of level 3 financial instruments

The fair values of financial instruments that are not quoted in
active markets are determined by using valuation techniques.
These valuation techniques include the use of market
approach, discounted cash flow model and other valuation
techniques commonly used by market participants, which
require selection of significant unobservable inputs in the
valuation process, including but not limited to earnings
multiple of comparable companies, discount for lack of
marketability and discount rate etc. Changes in these
assumptions and estimates could materially affect the fair
values of financial instruments.

Control over Shenzhen 7Road and its subsidiaries under
the Contractual Arrangements

As described in Note 2.5(a)(i), Shenzhen 7Road and its
subsidiaries are treated as controlled structured entities
of Qianhai Huanjing and are ultimately controlled and
consolidated by the Company by way of the Contractual
Arrangements. The management of the Group, with
the support of legal opinion, are of the opinion that the
Contractual Arrangements are in compliance with the PRC
laws and regulations and are legally enforceable, and that the
Group has power over Shenzhen 7Road’s relevant activities
and is exposed to significant variable return of Shenzhen
7Road. Changes in these assumptions could have material
impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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The Group’s business activities, for which discrete financial
statements are available, are regularly reviewed and evaluated o
by the chief operating decision maker, i.e. the directors of the
Company. As a result of this evaluation, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s operations are mainly
managed as a single segment during the reporting period and

no segment information is presented, accordingly.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the majority of the I

non-current assets of the Group were located in the PRC.

The Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 December 2023

and 2022 are as follows:

A=t—BItFE

REBNEBZBIRHEFOTB
K OHIELE A
ER)THERRAMG - KBZAT
fﬁ’ﬁi\\a%%nu% $$@E’J¥
BERBERDFTEAE—HEE
2 FAIEES D EEFR -

R E (BIARRF]

—EFR-EFE-_—_F+—A

=t —H AEBENBARHBHIFER

HEEEYE FHURHBE -

BE_ B - =FR-_ZT-—F+—=

A=t —BLEE ~AEENHKZE

LUNNE
2023 2022
—_E_=5F —=E-
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARET T
Types of goods or services EmSREESE
Online game revenue A 4% 7 R K ==
— Self-development games — BERBEE
published by the Group HAEBZFETT 356,996 165,569
published by other publishers HEMBEITEET 112,961 151,949
— Licensed games — RIEBER
published by the Group BN EE T 1,795 1,283
published by other publishers BHEMBEITEET 52 107,253
471,804 426,054
Sales of game copyrights S 5 1% B hiw - 1,458
Sales of online game technology and ~ $5& #8 4% 35 &% B T K B 1T AR R
publishing solutions services AT 664 82
Intellectual property licensing %IJ E&EJ’EE FFA] 7,159 6,669
Cloud computing and related cloud B EREEARE
service 148,105 106,367
627,732 540,630
Timing of revenue recognition R ERE:
— At a point in time — E e 7,823 8,209
— Over time — —BREMH 619,909 532,421
627,732 540,630
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Revenue of approximately RMB291,397,000 (2022:
RMB282,381,000) was derived from five largest single external
customers during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Revenue of approximately RMB150,301,000 (2022:
RMB186,617,000) was derived from one (2022: two) largest
single external customers, which accounted for more than
10% of total revenue of the Group, during the year ended 31
December 2023.

The Group’s contract liabilities in respect of its contracts with

—=5+-A=+—ALFE

BE_Z2-_=—F+-_A=+—HI
FE R 4 A R #291,397,0007T
(ZZT = —4F: AR¥282,381,0007T)
RERAKE—IIBREE -

HE_Z_=F+-_A=+—HI
FERW I D A R #150,301,0007C
(ZZT = —F : AR #¥186,617,0007T)
DRE—ZB(CEZZF MB) &
ARE—IIPEF  HEBERKE
10% A I o

R-B_=FF_FT__Ft+-A

customers as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows: =t+—HB AKEEEHRUATHEE
JE' = ﬂﬁ%@ﬁ’] = 1\\’7%{5\ :
2023 2022
—E-= —EF - F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARETTT
Current ENEA
Advance from customers AR P RIE 5,411 12,071
Game copyrights 1% B4 hiw 1 7,386 9,637
Game revenue derived from game B 2 Bk It K P15 02 B &

players 22,557 51,901
35,354 73,609

As at 1 January 2022, contract liabilities amounted to RZFE-_—_F—H—B 608&

RMB69,442,000.

Contract liabilities primarily represent the unamortised
revenue derived from sale of in-game virtual items and
advance payments from third-party game publishers, to
which the Group continued to have obligations at the end of
the reporting period.

7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&2 &5 R A ]
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #EZE T - =F+-_A=+—HItFE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION AND 5 SEHERKRWEE)
REVENUE (continued)
The following table shows how much of the revenue TRERGENHELESHNE
recognised in the current reporting period relates to BEEENCSERREZEE -
carried-forward contract liabilities.
2023 2022
—E== T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFR ARETR
Revenue recognised during the year 3t AFE SN EBEHR
that was included in contract FRAERAB R =
liabilities balance at the beginning
of the year
Advance from customers BREP K 8,743 1,045
Game revenue derived from game B %2 B I R P15 22 Bk A &=
players 51,901 9,515
60,644 10,560
The contract liabilities as at 31 December 2023 is expected to RZEZ=F+_A=+—HH®HE
be recognised as revenue within 1 year (2022: 1 year). HEBEEREMTFRERBRE (=
T ZF 1)

6 NET PROVISION OF IMPAIRMENT 6 FEAHEEEFEEXT

LOSSES ON FINANCIAL ASSETS ZERMEEREEE
UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS BiEER
MODEL
2023 2022
—E_=HF —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT ARETT
Impairment losses recognised on: R ZBERE:
— Trade receivables — B EINFIR 28,018 5,051
— Other receivables — H fth f& W kI8 5,608 6,395
33,626 11,446
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SE+-AS+—AILER

2023 2022
—_E_=5F —=E-
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARETT
Government grants (Note a) B B (Bt 5 a) 3,235 6,312
Refunds of the PRC value-added tax ~ AP EIIE(EF 2 R X 1,847 3,621
Investment income ‘ERA — 17
Others HAth 342 106
5,424 10,056
Note: B &
(@) There is no unfulfilled condition or contingency in respect of the (@) B B B Ll AT A B RS e R B AT I
government grants. ek BEE -
2023 2022
—E-=H T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARETT
Fair value changes on financial assets &AL BET A B A
at fair value through profit or loss TREEANEEE
(Note 22) (Mg 3E22) (85,373) 31,096
Fair value change on contingent L U B — P BT BB 8 B FE S 3k
consideration payable for acquisiton ~ ARER AR BEEH
of a subsidiary (Note 33) (HT5E33) - (1,429
(Loss)/gains on disposals of property, HEWE  MEKLEZER
plant and equipment and right-of-use £ A& E# (B18) W
assets (61) 6,381
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEKN B AR W 13 13,083
Gain on disposal of an associate HE—E B E QR K= — 306,200
Impairment loss of an associate B & N AR E R K (748) (6,421)
Foreign exchange gains, net HNVE W & F RE 910 4,187
Others Hh 5 63
Impairment loss on property, plant and  #1% - B E N R #& B EE %k
equipment (64,827) =
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets £ A1 & E R B8 K (30,146) -
(180,227) 353,160
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #EZE T - =F+-_A=+—HItFE

2023 2022
—E_== —_ZEF-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARETT
Employee benefit expenses (Note 10)  {& B 18 53 5 (Bf 5£10) 185,264 158,704
Promotion and advertising expenses & & & & 53 (M 7t a)

(Note a) 49,102 115,408
Channel service fee and cost of RERBERREKA

licensing 9,255 48,523
Utilities and office expenses RAEERBRAERY 2,912 4110
Outsourced technical service fees HNEL B2 T B 75 B 45,552 29,652
Bandwidth and server custody fees TERRBHBTEERE 25,941 20,879
Travelling and entertainment expenses = ik & 85 & 7,238 6,799
Other professional consulting fees HEXERE 9,827 8,481
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERZEITE

equipment (Note 16) (KI3E16) 89,363 81,514
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FERAEEERE (WFE17)

(Note 17) 98,262 75,158
Amortisation of intangible assets A B (T 5E18)

(Note 18) 2,093 28,020
Short-term lease expenses HHEERY 2,892 1,131
Auditors’ remuneration % ERD B &

— Audit services — BT 3,465 3,300

— Audit-related services — BT EE AR 430 430
Tax and levies HMEREE 3,362 2,380
Others HAth 419 537

535,377 585,026
Note: B &% -
(@) Promotion and advertising expenses mainly consist of sales of games @) HEEBESHAXFTZERABEREERT

and marketing expenses. HEEER -
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2023 2022
—EBE-=HF —_EF-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARETF T
Wages, salaries and discretionary T HFehkBBIED
bonus 152,826 131,221
Social insurances, housing provident &R - EEAEE UK
funds and other employee benefits HibE ERF 18,515 14,455
Pension costs — defined contribution  BARE KA — REMHFKETE
plans 13,923 13,028
185,264 158,704
Five highest paid individuals @ hEmE=TMAL

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 include one
(2022: two) director whose remuneration are set out in Note
11 below. Details of the remuneration of the remaining four
(2022: three) highest paid individuals who are not a director of
the Company are as follows:

HE-Z-_=%+-A=+—HL
FE - AEEBANRAEESHTMAL
BRE—REE(CTE__F mMEN(H
B BT XBIsE11FTEL) - RN E
(ZEZ—F ZR)EARRREEN
EaMEATZMEFRRT:

2023 2022
=2== —EF-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARET T
Wages and salaries TERS® 1,970 3,215
Discretionary bonus B 15 TEAT 25,251 —
Social insurances, housing provident ~ &Rk - EFEAEE UK
funds and other employee benefits H g 818 A 272 192
Pension costs — defined contribution  BIKRE KA — RE M- ETE
plans 299 170
27,792 3,577

No emolument was paid by the Company or the companies
comprising the Group to the five highest paid individuals
as an inducement to join the Company or the companies
comprising the Group, or as compensation for loss of office
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE - T - =F+_-_A=+—H I FE

The emoluments fell within the following band: b)) BMEMTRUATEHER:
The number of the highest paid individuals who are not a FEARAEENERMNEATZA
director of the Company whose remuneration fell within - EMeMTRERET:

different bands is as follows:

Number of individuals

AE
2023 2022
—EC_=HF —E-_F
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,0017% 7T £1,500,000/%8 7T — S
HK$7,500,001 to HK$8,000,000 7,500,0017% 7T £8,000,0007% 7T 4 =
4 S
Retirement benefit costs © EER@EFAR
The Group contributes to a defined contribution Mandatory AEBRE GREIERTESETENES)
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF BEEMBEEMAHEAEER
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme KEMFEI((REESFEDELDR
Ordinance for all employees in Hong Kong. Contributions EHF - HEARRNDIZEENER
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ relevant WAHB R LEL  YRIBIERTE
income and are charged to profit or loss as they become SETEIR A BHEETAER - &
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The BertEmEERAEENEED
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of AERR—EBLEENESEF -
the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s AEBERMEEHEAREMRE ST
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when BNREEZHEBENEE - BRIE®RE
contributed in the MPF Scheme. Under the MPF Scheme, ®itE  EEXRHEESEASBRE
the employer and its employees are each required to make BRBUARS%RIETE ST EIHK
contribution to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’ B A KA LR A&30,000%
relevant income subject to a cap of monthly relevant income Lo RBRATEIMHERAEEE -
of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF Scheme vest AEE e H B E R B R U B FEE ¢
immediately. Any forfeited voluntary contributions made by KARRIOASEREE B REMH
the Group are used to reduce the Group’s employer voluntary HeoBEBEEAEIREETRREH
contributions. There were no forfeited contributions (by HRE2EEBA R SINESED)
employers on behalf of employees who leave the scheme KOS WA SE E BB SRETEITE T /Y
prior to vesting fully in such contributions) to offset existing WAEM-K -

contributions under the defined contribution schemes.
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Retirement benefit costs (continued)

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries which operate
in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) are required to
participate in a central pension scheme operated by the
local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of its payroll costs to the
central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the central pension scheme. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
in the central pension scheme. The Group has no forfeiture of
pension scheme contributions (i.e. contributions processed
by the employer on behalf of the employee who has exited
the scheme prior to vesting of such contributions). As at 31
December 2023, no forfeited contribution under the pension
scheme of the Group is available for deduction of contribution
payable in coming years (2022: nil).
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81 75 i 2} BT £ (48)

Fo=H+-AS+—ALEE

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #

AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

11

The directors’ remuneration for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing
Rules and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as

= AN
AR B

2-F

EEMERESAE

BE_Z-_=ZFK_FT-—F+—
A=+—HBLFE REEHBLM
R RBEBRREHNEEZEEN

follows: T
Social
insurances,
housing
provident
funds  Pension costs
and other — defined
employee  contribution Bonus
Fees Salaries benefits cost interest Total
HERR
EEARS
NREM BRERA -
fe #¢  EEEA REMFHAA  BAAE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR AR%Tr ARBTR ARETn  ARETR
Forthe yearended 31 December 2023 ~ HZ-E-Z%
TZR=t-ALEE
Executive dlrectors/Chief Evecutive Offcer #7722/ 714
Meng Shugi 7Z% - 718 15 51 - 784
Li Zhengquan 52 - 804 101 4 - 951
Yang Cheng B - 1,048 75 68 - 1,191
Peng Cheng ot (3) TR - 2,376 75 68 6,355 8,874
Independent non-executive directors BUFHTEE
Xue Jun 235 m - - - - M
LiYiging Bl 181 - - - - 181
Lui Chi Ho AEE 181 - - - - 181
Total @it 634 4,946 266 233 6,355 12,434
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

"N EEMEREZFZE

AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (48)
(continued)
Social
insurances,
housing
provident  Pension costs
funds and — defined
other employee  contribution Bonus
Fees Salaries benefits cost interest Total
HERR -
fRORE
WREM BRAEHA -
s 8 EEEH REfRRA A fast
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARBTR  ARETRT ARETR
Forthe year ended 31 December 2022~ BZE-F--%
TZR=t-ALEE
Executie drectors/Chisf Executive Offcer #7728/ TR #£7
Meng Shugi P - 608 14 51 - 673
Li Zhengouan 32 = 862 99 43 - 1,004
Yang Cheng B - 873 7 63 - 1,007
Peng Cheng ot (3) TEWHE) - 1519 7 63 16,424 17077
Independent non-executive directors EU#iiEZ
Xue Jun BE 268 - - - - 28
Li Yiging Bigs 179 - - - - 179
Lui ChiHo AEE 179 - - - - 179
Tota &3 626 3862 255 20 15,424 20387
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #EZE T - =F+-_A=+—HItFE

11 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS N EEMEREEN=®

AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (#8)

(continued)

Note: B 5

@) Mr. Peng Cheng resigned as the Company’s executive director on 8 (@) TRAEER-ZT-_NF=ANBHETEAL
March 2024 and was appointed as the Company’s executive director on RAMITES  RRZZE_=F=AN
8 March 2023, BEZERADAINTES -

No director waived any emolument during the years ended 31 BEr—_ - -HEpK-—T—-_—F+—

December 2023 and 2022, B=+—HIEE HEgsheE

ERME -

No emolument was paid by the Company or the companies REBEZE—_E-_=FEK - - —

comprising the Group as an inducement to join the Company +—B=+—BItEER KA T

or the companies comprising the Group, or as compensation s 48 Bk N £ [ 1 A B 8 4 < HE {a]

for loss of office during the years ended 31 December 2023 B 4 1B B0 AN B 8k 48 Bk AN &=

and 2022. PG EE S BRI
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year ended 31 December 2023 B Z—Z - =F+_-_A=+—HILFE

Director’s retirement benefits and termination benefits

None of the directors received any retirement benefits or
termination benefits during the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022.

Consideration provided to third parties for making available
director’s services

The Company did not pay consideration to any third parties
for making available directors’ services during the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporates by and
controlled entities with such directors

Save as disclosed in Note 37(b), there is no loan, quasi-loan
and other dealing arrangement in favour of directors, or
controlled body corporates and connected entities of such
directors during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

Directors’ material interest in transactions, arrangements or
contracts

There is no significant transaction, arrangement and contract
in relation to the Group’s business in which the Company was
a party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022.

7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&2 &5 R A ]
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #EZE T - =F+-_A=+—HItFE

12 FINANCE COSTS, NET 12 BI R A FEEE
2023 2022
—_E_= —=F—
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AR®BTRT

Finance income B WA
Interest income on bank balances RITHEBHF BN 729 194
Others Hh, 443 448
1,172 642
Finance costs B 7 B A
Interest expenses on bank and other ~ $R1T R b & EF| B FI X
borrowings (17,739) (10,785)
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBGBNERX (6,882) (9,393)
Others HAtb (98) (642)
(24,719) (20,820)
Finance costs, net B 3 AR AR B (23,547) (20,178)
7/ 3
13 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 13 FTBMEH
The Group’s income tax expense for the year is analysed as AEBERFANFAFHRER TN
follows: T
2023 2022
—EC_=HF —E- 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFRT ARETT
Current income tax BNERFT1S
— Income tax for the current year — RERE/HR — (11,132)
— Over provision in prior years —BEFEBREEE 5,407 —
Deferred income tax (Note 32) i I BT 15 B4 (B 5232) (10,092) 7,349
Income tax expense FriSti & /A (4,685) (3,783)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+-_A=+—HLFE
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The Cayman Islands and The British Virgin Islands (the
“BVI”) Income Tax

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands and accordingly, is exempted from
the Cayman Islands income tax. The Company’s subsidiaries
established under the International Business Companies Acts
of the BVI are exempted from the BVI income tax.

Hong Kong Profits Tax

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the
“Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime.
The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was
gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group
entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the
estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits above HK$2 million.

7Road Holdings Limited £+ X i@ i% A R A 7]
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # =~ T - =+ - A=+—HBItFE

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”)

In respect of the Company’s PRC subsidiaries, the PRC EIT
was provided for at a tax rate of 25% (2022: 25%) on the
estimated assessable profits, except for:

(i) Qianhai Huanjing then qualified as a Software
Enterprise under the relevant PRC tax laws and
regulations in 2019. Pursuant to the relevant PRC
tax laws and regulations, a company qualified as
a Software Enterprise is entitled to a two-year EIT
exemption period, followed by a three-year period
with 50% reduction in the applicable income tax rate
(i.e. 12.5%). The preferential tax period commences
from the first year of profitable operations after
offsetting tax losses carried forward from prior
years. Accordingly, Qianhai Huanjing was entitled to
a two-year EIT exemption period for the two years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2019, and a three-year
period with 50% reduction in the applicable income
tax rate (i.e. 12.5%) commencing in the year ended
31 December 2020. Commencing in the year ended
31 December 2023, Qianhai Huanjing is subject
to an applicable tax rate of 15% in 2023, as it was
established in Qianhai Shenzhen-Hong Kong Modern
Service Industry Cooperation Zone of Shenzhen and it
meets the requirements set out by local authorities for
the preferential tax rate.

(i) Huoerguosi Meimai Technology Co., Ltd (‘Huoerguosi
Meimai”) qualified as Newly Founded Enterprises
within the Special Economic Development Zone under
the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. Pursuant
to the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations, these
companies are entitled to a five-year EIT exemption
period, commencing from the first tax year which
the first profitable operations is recorded. As a result,
Huoerguosi Meimai was exempt from the PRC EIT for
the five years ended 31 December 2021, 2022, 2023,
2024 and 2025.

© HECEMEH(EEMBHR]
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #E —E - =%+ -_F=+—HItFE

©
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The PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) (continued)

(i)

7Road Holdings Limited 25+ X &

Wuxi Zhongyao Network Technology Co., Ltd. (“Wuxi
Zhongyao”) and Shanghai Zhuiman Huyu Technology
Company Limited (“Shanghai Zhuiman”) qualified
as a Software Enterprise under the relevant PRC tax
laws and regulations in 2019 and 2020 respectively.
Pursuant to the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations,
a company qualified as a Software Enterprise is entitled
to a two-year EIT exemption period, followed by a
three-year period with 50% reduction in the applicable
income tax rate (i.e. 12.5%). The preferential tax period
commences from the first year of profitable operations
after offsetting tax losses carried forward from prior
years. Accordingly, Wuxi Zhongyao was entitled to
a two-year EIT exemption period for the two years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2020, and a three-year
period with 50% reduction in the applicable income
tax rate (i.e. 12.5%) commencing in the year ended
31 December 2021. Shanghai Zhuiman was entitled
to a two-year EIT exemption period for the two years
ended 31 December 2020 and 2021, and a three-year
period with 50% reduction in the applicable income
tax rate (i.e. 12.5%) commencing in the year ended 31
December 2022.

Shanghai Xifeng Network Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Shanghai Xifeng”) and Shanghai Zhangzhi Network
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Zhangzhi”) qualified
as a Software Enterprise under the relevant PRC tax
laws and regulations in 2022 and 2023 respectively.
Accordingly, Shanghai Xifeng was entitled to a
two-year EIT exemption period for the two years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, and a three-year
period with 50% reduction in the applicable income
tax rate (i.e. 12.5%) commencing in the year ended
31 December 2024. Shanghai Zhangzhi was entitled
to a two-year EIT exemption period for the two years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2024, and a three-year
period with 50% reduction in the applicable income
tax rate (i.e. 12.5%) commencing in the year ended 31
December 2025.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # =~ T - =+ - A=+—HBItFE

(0 The PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) (continued)

(V) According to a policy promulgated by the State Tax
Bureau of the PRC that was effective from 2018
onwards, enterprises engaging in R&D activities
are entitled to claim 175% of their R&D expenses
incurred as tax deductible expenses in determining
tax assessable profits. Certain qualified subsidiaries
of the Group have claimed such super deduction in
ascertaining its tax assessable profits/(losses) for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

On 26 March 2023, the State Tax Bureau of the PRC issued
the Public Notice [2023] No.7, announcing that the enterprises
engaging in R&D activities are entitled to claim 200% of
their R&D expenses incurred as tax deductible expenses
in determining tax assessable profits from 2023 onwards.
Certain qualified subsidiaries of the Group have claimed such
super deduction in ascertaining their tax assessable profits/
(losses) for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+-_A=+—HLFE

(@  The PRC Withholding Tax (“WHT")

Pursuant to the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations,
dividends distributed by a company established in the PRC to
a foreign investor with respect to profits derived on or after 1
January 2018 are generally subject to the PRC WHT at a tax
rate of 10%. If a foreign investor incorporated in Hong Kong
meets certain conditions and requirements under the double
taxation treaty arrangement between the PRC and Hong
Kong, the relevant tax rate of the PRC WHT will be reduced
from 10% to 5%.

Income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the
profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or
loss as follows:

RE TR (B )
REMBEFERBERIEZR R
REKZA AR T N\F—H
—RZREENENAINEIRE
F R BB — AR ZA1R10% Y B R
AR B TR o RN F B MK
VHHINEREE N APEEEFER]
VHERESEHBIBELEER MY
BT IRERRE - BIPBEEMB A
12 BE R X K 10% B £5% °

AEENFBHERREAER
R PR BL AT A B AR 0T

174

2023 2022
—_E_=5F —=E-
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE TR ARETF T

(Loss)/profit before income tax BRATE R AT (BER) ER (140,209) 283,389
Tax calculated at PRC statutory tax rate 1% 1 Bk & Bt R25% 51 & &)

of 25% izl (35,052) 70,847
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AT FIHL FA Sz 2 75 76 7 &

for tax purpose 126 301
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax HBERER WA Z T £

purpose (372) (8,776)
Over provision in respect of prior years i@ 1 4 [ B 48 & & (5,407) —
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised FRIERHEE B 2R E & 89,450 6,200
Utilisation of tax losses previously not | B 2 Al R #E R 2 51 75 &5 18

recognised (26,879) (40,389)
Effect of preferential income tax benefits ## Bh#& T M B A 1B =

granted to certain subsidiaries Frisiifleas w2 (10,611) (16,947)
Effect of additional deduction for R&D  FBIMEINA M 2 &

expenses (11,250) (7,021)
Remeasurement of deferred tax FERBIREE s EHTE

resulting from a change in applicable & IE#{ 18

tax rate 10,794 (1,294)
Effect of different tax rates of B ARIREMBEERE

subsidiaries operating in other KERTRANE s E

jurisdictions (6,114) 862
Income tax expense FrefsEH 4,685 3,783
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # =~ T - =+ - A=+—HBItFE

Basic @ EXK
Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing the BREXR(BR)BINRFRARA
(loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Company by the RIBBEAEBMLUER), BABIUE
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during BTERBRIMETFOHAE -
the year.
2023 2022
—=E=-= —ET-—
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of ~ ANA R #E A A M
the Company (RMB’000) (E518)m A (ANERETFT) (146,461) 282,499
Weighted average number of ordinary & 3% 77 & 8 A% hn# 15
shares in issue (in thousands) (F) 2,574,268 2,574,268
Basic (loss)/earnings per share for ZAYNCIE? ZS DN
profit attributable to owners of the A HZREARNEE),
Company el (0.0569) 0.1097
Diluted ) B8

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no diluted
(loss)/earnings per share were presented as there were no
potential ordinary shares in issue.

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders
of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2023,
nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the
reporting period (2022 Nil).

BE_ T =Rk FT__F+1+—
A=+—BLFE XEZ2JEK
BE(BER) /éﬁ' JRE R I A
MBEEHRITEBK -

RBE-_T_=F+-_A=+—H
EFER - RAAREHEBEKR
R EK RS - B REHRE
EERE(ZTZ—F &) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+-_A=+—HLFE

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND

16 %  MEKXRE

EQUIPMENT
Servers  Furniture and
and other leasehold
Buildings equipment  improvements Vehicles Total
REER HGERHE
BT Hit %t MELE RE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT  ARETD
Cost ﬁi S
At 1 January 2022 N-E-—5-A—H = 329,170 27,846 1,595 358,611
Addition RE = 183,176 639 = 183,815
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBLRA - 017) (23 81 (1,021)
Disposal e = (40511) 20208) - 60,719
Exchange realignment ERAE - 1,184 20 - 1,004
At 31 December 2022 and RZBZZ#+ZA=1-H
1 January 2023 k=Z-=%-f-H - 472,102 8,274 1,514 481,890
Addition NE 8,176 4,022 1,692 - 13,890
Disposal LE - (11,682) (1,829) - (13,511)
Exchange realignment EXRE - 10 7 - 17
At 31 December 2023 AZEZ=F+ZA=+-H 8,176 464,452 8,144 1,514 482,286
Accumulated depreciation i G E
At1 January 2022 W-E--&-f—f - (44,447) 26,608) 620) (71875
Depreciation charge (note 9) ﬁ EBR(M39) - (80,494) (860) (160) (81,514)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBLA - 907 23 40 970
Disposal e = 6319 20,206 - 27025
Exchange realignment ERRE - (1,203 (103) - (1,306)
At 31 December 2022 and S ::¢+ A=1-H
1 January 2023 “Z-=%-A-H - (118,418) (7,342) (940) (126,700)
Depreciation charge (note 9) ﬁ%gﬂa(mm) (360) (88,302) (541) (160) (89,363)
Impairment E - (64,827) - - (64,827)
Disposal e - 11,087 1,794 - 12,881
Exchange realignment ERAE - (121) ®) - (124)
At 31 Decerber 2023 S 860 (260,58 (6,092 (1100 (268133)
Carrying values 3 E E
At 31 December 2023 A\ZB-=F+-A=1-H 7,816 203,871 2,052 414 214,153
At 31 December 2022 WZE-—F+-A=1+—H = 353,684 932 574 355,190
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # =~ T - =+ - A=+—HBItFE

The above items of property, plant and equipment, after
taking into account the residual values, are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives:

Buildings 30 years
B 304
Servers and other equipment 3to 5 years
AR 7% 28 I B 5% 3E5F
Vehicles 4 years
HE 45
Furniture 3to 5 years
&R 3E5F

Leasehold improvements

ME - BEMERE BEEHNHRE
B REMGAAIBFHANUNER

REHRITE

Estimated useful lives of 1 to 3 years or remaining

lease terms of 2 to 3 years, whichever is shorter

HEMERE

HETATAF 123 F sk sh NHE2E3F - UBREH A%

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment has been fF% ¥ BELAREBITECBHREE
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss as mac R - I
follows:
2023 2022
—_=E:_-= —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARET T
Cost of revenue W &5 B AR 85,943 78,680
R&D expenses A 1,318 1,530
Administrative expenses TERAX 2,101 1,304
Selling expenses HEEH 1 —
89,363 81,514

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s services and other
equipment of RMB202,979,000 (2022: RMB228,585,000)
were pledged as collateral for the Group’s borrowings of
RMB181,003,000 (2022: RMB206,877,000) (note 31).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s building of
RMB7,816,000 (2022: nil) were pledged as collateral for the
Group’s bank borrowing of RMB40,000,000 (2022: nil) (note
31).

RZZE-_=Z=F+=-_A=+—H ' &
£E A R#202,979,000t (ZFE ==
F: A R#¥228,585,0007T) #) AR 15 25
REMEBZEEEREARAEBRAR
#181,003,0007 (ZZE=ZZF AR
#206,877,0007T) ) (& B &Y 1K 17 &
(BF5E31) ©

RZB-_=F+-A=+—H &K
B A R #7,816,0007(Z T = —%F:
T)%@%EE#VE%K’*@/\E

#40,000,000C (ZE=Z=F: T) W
IRITIE BRI R (M 7E31) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #E —E - =%+ -_F=+—HItFE

178

75 R R N A ()

Leased
Leasehold business
land premises Total
HELT#Hh HEKE SR #3
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AREBTT
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZB-=F
+ZA=+—H
Carrying amount RmEE 33,272 101,853 135,125
As at 31 December 2022 R-BZZHF
+=-A=+-A
Carrying amount RHEE — 211,461 211,461
For the year ended BE-Z—-=F
31 December 2023 +T-RB=t+—-HLEFE
Depreciation charge FEER 634 97,628 98,262
For the year ended S —3
31 December 2022 tZR=+t—-HLEE
Depreciation charge TEER - 75,158 75,158
2023 2022
—E-=8F —E - —4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AR®T T
Expenses relating to short-term leases %2 HA 78 & #) 7 2 2,892 1,131
Total cash outflow for leases MERSRLBE 82,393 80,676
Additions to right-of-use assets FREEERNE 57,803 217,983
Early termination of leases REERILERAE 6,101 15,174
Impairment loss BB E 1B 30,146 —

Leasehold land represented a land use right held under lease
for the period of 70 years from 2002 to 2072 located in the
PRC for the Group’s own use.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s right-of-use assets of
RMB33,272,000 (2022: nil) were pledged as collateral for the
Group’s bank borrowing of RMB40,000,000 (2022: nil) (note
31).

For both years, the Group leases various business premises
for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed
term of 1 to 3 years (2022: 1 to 3 years). Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain different terms
and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies
the definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.

7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&2 &5 R A ]

ME T MRS ERE + 106 A

RABFEERNL  EAHR
B-ZEF_FEAEZ_FTL=_FAR
Hi706F -

RZEBE-_=F+-_A=+—H &%
B A R#33,272,0000 (ZZE = — 4 :

§>E’J1EFH$%§FE?£W’E%$E
B A R#40,000,00070 (ZZE = — 4 :
)RR T R E AR & (M 5E31) -

REZME  AEBHETREZS
PrgETTEE - HOWETE SR B
FEIF(ZFT__F1E3F)- M
SR IIBREMER B ABEETE -
I B & R # 5R RAR1F - BE E Al
& HAPR A0 FF AT R JB S B PR S R B
AEBRBAONER LETAH
A SR BT RO AR o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &

= AN
AR B

81 75 i 2} BT £ (48)

FRC=FA_A=+—-HLEE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18 BILEE
Game
copyrights
and
intellectual
property Computer
license software
Goodwill contracts licenses Domain name Total
35 I h A
ASER  BMERH &
BE FAEH g 4 H)
RMBIO0 ~ RMB000  RMB0O0  RMBOOO0  RMBO00O
ARETT ARETT ARETE ARETR ARETR
Cost KA
At 1 January 2022 )5’\\_ Sy = 693,914 184,173 7,333 3,253 888,673
Additions NE = 2,089 = = 2,089
Disposals of subsidiaries HEKBAF (69,731) (176,161) - - (245,892)
At 31 December 2022 and 2__¢+ R=+-H
1 January 2023 & —=%#-f-H 624,183 10,101 7,333 3,253 644,870
Additions NE = = 128 = 128
Disposals e - (@12 - - (@12)
Exchange realignment RS - 35 - - 35
At 31 December 2023 RIB-_=F+-A=+-H 624,183 9,724 7461 3,253 644,621
Accumulated amortisation RitE
At 1 January 2022 W_E-—%#—-f—H - (156,926) (7,231) (2,076) (166,233)
Amortisation charge (note 9) BHER (W #9) - (27,653) (46) (321) (28,020)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR - 176,161 - - 176,161
At 31 December 2022 and RZZ__#+_A=1-H
1 January 2023 B-E-=£-f-A - (8,418) (7,277) (2,397) (18,092)
Amortisation charge (note 9) &% A (M 3t0) - (1,720) (48) (325) (2,093)
Disposals & - 412 - - 412
Exchange realignment BHBE - 2 - - 2
At 31 December 2023 RZE-=%+-A=+-H - (9,724) (7,325) 2,7229) (19,771)
Carrying values REE
At 31 December 2023 RIZ_=F
+ A=1+-H 624,183 - 136 531 624,850
At 31 December 2022 N
+=A=1+-H 624,183 1,683 56 856 626,778
— T = =& R Annual Report 2023 179
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The above items of intangible assets, except for goodwill, are
amortised on a straight-line basis over the following estimated
useful lives:

Game copyrights and intellectual property license contracts
% BRI Ko FN 3B EE RE RT R & 4
Computer software licenses

PRI AT A 4

Domaln name

S

Amortisation of intangible assets has been charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

—=5+-A=+—ALFE

BREEN LAEPEERARA
EETA A FRRA B ROE S

3 to 10 years
3E105F

110 3 years
1£3%F

10 years

104

BRVEEHAHCHARABERN
g

2023 2022
—EC=H —E-_F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETT
Cost of revenue W &5 B AR 2,067 28,001
R&D expenses EFAX 20 19
Administrative expenses THRA X 6 —
2,093 28,020

Impairment assessment of goodwill B R E T E

For the purpose of goodwill impairment testing, goodwill
is allocated to each of the Group’s CGUs (or group of
CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and
not larger than an operating segment.

7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&2 &5 R A ]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H = — %

Impairment assessment of goodwill (continued)

In prior years, the management considers groups of
subsidiaries operating in specific regions, i.e. Shenzhen Sub-
group and Shanghai Sub-group, represent the CGUs for
the purpose of goodwill impairment testing. During the year
ended 31 December 2023, the operation of Shanghai Sub-
group has been integrated into Shenzhen Sub-group and
the Group reorganised its reporting structure for the Group’s
development and distribution of web games and mobile
games in the PRC from two CGUs (i.e. Shenzhen Sub-group
and Shanghai Sub-group) to one CGU. Accordingly, for
the purpose of goodwill impairment testing, the goodwill of
RMB624,183,000 arising from the acquisition of Osmanthus
Vale Holdings Limited and Shenzhen Qianqgi Network
Technology Co,. Ltd. was allocated to the CGU which
principally engaged in the development and distribution of
web games and mobile games in the PRC as a whole. At 31
December 2022, the carrying amount of goodwill allocated to
these CGUs are as follows:

ire B HRERNEGE)

E =+ A=+t—BIEFE

2R E G (')
RBEFE siEBREMNSAM

T EEEBRABTHEELHNN
BAREE IRV TEEER R £
BTBEE AReELEM-#H
EE=F+A=+—HLHF
B EETBEENEEFARY
T%%l i 2~ &2 @ 5t 7R A B A 3%

DHPBEEB R TR ESERE
im% FA P 3R & = 4 B (R
FINTEEER LS TESE)H

%*flfﬁiﬁi S0 EIE B
BRI EA B M E - W Osmanthus

Vale Holdings Limited X % JIl F & 43
BEURERAGEENHEARE
624,183,000t E B B H It Z IR &
EEBEM ZREeELEBNUIER
SN SRR S ¥ A
RERDH RZZE__F+_H
=t+—H SEEZSEReELES
HEEREELNT:

2022

ZECF

RMB’ OOO
/\ ;Mn

LETEEE
Y TBEE

Shanghai Sub-group
Shenzhen Sub-group

598,152
26,031

624,183

The goodwill allocated to Shanghai Sub-group represent
the goodwill arising from the acquisition of Osmanthus Vale
Holdings Limited (“Osmanthus Vale”), whose operations
are mainly based in Shanghai, the PRC. The acquisition of
Osmanthus Vale was completed during the year ended 31
December 2019.

The goodwill allocated to Shenzhen Sub-group represent
the goodwill arising from the acquisition of Shenzhen Qianaqi
Network Technology Co,. Ltd. (“Shenzhen Qiangi”), whose
operations are mainly based in Shenzhen, the PRC.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based
on the value in use calculations. The value in use calculations
are derived from the cash flow projections of the CGUs based
on the latest financial budgets approved by the management
covering a period of five years.

SEELETEEENEEN AWK
f& Osmanthus Vale Holdings Limited
([Osmanthus Valel) &) & £ 5| % -
HEBFTEURPE LG - WEE
Osmanthus Vale R E Z =T — " &
TZA=T—HILEFEERLTK

PTEERNTEEENBELRK
BRIITTHEERRBERAE (R
NFFDOEESIZ EXHER
2 70 AR BRI -

3 % 7 A B0 A R Bl BB
G AEERE - £AEEHE
PRBEEE L RERN Y B
i 40 5 TR 45 0 38 7 R TR
B -
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Impairment assessment of goodwill (continued)

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations for
impairment review purpose as at 31 December 2023 and
31 December 2022 and their corresponding comparative

—=5+-A=+—ALFE

7 B A 1 ()

W-B-=6+-A=+-RR=
T-—f+-B=+—F LM
POREBE N EBEENHEBRR

information are as follows: REAEEBLLERER DT
As at 31 December 2023 R=-ZFB-_=%#+=-A=+-—-H
Terminal growth rate KB R = 2.0%
Terminal net profit margin KA f = 26.7%
Discount rate BRI = 20.9%
Shanghai Shenzhen
Sub-group Sub-group
EBTEBEE RITERE
As at 31 December 2022 R-ZZB-Z%+ZA=+—H
Terminal growth rate KB R = 2.5% 2.5%
Terminal net profit margin KA A & 61.6% 18.6%
Discount rate BRI = 20.7% 20.7%

The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect market
assessments of the time value and the specific risks relating
to the industry. The budgeted growth rate and net profit
margins are determined by management based on past
performance and its expectation for market development.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group appointed
STEAM Valuation Advisory Limited (2022: the same),
independent professional qualified valuers, to assist the
management on carrying out relevant assessment works.

Any change in the assumptions selected by management
could materially affect the value in use calculations used in the
impairment testing and therefore may result in an impairment
charge to profit or loss.

7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&2 &5 R A ]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

AR RS R M e

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #EZE T - =F+-_A=+—HItFE

Impairment assessment of goodwill (continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the impairment assessments
result in headroom of not less than 5% over the carrying
amounts of group of assets that generated cash inflows and
management, based on the sensitivity analysis performed,
is not aware of any reasonably possible changes in a key
assumption used that would cause a cash generating unit’s
carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.

2R E T (8)

R-ZE-_=F+-A=+—8"
BEFHEREARESRANEEAR
HEREET D RE%HFZE  RIEFT
ETHSREST  EEEBYTA
R ETEBRRET WA ENTTRE
gE) EPRCELEVMNEERE
BEEAKESE -

2023 2022
—E-=4F —E-_—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T

Cost of investment B E KA
Share of post-acquisition losses and
other comprehensive expenses

R 32

FBERBRZEBEREEMEZE

Details of the Group’s joint ventures at the end of the reporting

period are as follows:
Country of
incorporation/ Equity interest held Principal
Name of joint ventures establishment as at 31 December activity
gL/ BEt=-A=t-H
RELRER AETER fir i IR 1B IEXH
2023 2022
ZE-=f —B-C
Wuxi 7Road Culture and Media Co., Ltd. The PRC 50% 50%  Culture media
("Wuxi 7Road Culture and Media’) (Note a)
EHLEYIBEERAA(ESLENER]) TE p¢lacts
(Kt Fa)
Notes: B 5
(@) Wuxi 7Road Culture and Media was established in the PRC on 25 July (@) R=ZZE—NE+LtA=-+HHBE " EH+tE

2019, and is principally engaged in the culture media business. As at
31 December 2023, the Group have not paid up the share capital of the
joint venture (2022: nil). Wuxi 7Road Culture and Media did not have any
operation during the year.

MALBERFRREK Y - HEZHRFUE
BEES R_T_=F+-A=+—
B AEBTEANEERERA(Z
T_F: @)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ—E - =F+_-_A=+—HILtFE

20 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

20 REE LA ER

2023 2022
—EBE-=F T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARS®TRT ARETR
Cost of investment B E KA 25,103 25,100
Share of post-acquisition profit and FEE W BB 18 2 F1E &
other comprehensive income EEmEkas (3,002) (2,414)
Impairment losses VERIEN SR (7,169) 6,421)
14,932 16,265
2023 2022
—E== T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARETR
At beginning of the year RE 1) 16,265 133,454
Addition 20 3 20,000
Shares of results DIEEE (588) (3,807)
Impairment losses BB B 18 (748) (6,421)
Dividend received B AR B - (82,810)
Disposal e — (44,151)
At end of the year RER 14,932 16,265
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE - T - =F+_-_A=+—H I FE

Details of the Group’s associates at the end of the reporting RBEHR BEELASEBE QR
period are as follows : WEFEWT:
Place of
incorporation”  Equity interest held  Principal
Name of associates establishment as at 31 December activities
AEM AR, W+=-—RA=+—-H
BENTZE A= ER B ¥ IR 7 E-
2023 2022

—EC-=F T —F

Jiangsu Liehuo Software Technology Co.,  The PRC 34% 34%  Development of web-based
Ltd. (‘Jiangsu Liehuo”) (Note a) games and mobile
games
TEUNREREARAR (CIERAK])  FE PEBRRFHRERRME
(Pt 5Fa)
Wuxi Jiucheng Second Hand Car Market ~ The PRC 4.76% 4.76%  Provision of second hand
Co., Ltd.* (“Wuxi Jiucheng”) (Note b) car transactions related
service
EORH _FERHMHBERLDA F RUE_FEIFHHEERY
3758 DICiE)
Sichuan Lingli Yingcai Technology The PRC 30% —  Production and sales
Co., Ltd of semiconductor
grade quartz crucible
equipment
M| R BEM B BB R AR FE FEEBROEMBREE
(TR E ) ERHE

Notes * M EE -

@ Jiangsu Liehuo was established in the PRC on 29 January 2021 and is (@) TI#UANR—BE-_—F—A=-+hBHE
principally engaged in the development of web-based games and mobile FERY FERXREPEEE KT
games. The Group injected capital of RMB5,100,000, which represents 34% BEEE AEEBR-_E——F=AM
equity interest, into Jiangsu Liehuo in March 2021. STER U NOE B A R¥5100,0007T (B E

RBA% AL HE) °

(b) On 14 January 2022, the Group entered into an agreement to acquired 4.76% (b) R-ZE-_—_F—AF+MWB - A&EH
equity interest in Wuxi Jiucheng with a cash consideration of RMB20,000,000. A HpE LR ERBARK
According to the shareholders agreement between the Group and other 20,000,0007T Y &5 £ £5 3K #4.76% &9 A%
shareholders of Wuxi Jiucheng, the Group has a right to appoint one out of five o RBEAEFEEBRWEMEE
directors of Wuxi Jiucheng. Therefore, the Group is able to exercise significant HWRERGE AEEEREESTEH K
influence over Wuxi Jiucheng. Accordingly, the investment was accounted for WMARESEPIMHP—L - Bt K&
as interest in an associate. e EI A N E KT E -

b ZEREARINASN —HBER
AR ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
RE M BWmRMN T (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+-_A=+—HLFE

20 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 20 REEERATINESR
(continued) (#8)
Aggregate information of associates that are not individually REREETNBE NN E QRIE
material wmEFR
2023 2022
=== T
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRE AR®TR

The Group’s share of loss AEBED(HEE (588) (2,413)
The Group’s share of post-tax loss REBD(HBRFIZEE (588) (2,413)
The Group’s share of other rEESEHMEEAS

comprehensive expense - =
The Group’s share of total rEBS(hEERAL B

comprehensive expense (588) 2,413)
Aggregate carrying amount of REBRZEBRERTERD

the Group’s interests in these REERAE

associates 14,932 16,265
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
e B mRNEGEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #EZE T - =F+-_A=+—HItFE

21 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR 21 BRAREETAHM®
VALUE THROUGH OTHER FPHBENEMEE
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2023 2022
—E-= —E-—
R?MBEOO _F?I\/I_BBOO

ARBTRT AR®BTRT

Unlisted equity investment FELEMREIRE — 2,171
The unlisted equity investment represents the Group’s FELEMREREEAESERFRREK
equity interest in a private entity established in the PRC. VWA EBHRE KXRARES
The directors of the Company have elected to designate BEEBHETARAABETAR
this unlisted equity investment as at fair value through other thEEKAMIELTRERE -
comprehensive income as they believe that this investment is RWPIRRBERENIEFIEEE -
not held for trading and is not expected to be disposed of in NREEHRIRERISHEHE -
the foreseeable future.

Movement of financial assets at fair value through other REAFE BAABEFAEMS
comprehensive income for the year is as follows: AREHNEHEESLENT:
2023 2022
—EC=HE —E-_F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AR®BTRT

At beginning of the year RE ) 2,171 2,697
Fair value change AABEEED (2,171) (526)
At end of the year RER - 2,171
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BB RRM T ()

=#+=A=+-AILFE

2023 2022
—E-=H —EF=- =
RMB’000 RMB’OOO
AR® T ARETF T
Non-current IE R B
Listed shares and unlisted equity PR ET R &
investments in the PRC (Note a) FELEMARER B (Mt sEa 315,212 85,569
Unlisted limited partnerships in PRFELFTAERERDHE
the PRC (Note b) (MI3EDb) 549,231 515,164
864,443 600,733
Current RE
Listed shares in Hong Kong (Note ¢) EELETRG (HHiEc) 19,729 25,099
Unlisted trust and fund in the PR LETEARES
PRC (Note d) (M 3Ed) - 70,527
19,729 95,626
884,172 696,359

Notes:

7Road Holdings Limited &+ A &

Listed equity shares and unlisted equity investments in the PRC

As at 31 December 2023, the Group held 1 listed equity shares in the
PRC (2022: 1) and 8 unlisted equity investments in the PRC (2022: 3). The
Group’s major listed equity shares and unlisted equity investments are
described as below:

(i

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group invested
RMB60 million to acquire 20% equity income right in a company
principally engaged in car leasing and other related ancillary
services. The percentage of equity proceed right subsequently
changed from 20% to 14.31% due to the capital injection into
this company by other shareholders. The Group classified the
investment as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
invested RMB100 million to acquire 4% equity proceed right
in a company principally engaged in cloud-related business
and internet data centre (“IDC”) related business. The Group
classified the investment as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss.

BB RAT

TR WO RIFETRERE

R-ZE-_=F+-A=+—8 %58
R BEFHIRETRND (ZF=—F:
198) R8T LM BAERE (T F

3IH) °

AEEWEE EHRMDEIELT

P % B T S

(i)

(i

BE-_T-_—_F+=-R=+—
BILEEE AEEREARE
60/ & T M B — 8 1 7120% A%
B EE ZRREERENR
BHREREMEBEERS
& 4 Uk 75 4 B 9 b H 1% H20%
BE 514.31% - EHAREME
RAZAREE - NEEIEZ
BRESBARANBEFAR
mH SR EE -

BE-T=-=F+=-A=+—
BILEEE AEEREARYE

1005 & 7t Ui 8 — 2 B14% A%
=g ZRREFERSE

ZHREESREBASIEP L
(DC) HH R %7 - A& B
ZEBEDBARANBEA
BENSREE -



Notes: (continued)

(@)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Are IS R MY A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE - T - =F+_-_A=+—H I FE

(continued)

(i)

()

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group invested
RMB40 million to acquire 16.67% equity interests in a company
engaged in provision of the equipment and technology of
IDC liquid cooling and IDC services. The Group classified the
investment as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group entered
into an agreement to purchase the convertible debt instrument
issued by a company principally engaged in cloud-related
business and internet data centre (“IDC”) related business
at a cash consideration of RMB60 million. The principal and
interest of the convertible debt instrument shall be repayable
within 3 years unless the Group choose to convert it into equity
investment at the price pre-determined in the agreement. The
convertible debt instrument carried interest at 8%. The Group
classified the convertible debt instrument as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss.

Unlisted limited partnerships in the PRC

As at 31 December 2023, the Group held 5 unlisted limited partnership
in the PRC (2022: 4). The Group’s major unlisted limited partnerships are
described as below:

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group invested
two limited partnerships established in the PRC with a total
capital commitment of RMB380 million. The principal asset
held by these two limited partnerships are the investment in
Shanghai Advanced Silicon Technology Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai
Silicon”), a company established under the laws of the PRC.
Shanghai Silicon is principally engaged in the manufacture of
large-scale semiconductor silicon chips in the PRC. As at 31
December 2023, the Group effectively held 2.2% equity interests
in Shanghai Silicon (2022: 2.2%) through these two limited
partnerships. The Group is acting as a limited partner and does
not have control, joint control or significant influence over these
limited partnerships. Accordingly, the investments in these two
limited partnerships are accounted for as a financial asset at fair
value through profit or loss.

Mt aE: (8)
@) (&)

(i) HE-T=-=F+=-RA=+—
BIEFE AEEREARYE
408 & 7T W iE — A F116.67%
fR# - Z AR EIDCR R H
% - BT RIDCRRIG IR Mt o &
SEEZBRESBEARANE
Bt A BN ESEE -

(iv) HE-T=-=F+=-RA=+—
BIEEE AEBETHE -
NEEARBARE0EETLE
BE—HARBETHAIBRREL
TE ZAREBH=ZIEE
¥R EHAZEES L (IDC))
ﬁ@%%oTﬁkﬁ%Iﬂm
RERFBBAR=ZFREE
BRIEAREBIEBEBHEANTEL
EENEESEERARE
®E& - AR E BT A IR8%
AR AKEBRABRBREST
AENBEBEARBEFARZ
MWERMEE -

(b) PEEETARABEE

R-ZF_=F+_HA=1t—H0 A5H
REPEEBASEIFELETAREBEE(Z
T CF AR AKEMTIRIELT
BEREBLERMMT

i) HE_ZTZ-_—_F+-_A=+—
AEFE AEEKERBER
TR HEREBELE &
AL LT A ARKIB0E B
T ZMEBRAEBLERHA
NEBEEANRLSBY B
BROBRARTLEEEY])
WIRE  ZARREFBEER
MY o EBBYEERFEHK
ERAREFEBYRHOEE -
R-_ZE—_=F+=-A=+—8"
AEBZAZMEBREE R
¥XERFE LGB 2.2%K &
(B —F:22%) AEE
REBREBA HZME AR
ARCEWELGE - LR
Tl EATEN - l% o)
ZMEERAGELENREA
IRFIER AR EBEFABZER
SRMEE -
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RE SRR T (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+-_A=+—HLFE

Notes: (continued) B & - (48)
(b) (continued) (b) (%)

(ii) During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group invested (ii) HE-ZS-—F+=-A=+—
RMB105 million in another limited partnership established in HIEFEE AEERS—BR
the PRC. The principal asset held by this limited partnership is FRKZHBREBLERE
an investment in a company principally engaged in operating ARBIOBGEETL - ZBRA
a smart travel platform in the PRC. The Group is acting as BOEERENETEEERN —
a limited partner and does not have control, joint control or MARMEKE  ZRAREER
significant influence over the limited partnership. Accordingly, FREYESEELITFEANES -
the investment in this limited partnership is accounted for as a AEBERBRERA HE
financial asset at fair value through profit or loss. REBLEWEITHE - £R

THIEREATEN - Bt
REZBREBLENKREAR
IERRAABEAAREZNS
BEE ©

(iii) During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group invested (iii) HE-ZT=-=F+=-A=+—
RMB34 million in a limited partnership established in the HIEFE KNEERR—BRFA
PRC. The principal asset held by this limited partnership is BV BEREBEERE
an investment in a company principally engaged in research, ARBIMBEETL - ZBRER
manufacturing and sale of Graphics Processing Unit (‘GPU”) TCEFENFTELEAN —ME
chips, Vision Processing Unit (“‘VPU”) chips and Advanced Driver RNEIMEE  Z AR EBEEF
Assistance Systems (“ADAS”) automotive visual processing = B i 12 2 ([GPUJ) itk
chips in the PRC. The Group is acting as a limited partner and A RERER(VPUDE A
does not have control, joint control or significant influence over K2 St B 5t B Z 4t (TADAS )
the limited partnership. Accordingly, the investment in this AEAREEENAMRE - &
limited partnership is accounted for as a financial asset at fair EREE - AEEERBERE
value through profit or loss. BN HERE RS EE

HliE - EREHEIEATE
oAl RZEREBEE
IR E ANRIIER A R BERT
ABENEREE °

© Listed shares in Hong Kong ©] EE LMD

The balance represents the Group’s investment in various equity EREASBEHEZTEREMS LT

securities listed in Hong Kong stock markets. MEERABHFNRE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE - T - =F+_-_A=+—H I FE

Notes: (continued) B & - (48)

@) Unlisted trust and fund in the PRC @) PRFELETERRES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group held 1 unlisted trust and fund in the
PRC (2022: 1). The Group’s major Unlisted trust and fund are described
as below:

Unlisted trust and fund represented the Group's investment in an equity-
type trust investment product of licensed trusts in the PRC with the term
of 24 months commencing from 29 July 2021 (the “Trust”). Upon the
expiry of the term of the Trust, no new investment agreement has been
entered into between the Group and the administrator of the Trust (the
“Administrator”), and the Group has not received the liquidation report
of the Trust nor received any principal amount of and/or return on the
Trust within the time limit stipulated under the relevant agreements. With
reference to the current position of the Administrator, in the opinion of
the Directors, the recoverability of the principal amount of the return
on the Trust was remote and loss on fair value change of the Trust of
RMB70,527,000 was recognised in profit or loss during the year ended
31 December 2023. The Group will continue to communicate with the
Administrator and take all possible measures to safeguard the interests of
the Group.

R-TB-_=F+-_A=+—H0 K&H
RABFAIREE LT EARES (S
ZZFE) AKEMNEZEFLEWE
FERESEHMMT

FEMEAERESKEASEBHPES
MBEREE S BERTEERNER
E HRA-ZZ_—FtA=-thAR
24 A (M5 5Bt &) - FEf=7EaT S HARR
Em% - NREBEWARAEETEEEA
(BEADEXRFTORERZ  EAXE
BEHARRNERBRERENRRARE
BARBGEFEABNBFERS K
KEEEAE R SiERKE - 82
EEBEANBAIMRR  EERA - W@
RS RIS ATAE M RR - MiE 5
sHEIR A B E B 1B A R 70,527,000
TERBE-T-_=%+=-A=+—H
IFFEEEBEPRR - AEEGEE
BT A E R I SR ER— ) A] B¢ 15 B BA
HEAEER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+-_A=+—HLFE

22 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIRVALUE 22 #EAAEETARR

192

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS WErEEGE)
(continued)
Movement of financial assets at fair value through profit or RAEE AR BEFABEN
loss for the year is as follows: TREENEHMT
Listed shares
and unlisted Unlisted
equity limited Unlisted trust
Listed shares investmentsin partnerships  and fund in
in Hong Kong the PRC in the PRC the PRC Total
HE LT
RORELT HEFLT HEELS
BB LTRA RERE AREBLE FAKkES &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRE AR%¥Tn AR%Tx AR%¥Trn AR%®Tx
At 1 January 2022 i S
—A—H 43,682 474 20,000 118,000 182,156
Additions HNE 1,568 88,000 511,000 = 600,568
Disposals e (1,576) (39,687) (20,000) (60,655) (121918)
Fair value changes AREEED (23,032 36,782 4,164 13,182 31,096
Exchange realignment ER AR 4,457 - - - 4,457
At 31 December 2022 and R=T==F
1 January 2023 +-A=+-Bk
“E-=F
—A—H 25,099 85,569 515,164 70,527 696,359
Additions NE - 232,900 34,000 48,000 314,900
Disposals HE (622) - - (41,721) (42,343)
Fair value changes DREEE (5,377) (3,257) 67 (76,806) (85,373)
Exchange realignment T H AR 629 - - - 629
At 31 December 2023 R-ZE-=&
+=A=+-AH 19,729 315,212 549,231 - 884,172
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AR IR AR B e (A8

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE - T - =F+_-_A=+—H I FE

independent third party to acquire a property located in the PRC for own
use and prepaid approximately RMB42,872,000 as house payments.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the delivery and transfer of
the property was completed and the balance was transferred to property,

plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.

=S

2023 2022
—_=E_-= —E-_F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARETF T
Non-current 3E B H#A
Prepayments for property, plant and ME - BERZED
equipment (Note a) TE 3R IR (M 52 a) — 42,872
Prepayments for investments (Note b) % & T84 B (B 5T b) 20,000 45,000
Rental deposits HEZS 14,933 5,000
34,933 92,872
Current BYHA
Loans to third parties ME=FRHEHNER 6,497 6,394
Loan to a related party MBS IREHER 3,509 3,337
Loans to employee BEEX 1,496 1,393
Prepayments for advertisement and & & & 3% HE E TR 5B
marketing 241 3,234
Prepayments for advisory services B8 [ AR 75 TR 5 3k IR 10,230 2,115
Prepayments for copyright loyalty hx 4 57 7] B T8 5K 1B 19,740 7,977
Prepayments to game developers TE T 42 B ) 25 7 5K 18 4,545 4,649
Prepayments for technology services % fiif AR % 78 1~ #x 18 (M 5% ¢)
(Note c) 30,729 22165
Receivable from disposal of subsidiaries = & Bff B A 7] & U ZB
(Note d) (K 3Ed) — 43,000
Receivable from refund for undelivered 7k 32 - £ iy AR 75 JiE UL iE 3K
technology services and copyright K b #E 57 A] &
loyalty 7,596 4,352
Recoverable value-added tax (Note €) (B 77 iR 71 (Fif 7% e) 48,902 34,298
Others Hh 10,611 18,284
Less: provision for impairment R E R (34,912) (30,994)
109,184 120,204
144 117 213,076
Notes: B &
(@) On 21 December 2022, the Group entered into an agreement with an (@) R-ZB-_—F+-_A-+—0 K&EH

BB B =FET W WEBA
RPBESERAN—EMEER  LEMY
ARBE42872,000CEAEE R - B E
—Eo=F+-"A=+—RUEE " Z
EMEBTKRBERNMN  MEKRE E
BEVE BERXEARERAES
E °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+-_A=+—HLFE

194

BB HRRM T (E)

Notes: (continued)

)

In July 2022, the Group, as the potential investor, entered into a letter
of intent with an independent third party of the Group, for the proposed
acquisition of the equity interest of a company principally engaged in
the R&D design of the next generation of chip technology of artificial
intelligence audio and video media chip. According to the letter of intent,
a refundable earnest money of RMB45,000,000 was paid. Subsequent
to the end of the reporting period, the Group terminated the proposed
acquisition and received the earnest money refunded to the Group.

In April 2023, the Group, as the potential investor, entered into a letter of
intent with a company principally engaged in cloud-related business and
internet data centre (“IDC”) related business, for the proposed capital
injection into the company. According to the letter of intent, a refundable
earnest money of RMB20,000,000 was paid. Subsequent to the end of
the reporting period, the Group terminated the proposed capital injection
and the earnest money was fully refunded to the Group.

In February 2018, the Group entered into a technology service agreement
with an independent third-party service provider of the Group in relation
to develop mobile games according to the Group’s instructions, and
the relevant agreement was included in the prepayments for technology
service. However, due to the service provider significant delay in the
game product delivery schedule, the management is of the opinion
that the recoverability of these prepayments through delivery of game
product are uncertain. Accordingly, impairment on these prepayments of
RMB22,165,000 (2022: RMB22,165,000) were fully provided in prior year.

The balance represented the consideration receivable from the disposal
of subsidiaries as disclosed in note 34. All have been recovered during
the year ended 31 December 2023.

Including the VAT refund receivables and amount of VAT tax credit under
the preferential policy of immediate refund for software products.

fiEE: ()
(b) R-ZZE-_—F+ R/ AEEERBER

BE RASE - ZBIYE=F5
FWE-EEEAET—ASH M
MATE L SR IA R R BN A 2 -
BEAHATNERFITERNE - RIE
ERNE BXMNATRENERASAR
#45,000,0007T © &5 B4 R1E - AN E
EERILBEENRE YEKRIRET
AEBNERE ©

RZZEZ=FMA  AEEEABER
BEE R-—RTEREEZHEEEBR
BEEEEHL(IDC)EBEBKH A
RAIBRERAZAREERITEME -
BREEME EXNAURENERMS
A R #20,000,0007T ° & B 45 R 1% -
AEBERIEEZTIE MEESE
BHERETAREE -

#—" —N\FZA AEEHE—ELBL
=77 BR %5 41 B 7 5T 32 B AT AR 5 1h o
Weﬁ@@%K%lhm%%%%ﬁ
& BBt AR R A ROE -
AM - BRBREHEAEESERR
NEBRTEHBEEARLER BEEE
RAFBARINEHERKEZSEMN
REMAREELTRETE - Bt %5
TEF IR R E A R #22,165,0007T (=
T— — 4 A R#22,165,0007T) 2 R B

TEERBIREMEG -

EHRIERN AR BENHEN B AR
mf%ﬁﬁ BHE-_T_=%+2-A
=+ —HIEFEEZHKE -

BERBRHEMNBINEREEIRRRE
WO EBRD RSB ETERE E S

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T AREEFIT

Cloud equipment TR - 2,019
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #EZE T - =F+-_A=+—HItFE
25 TRADE RECEIVABLES 25 B S EWRKIE

2023 2022

—E2=-= —E -
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARET T
Trade receivables B 5 W RIA 209,377 389,435
Less: provision for impairment R E R (40,123) (21,106)
169,254 368,329

The Group’s trade receivables were denominated in the

AEBENESEKKBUTINEE

following currencies: FTE:
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARET T
RMB AR 124,638 289,367
uss$ =T 84,739 98,179
Others HAh — 1,889
209,377 389,435

The Group allows a credit period of 30 to 120 days to
its customers. The ageing analysis of trade receivables
presented based on the dates of delivery of goods and

services is as follows:

AEEREFFREI0E120KHE

R - ERNBITER

KRB EHZ

S E 5 RWGRIA Z Rk DTN T

2023 2022

—E-= —_EF-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREF T
Within 3 months AR 44,377 178,786
3 to 6 months 3Z6E A 19,128 45,368
6 months to 1 year 618 A =14 17,878 76,932
1to 2 years 1FE2F 82,216 69,789
Over 2 years 2F LA 45,778 18,560
209,377 389,435

Details of the impairment assessment of trade receivables are

disclosed in Note 3.1(b).

B 5 WK IR R E R IE R M

31(b)H# & -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+-_A=+—HLFE

26 BANK BALANCES AND CASH

(@ Cash and cash equivalents

26 MITHERRIRE
@ RekReEZEEY

2023 2022
—g== —T-—

—_— <

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®BTT

Bank balances RITHEER 48,088 104,747
Denominated in the following ATy E¥EE:
currencies:
RMB AR 35,311 93,643
HK$ BT 6,275 2,029
Us$ ETT 6,502 9,075
48,088 104,747

Bank balances carry interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The conversion of the RMB denominated
bank balances maintained in the PRC into foreign currencies
is subject to the laws and regulations of foreign exchange
control promulgated by the PRC government.

(b) Restricted cash

RITHEHRENEZRBEEARTER
MERFHFIRGFE - BRFEF
B AR ERITERIL LA
78 18 <7 T B R AR 4 0 SV B
ERIROER

b XREIRE

2023 2022
—_E_-= T
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETRT

Non-current JEENHA

Restricted deposits (Note a) X PR 617 5 (Mt 3k a) 140 139

Current ENEA

Restricted dividend payable account 5% BR il & 1~ B% 8. 5k 1 1
141 140

Note:

() Restricted deposits represent government grants prepaid to the Group
and held by the banks in segregated accounts. The balances are
denominated in RMB and will be available for withdrawal when the Group
fulfils all the obligations required by the government.
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(&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE—E - =ZF+_-_A=+—HILtFE
27 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE 27 BMAKRMDEE
PREMIUM
Number of Share Share
shares capital premium Total
RGHE RA& R EE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETR
Ordinary shares of A% T {£0.0000053 T K &
US$0.000005 each i &
Asat 31 December 2022and R _ZE-—FR-F-=F
2023 +ZA=1t—H 2,753,200,000 90 4,083,085 4,083,175
Note: B &
(@) As at 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023 and 31 (@) A :¢ A—R -Z%==
December 2023, the authorized share capital of the Company is +=ZA=+—8 ZFE==F— H -
US$50,000, divided into 10,000,000,000 shares of a par value of AR-—Z-—= $+ A=+—H &«

US$0.000005 each.

X A B R E R K &50,000% T D

/410,000,000,0000% -
0.0000053 JT °
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A MBERRNEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ—E - =F+_-_A=+—HILtFE

28 OTHER RESERVES

28 H i fwi &

Financial assets
atfairvalue
Sharesheld ~ Shareholder Statutory Gapital ~ through other Gurrency
forRSU  contribution surplus Captl ~ redemption  comprehensive franslation
Scheme feserve feserve feserve feserve  income reserve feserve Total
BOARE
SRR HARH2E
Efiitd b
fehf  RREERE GRENBR  ENGRE  ABERE  EERR EREERR EH)
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RVB000
ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR  ARET:
At January 2023 H-2-=E-3-A (213,592) 23,592 5,000 (3,032,350) 2 (1829) 66,008 (2963174
Farvaechanges onfrencilassets st BARBEAZ M2 ENENEE
fanvlue thoughothercompehensie.— EEMAAEEZS(NRAA)
income, netoftax - - - - - @m - m
Curency tension dfeences of o~ 12 S E 28
Operations - - - - - - 153 193
Ropropriations bl - - %5 - - - - %5
At 31 December 2023 it
+2R=+-A (213,592) 213592 5,289 (3,032,350) 2 (4,000) 66,156 2,964937)
A1 iy 202 S mE M 08 s ) 009 e e
Tenslrupon disposal oftbsidares A ENBATAER - - b2 - - - - 15261
Fanvlue changes o frenciasseisal - FAREEAEH2ENENEE
e toughothercompehensie.— EEMAAEEZS(IRAR)
income, netoftax = = = = = (526) = (326)
Ourency tansiaion dfeences offoreign. 2\ Bk E 28
operatons = = = = = = 6549 6549
A3t Decamber 2022 R2_f
t2A=+-A (21359 21359 5000 (302,360 2 (1629 06,003 296374
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE - T - =F+_-_A=+—H I FE

On 6 March 2018, to incentivise directors, senior
management and employees, a RSU Scheme was approved
and adopted by the Company. ESOP 1 Holdings Limited
(“ESOP 1 Holdings”) and ESOP 2 Holdings Limited
(“ESOP 2 Holdings”) were incorporated to hold 8,946,600
ordinary shares of the Company (equivalent to 178,932,000
ordinary shares of the Company upon the completion of
the Share Subdivision and Global Offering for the listing
of the Company’s shares on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited), which were contributed by
shareholder of the Company. ESOP 1 Holdings and ESOP 2
Holdings were consolidated by the Company as the Company
is able to execute its power over the control and management
of ESOP 1 Holdings and ESOP 2 Holdings. These shares
are considered treasury shares held for the RSU Scheme
indirectly by the Company. At 31 December 2023, the total
number of ordinary shares of the Company held by ESOP
1 Holdings and ESOP 2 Holdings for the purpose of the
RSU Scheme were 178,932,000 ordinary shares (2022:
178,932,000).

On 31 March 2018, in exchange for employee services to the
Group, 5,040,000 RSUs (equivalent to 100,800,000 ordinary
shares of the Company) were granted to certain eligible
persons selected by the Board of Directors of the Company.
Under the terms of the grant letter, the RSUs shall be vested
as to 30%, 30% and 40% on 31 March 2019, 31 March 2020
and 31 March 2021, respectively, of which certain designated
grantees are also required to fulfil certain service conditions.

As the Group received the benefits associated with
the services of the eligible persons, the fair value of the
employee services received in exchange for the grant of
the equity instruments is recognised as an expense. The
total amount to be expensed is determined by the fair value
of the RSUs granted less the subscription costs, if any,
taking into consideration of forfeiture rate, and amortised
over the different vesting periods of each grant with a credit
recognised in equity as the share-based compensation
reserve.

AEHBEESE mRAEEERES -
RZE—NF=ZARH ARQE#H#
IR X R B R 0 B AL 5T & o
ESOP 1 Holdings Limited ([ESOP
1 Holdings)) & ESOP 2 Holdings
Limited ([ESOP 2 Holdings|) & &t
MK ABFEEREETAHAEAR
7]8,946,600% & i@ AR (18 & N &
DIFEBAERREEABERSMER
REIERETHEZHRBEETKE
178,932,000/% & i@ i) - &A1 Al #§
ESOP 1 Holdings & ESOP 2 Holdings
& pt BB KR A EE 5 ¥ ESOP 1
Holdings & ESOP 2 Holdings #9 12
NREBITHEEEN ZEROHER
BARB X R G M EFEIE
ERENEFRMD RZZTZ=F
+—=-HA=+—H ' ESOP 1 Holdings
N ESOP 2 Holdings 5t = R &l i 15 2
Ut FENAAR T RREH A
178,932,000 E B (=T = —F :
178,932,000%) °

RZE—NF=ZA=+—8" ' A
BRESHAEBMRE @ MARQAE
BEECHBRBNETAEBRALIRDE
5,040,0001# 52 BR i f% 1 ¥ iz (8 &
#100,800,000/% 74~ A &) E & %) o
BEEDHENIER ZRGK
MEMNER_ZE—NFEF=ZA=1+—
B -—ZE-TF=-A=+—HBK_ZF
T—F=ZA=+—HHRIEBE30%
30% K%40% * E R H FHEEAFE A
INBEKE TR -

R AN B A B8 A TR
BREMME MR TR TAME
FHREREANEEERRER
BTFXHENBSRETE B LA
PR il AR 17 B8 iz X £ 18 fBRL 3R B K
AB)EE EPRFRRKE
W 1R &R H) R 57 B A
BROMEHEHECAERDA -
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AT

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+-_A=+—HLFE

P

o & B 7 9B S BT 2 ()

As a private company with no quoted market price of the
ordinary shares of the Company at the date of grant, the
Company was required to estimate the fair value of its
ordinary shares at the date of grant. The discounted cash
flow model under the income approach has been applied
in the determination of fair value of the equity interest of
the Company. The cash flow projections prepared by
the management take into account the Group’s future
business plan, specific business and financial risks, stage of
development of the Group’s operations and economic and
competitive elements affecting the Group’s business, industry
and market. As at 31 March 2018, the fair value of each RSU
was valued at RMB27.6.

The rules of the RSU Scheme do not contain provision
governing the maximum entitlement of each participant under
the RSU Scheme. The Company will comply with the relevant
requirements under Rule 17.03 D of the Listing Rules as and
when appropriate.

RARRIEBRIZFHBE - XAF
R EMISHRENLART - Bitt
AHFHIEBREAREBHN AR
BE BEARRETEROAALE
EREFERKRAZETHRE SR
ERA - EEESENRERER
BIEETRAEBRRRELTS -
BEEBERVERR ASEEE
MNERBEBREZERASERNFER
TERMBNEERBFEER - 1
—E-N\F=A=+—H8  5EX
REIRMDEMHNARBEMGERA
R#2767T °

XEHIRMDEMGFEIRBT ERS
HEBR2HAEREBEIBRHRMNE
B AEERHOESEENIK
Mo AR ERFEST EMRAE
17.03D15 T8 TR B E ©

2023 2022
—EC=F —EF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREET T ARET T
Within 1 year 1F AR 87,420 70,913
1 to 2 years 1224 46,987 86,001
210 5 years DZ54F 2,516 44,606
136,923 201,520
Less: Amount due for settlement R EBNAEIE T#ER2(EA
within 12 months shown under NEIBREN & 58
current liabilities (87,420) (70,913)
Amount due for settlement after 12 JEmBAEE NER2(E A
months shown under non-current R EN S RE
liabilities 49,503 130,607

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to
lease liabilities range from 3.85% to 4.75% (2022: from 3.85%
to 5.39%).

7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&2 &5 R A 7]
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE - T - =F+_-_A=+—H I FE

[\\/ A

2023 2022
—_E_=5F —=E -
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Secured other borrowings ERREMEE
— RMB loan (Note a) — ARBEK(MTa) 181,003 206,877
Secured bank borrowings BEHRBEITEE
— RMB loan (Note b) — ARBEK(MED) 40,000 —
Unsecured bank borrowing EIEKPBEITEE
— RMB loan (Note c) — ARBER(HEC) 10,000 —
231,003 206,877

Notes:

The Group entered into various finance lease agreements with two
companies established in the PRC with limited liability who are both
independent third parties of the Group (“Lessors”), to transfer the
ownership and lease back of certain servers and other equipment of the
Group at a cash consideration totalling RMB256,000,000 (the “Finance
Lease Agreements”). Pursuant to the Finance Lease Agreements, the
ownership of certain servers and other equipment of the Group was
transferred to the Lessors and the Group leased back those servers and
other equipment from the Lessors for a term of 48 months. At the end
of lease term, the Lessors, subject to the settlement of all outstanding
amounts due under the Finance Lease Agreements, agreed to transfer
the ownership of those servers and other equipment to the Group at a
purchase price ranging from RMB100 to RMB10,000.

The Finance Lease Agreements were not accounted for as a sale in
accordance with IFRS 15 since the Group is able to repurchase those
servers and other equipment at a price which is significantly lower than
its original selling price; and the Finance Lease Agreements were not
accounted for as a sale and leaseback transaction in accordance with
IFRS 16. Accordingly, the Finance Lease Agreements were accounted for
as the Group’s borrowing in accordance with IFRS 9.

The effective interest rate of the other borrowings were ranged from
8.00% to 8.42% per annum. The other borrowings were secured by the
property, plant and equipment with carrying amount of approximately
RMB202,979,000 (31 December 2022: RMB228,585,000) and trade
receivables of RMB15,192,000 and guaranteed by the Company and
certain subsidiaries of the Company..

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group received a bank
borrowing of RMB40,000,000 at an interest rate of 3.80% per annum.
The bank borrowing was secured by the Group’s property, plant and
equipment of RMB7,816,000 and right-of-use assets of RMB33,272,000
and guaranteed by a subsidiary of the Company, and repayable within
one year.

()

REFRNFAFBEKLIHORRER ST
AR (HEAEEBLE=F)THAA])
FTYBMERE R UReRELSR
A R #256,000,0007T # 7K & B & T AR
BRkHEMRENMAEERELEMA
(MEHEHRR) BREREHAED
FOAKEETHREEREMBEN
FERCEETHAA BASEAY
MABBEZERBEEREMMEE A
HAAsEA - RTEAHEME - HAA
REEMERERERZEE TN
REEFEE  RENUAREI0OTE
A R#10,0007T 89 8 BB 15 2 SRS 25
REMBENMERESETAEE -

R IR BIR B 75 3 & 2 A 8155% - B E
HE%%$¢E%%A%'E$%K
BN ERREREENERE
@&#%%%&ﬁ@ R AmERESE
15 7 R AR 5 B0 B B 5 3R 5 E Bl E165%
ERERALDXZ AR - Bt RIE
BIFR BT S R E05E - MEEE W
FERANEENEEAR -

H {8 &/ EBRFF XN F8.00%E
842% - HMEENEEABENAAR
#002,979,000L (B = — & + = A
=+ —H: A R %228,5850007T) K ¥
¥ BEEAIXEUARESERZKEA
R #15,192,0007T {EHE # 3 g AN 2 7] &
AARME FTHEARRHER -

BE_Z-_=#+-_A=+—HILEE -
7 £ [ Uk B8R 17 18 B A R %40,000,000

JL FFIEE3.80%  RITEEMAE
BRI - BB R EAR7816,000

TT R AE AR A E A R#33,272,0007T £
AR B AR R B — KB R AR
ER BR—FREE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
RE M BWmRMN T (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+-_A=+—HLFE

31 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 31 |ITRHEHMEE(E)

(continued)
Notes: (continued) B 5 ()
©] During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group received a bank () BE_Z-_=#+_A=t—HILEE -
borrowing of RMB10,000,000 at an interest rate of 3.70% per annum. The AL EES — % A R#10,000,0007T
bank borrowing was unsecured and guaranteed by a subsidiary of the SRITIEE - FFEB3.70% ° % BITHE
Company, and repayable within one year. EEERYHARRR/—EHE2A
REER AR —FANEE-
As the end of the reporting period, the Group’s bank and MNEREHR NEEBHSETRH M
other borrowings were repayable as follows: EEBRATHRES
2023 2022
—_E_-= ==
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREF T
Within 1 year 1ELLA 118,347 55,250
1 to 2 years 1224 73,994 59,833
2 to 5 years 2FEHF 38,662 91,794
231,003 206,877
At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of RmEMAR AEERITRAME
the Group’s bank and other borrowings approximate to their ENEFEERAAAEBEES °
fair values.
Y 7 3
32 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 32 EEEMBH
The analysis of deferred income tax assets and liabilities is as BLEMSEHEERABENSITAT
follows:
2023 2022
—E_-= —E- 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARET T
Deferred income tax assets BLEFSHEE 39,541 49,603
Deferred income tax liabilities BEMSHasE (8,349) (8,230)

31,192 41,373
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

RETBRRNE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE - T - =F+_-_A=+—H I FE

Movement of deferred income tax assets/(liabilities) for the
year is as follows:

Contract

liabilities  Impairments  Tax losses

afaR HE  HEER
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ST FiT 15 MEE/(BBE)RFRH

Fair value
adjustment
on intangible
Fair value assets
change of  acquiredon Undistributed
financial business profits of
assets  combination  subsidiaries Total
REBAH
tHEE UWRNER
MEBE EENAA KEAR
289 EBERE ADEAE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARBTR ARETn ARETR ARETT ARETR
At1 January 2023 R-2-=%-F-R 1,205 32,872 2011 (6,685) - 0200 437
(Charged/creditedto profitor -~ RIER (H1B) /3t A
s (240) 6679 (14439) 8,259 - - (1009
Exchange realignment ELEE - 30 - - - (119) (89)
At 31 December 2023 A —d
TZA=+-A 965 29,229 7 1574 - (8,349) 31,192
A1 January 2022 W-B-—£-f-R 576 33005 2917 (6:447) 8054 753 345
(Charged)icredlted to profitor ~ BMEZ (H1B) /3HA
loss 629 1590) (70) 239 8054 - 7349
Exchange realignment EXRE - 167 - - - (697) (530)
At 31 December 2022 S
+=A=+-H 1,205 2087 2 (6:685) - 8230 1373

Pursuant to the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations,
withholding tax is imposed on dividends distributed in respect
of profits earned by the Company’s PRC subsidiaries when
actual payment of dividends is made. As at 31 December
2023, except for the deferred income tax liabilities of
RMB8,349,000 (2022: RMB8,230,000), no withholding tax
had been provided for the retained earnings of approximately
RMB395,970,000 (2022: RMB260,857,000) that are expected
to be retained by the Company’s PRC subsidiaries and not
to be remitted to a foreign investor in the foreseeable future
based on several factors, including management’s estimation
of overseas funding requirements.

BEEETIEBREEERER £
BRI ERBR ARG PEK B
A EBREVAY & F) 5k BBURTEIE
RZTE-_=F+=—A=+—H" 1B
BEEEEEHRINE T KM
EFAMNZERZE  BRERKELER
S EAB A RES349,0000t (=
T — — 4 A R#8,230,0007T) 5
P SNE TN 3 =W =2 NN T
BARIRBETES VA TE R RKKIE
BEBEINMEEENRBRBAIHOARE
395,970,000 (ZE = —F: AR
260,857,0007T) B FE 0T -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

AT RAR N T (B)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ & — & —

=F+-_A=t—HILFE

33 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

33 BESZRHEMEMNFE

2023 2022
—E2=-= —E -
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARSTRT ARETR
Trade payables (Note) B 5 A I (B 7E) 55,109 121,005
Payroll liabilities FTMar 30,826 54,413
Other tax payables HE b E IR 8,362 11,629
Dividend payables ERRE 1 1
Listing fee payable ERNETEA 8,278 8,140
Government grants I T 44 Bh 140 139
Accrued expenses FEFTF X 3,153 2,988
Amounts due to former subsidiaries EAIRM B AR A - 38,450
Others Hh 2,314 2,476
108,183 239,241
Notes: B 7 -
Trade payables B SN KIA
The ageing analysis of trade payables presented based on ERNBEAPNESENREZT
the invoice date is as follows: B BREC DA LA T -
2023 2022
—E_=HF —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETR
0 to 30 days 0230K 20,473 63,572
31 to 60 days 31E60K 909 5,087
61 to 90 days 61290k — 4,823
91 to 180 days 91£180K 180 12,103
181 to 365 days 1812365 12 26,854
Over 1 year 15 33,535 8,566
55,109 121,005

PV
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Are IS R MY A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # =~ T - =+ - A=+—HBItFE

Disposal of Hangzhou Shengfeng Network Technology @ HEMMNERZEPEREERAT

Co., Ltd.

R—E-_—_F+=-A=+H" $¢l
HEMMEREPERFERA

HB AR - REEAE%%MMWO
T ARS8 - MM R EEKE
FERARRERNBARRKHER
HNEEFELT:

On 30 December 2022, the Group disposed of the entire
equity interest in Hangzhou Shengfeng Network Technology
Co., Ltd. at a consideration of RMB93,000,000 settled in
cash. The net assets of Hangzhou Shengfeng Network
Technology Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries at the date of

disposal were as follows:

RMB’000

AR TR
Consideration received EWRE:
— Cash —R& 93,000
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which HRAEEZEHREEEREEN DT

control was lost
Property, plant and equipment Y% RE R 51
Intangible assets (including goodwill) ﬁﬁ?ﬁ@‘t(@%?ﬁﬁ%) 69,731
Trade receivables 2 5 I WK 7,000
Prepayments and other receivables TE TRRIE & ﬁ fth & W 5K 56,944
Cash and cash equivalents RekBE2EEY 217
Trade and other payables 2 5 & H b 5RIE (3,778)
Contract liabilities aHBE (48,999)
Net assets disposed of HEEEFE 81,166
Gain on disposal of Hangzhou Shengfeng & BN BR 85 Y U 25
Cash consideration received ERREKE 50,000
Cash consideration receivable (note 23(c)) & W3R & KB (B 523(c) 43,000
Net assets disposed of HEEEFE (81,166)
Non-controlling interests FEIE R M A 1,249
Gain on disposal & W s 13,083
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEELENFERERA:
Cash consideration received BEWRERE 50,000
Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of B HERSRREEED 217)
49,783

£ — = ¥} Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

VPN

SRA M BHRRWNEGE)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+-_A=+—HLFE

(@  Cash generated from operations @ KEEANES®
2023 2022
—E_=F —_ZEF—-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARETT
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETS R AT (B 18), % (140,209) 283,389
Share of results of associates (Note 20) 731 B & A &) % 48 (Fft 5:20) 588 3,807
Finance costs, net (Note 12) B RS AK AS ) F 58 (B RE12) 23,547 20,178
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BELREEITE
equipment (Note 16) (KI3E16) 89,363 81,514
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FERAEEERE (MF7)
(Note 17) 98,262 75,158
Amortisation of intangible assets A E S (WHE18)
(Note 18) 2,093 28,020
Net provision/(reversal) of impairment  FEHIEEEBEEX TEMEE
losses on financial assets under BB BB (BE)FE
expected credit loss model 33,626 11,446
Loss on disposals of property, plant HEME  BMELZEUR
and equipment and right-of-use TREEEERE
assets 61 (6,381)
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries HE KB AR R - (13,083)
Gains on disposal of associates HEHE A F W - (306,200)
Impairment loss of an associate —MEE R ARNBEEE 748 6,421
Impairment loss on property, plant and  #1% « B & & & RE K18
equipment 64,827 =
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets £ A& E REEE 30,146 —
Fair value change on financial assetat EAABEFABZNSHE
fair value through profit or loss ENAREEZE (M :F22)
(Note 22) 85,373 (31,096)
Fair value change on contingent WIEM B AR ENKBERER
consideration payable for acquisiton 7B & & B (ff 5£8)
of a subsidiary (Note 8) - 1,429
Early termination of lease REKIHAE (277) —
Increase/(decrease) in trade receivables & 5 EWFHTE « AN KB R E
and prepayment and other fib J& U ZRIE 3 A0, Gl 4)
receivables 135,144 (190,836)
Decrease in financial assets at fair value A SLBEFABZNEHE
through profit or loss = 622 11,695
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other & 5 & E th fE 4 3B (Rl ),/
payables il (131,196) 171,330
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilites & %) & & & 4 /1& i1 (38,255) 53,166
254,463 199,957

PN

7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&2 &5 R A 7]



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

A BHRRNE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #EZE T - =F+-_A=+—HItFE

35 CASH FLOW INFORMATION 35 WEREER(EH)
(continued)
(b))  Movement of financing activities ) ®MEEZBHEDH
Bank and
other Lease
borrowings liabilities Total
RITR
Hihfg & HEA®E et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AR%®TR ARETE

At 1 January 2022 R-_ZE - —_F—H—H 10,000 79,387 89,387
Cash flows BeR=E 186,092 (90,069) 96,023
Interest expense FEZH 10,785 9,393 20,178
New leases entered eI HE — 217,983 217,983
Termination of lease WIEHEE — (15,174) (15,174)
At 31 December 2022 and RZ-ZE-—_F+_H
1 January 2023 = + A&
—= __'EF A—H 206,877 201,520 408,397
Cash flows Behg 6,387 (89,275) (82,888)
Interest expense B 17,739 6,882 24,621
New leases entered %ﬁ FIMVEE - 23,897 23,897
Termination of lease It E - (6,101) (6,101)
At 31 December 2023 N-ZTE-=4%F
+=-—A=+—8” 231,003 136,923 367,926
36 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 36 EREIE
2023 2022
—E-= —_EFE-—
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTRE AR®TRT

Capital expenditure in respect of FRALNTSEEMNERAL
— the acquisition of property, plant —KWEREVBRERNERE
and equipment authorised but not BRETONYE  BERK
contracted for in the consolidated 1
financial statements - 17,634
— the capital contribution of investment — B R 4R & B 75 R K71 4
contracted but not provided for in BARBEENHREHES
the consolidated financial statements 112,100 105,000
— the capital contribution into an —BERGRE MR %%7% h
associate committed but not BREERR—
provided for in the consolidated BERREER
financial statements 23,997 =
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AR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+-_A=+—HLFE

PN

o & B 7 9B S BT 2 ()

Save as disclosed in other notes, the following significant
transactions were carried out between the Group and its
related parties during the reporting period. In the opinion of
the directors of the Company, the related party transactions
were carried out in the normal course of business and at
terms negotiated between the Group and the respective
related parties.

Names and relationships with related parties

The following companies are related parties of the Group that
had balances and/or transactions with the Group during the
reporting period.

Name of related party

BARE S £ EASENEF

Relationship with the Group

FREMMEMBEEIN  THEX
R5THAE BB T R &
ETNR - ARFEERS - B
MORZIN —BMEBBEFRIEA
SR R B D 2 R RS 0 R T
7

IoA Bt 00 2 TR N B2 B B 0 B B 4R
TH AR SRR E 2D 8K & E
BREBE/EAXFHAEEREBT -

Ben 7Road Holdings Limited
(“Ben 7Road”)

A substantial shareholder of the Company and a company wholly owned
by Mr. Meng Shuqi, the chairman of the Board, an executive Director and a

substantial shareholder of the Company

ARRETERE AAALARNEFRER AOEFRLEZRALE

FEEZBEHRANRT

L.oan to Ben 7Road
Movement of loan to Ben 7Road is as follows:

(b)

[A1Ben 7Road #2 f 1) B X
[Ben 7Road iR HtHI SR E F AT

2023 2022

—Zg== —EF-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
At beginning of the year Nl 3,321 2,914
Interest income A B A 138 132
Exchange realignment TE 5 50 275
At end of the year RER 3,509 3,321

Maximum outstanding amount during FAZEAEE S

the year 3,509 3,321

On 12 October 2018, the Group and Ben 7Road entered
into a loan agreement. Pursuant to the loan agreement, the
Group granted a loan to Ben 7Road which was unsecured,
interest-bearing at 5% per annum and repayable on 11
October 2020. On 9 October 2020, a supplemental loan
agreement was entered into between the Group and Ben
7Road which extended the date of loan repayment to 11
October 2021. On 9 October 2021, the Group and Ben 7Road
entered into the second supplemental loan agreement, which
extended the date of loan repayment to 11 October 2023. On
9 October 2023, the Group and Ben 7Road entered into the
third supplemental loan agreement, which further extended
the date of loan repayment to 11 October 2025.

7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&2 &5 R A 7]

RZE—N\F+A+=-H *£E
Ben 7Road: ML E A & » B iE
X % 7K & & 7] Ben 7Road %
MERAERR  ZFEFE5%T
FER-E_TEF+HAt+—HERZ
R-E-_ZTFE+AALB AEEHHA
Ben 7Road il M i 7t BE X e © 15
BEXEgEREEE T -_—4F1+AH
+—H RZZE-_—F+ANLA K
£ B A Ben 7Road 5] 3. 8 — 1D i 75
Btz BEREEBHITEE—
T =F+A+—H -RZZT==
F+ANH - KNEEEBen 7Roads]
VYE=ZHHTERDE BERE
%E%ﬁ—iﬁ§:§:£¢+ﬂ
_E °

-
i
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
e B mRNEGEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #EZE T - =F+-_A=+—HItFE

37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37 BBAERZ(E)
(continued)
©  Loans to key management © REZEEERHENEK
Movement of loans to key management is as follows: MEZEEBRENERSEHMOT
2023 2022
—E2-= T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARS®TT ARETR
At beginning of the year REL) 385 385
Loans to key management MEEEEERENER — =
Repayments from key management TEEEEENR (385) -
At end of the year RER — 385
Loans to key management of the Group were unsecured, MASBETZEEEERENERA
interest-free and repayable on demand. EmEAR 2ENAREREE -
(d  Key management compensation d FEZEBFEE L
2023 2022
—E=-= —F-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARS®TT ARETR
Wages ,salaries and Bonus interest IE - #FeRIEANZE 13,360 21,741
Other social security costs and housing £ fth #+ & (R B& gk 48 & (£ = &
benefits and other employee benefits A & H & & 18 7 489 466
Pension costs — defined contribution  RAKE KA — REEKETE
plans 437 406
14,286 22,613
— T = =& R Annual Report 2023 209
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+-_A=+—HLFE

210

On 8 December 2021, Proficient City Limited (“PCL’) filed a
lawsuit (the “Lawsuit”) with the Guangdong Higher Court
against the subsidiaries of the Group, Shenzhen 7Road
Technology Co., Ltd. (R JII 58 + K & & & B R 2 7l) and
Qianhai Huanjing Network Technology Co., Ltd. ( AT /& 4] 3%
WL R AR A F]), in relation to a dispute on infringement
of trade secret over the online game Wartune ( ## # ), and
the Group had received the Notice to Respond from the
Guangdong Higher Court in July and August 2022. As at
the date of this annual report, the Lawsuit is at the trial
stage. The Group believes that there is no infringement
of PCL’s trade secrets in the cooperation. Therefore, the
management believes that the results of the Lawsuit will not
have any material adverse effect on the consolidated financial
statement. Subject to any further development of the Lawsuit,
the actual effect might differ from above expectations.

7Road Holdings Limited 55+ X i@ i% A R A 7]

R-—ZT——%+=F/\H - Proficient
City Limited ([PCLJ) M) & & = Pt ¥
AEBHBRREINELKBERK
ERARRAIEBAERER AR
RAEIERICAEE RIS | AP
MmEmA DR EFA(HRRBD A&
EER=_Z-_FtARNAKE
BREREHO(EFRAE) - B
AERHEE  FFAALE RN FIEFEER o
AEBREAEEEASIERITFE
RILPCLEEWENESE B -
ERENEZSFRAERTZEHE
EYBEBRREEERTHEE - &
ERFANE—TERE  BRETE
AIREEL b i (H AT RE o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
e B mRNEGEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &

o

=F+-A=t—HILFE

39 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 39 ARFETEMBEATF
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 1B
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the RARERRANRAEE LB ER
Company at the end of the reporting period are set out below: BN B ARFBEERIWOT
Country of Date of Particulars of Principal
incorporation/ incorporation/ issued and Equity interest held country of
Name of subsidiary establishment establishment paid-in capital as at 31 December Principal activity operation
iR/ i/ BRRMR Rt=A=t-H iz
] L EAEE HIRH US| L e IERR ey
023 2022
St S
Directly held by the Company
KAERRE
TRoad Fun Limited The BV 15 September 2017 USst 100% 100%  Investment holaings The PRC
ABRREE  CE-tE 1% REER G
MATER
TRoad Intemnational Group Limited The B 12 May 2015 USSt 100% 100%  Publcation of onling games The PRC
FBRaBE  CE-%f 17 BEERET G
TAtzA
Osmanthus Vale Holdings Limited The BV 27 June 2019 US$100 100% 100%  Investment holaings The PRC
ABRaEE  CEAf 100£7 REBR Gl
~AZHER
Indirectly held by the Company
FABRER
TRoad HK Digial Limited Hong Kong 9 Qctober 2017 HKS1 100% 100%  Investment holaings The PRC
R RERIARAT Bk E-tf 187 REBR Gl
TANA
Qlanha Huanjing? (Note & The PRC 12 July 2016 RMB269,320,000 100% 100%  Oniie game development, The PRC
promofion and management
AigasRe (Bita) i it ARE BRUEERY RERER  0E
tA+ZA 2693200007
Shenzhen 7Road® Note ) The PRC 22 January 2008 RMB10,000,000 100% 100%  Online game development, The PRC
promotion and management
RMIELREe (Wita) i “TEE ARE ERUBRY RRRER M@
-A=f2H 1000000070
Shenzhen Qiang® (Note &) The PRC 28 November 2013 RMB26,000,000 100% 100%  Oniine game development, The PRC
promotion and management
RITAe (rata) G -tk ARE BRUARY BERER  0E
+-A=thA 26,0000007C
— T = =& R Annual Report 2023 211
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RE M BWmRMN T (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+-_A=+—HLFE

39 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 39 ARFETEMBEATF
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 15 (&)
(continued)
Country of Date of Particulars of Principal
incorporation/ incorporation/ issued and Equity interest held country of
Name of subsidiary establishment establishment paid-in capital asat 31 December Principal activity operation
AL/ iR/ BRARAR RtZA=t-A iF
hEARER EAEE RIRH Rt T s § TEEH ey
2023 022
St S S

Indirectly held by the Company

(continued)
KABREER)
Huogrguosi 7Road” (Note ) The PRC 27 November 2015 RMB10,000,000 100% 100%  Oniie game development, The PRC
promofion and management
ERRAZ AR (Wit il Z3-1E ARE BREERY RERER  0E
+-f=t+A 10000,0007C
TRoad Iternationg! HK Limited Hong Kong 3une 2015 USt 100% 100%  Publcation of online games The PRC
FLABARER)BRAT Bt il %7 BRERLT Gl
#AZH
TRoad Games Pte, Lid. Singapore 21 June 2023 Singaporean 100% ~ Publication of online games The PRC
10,000
s 5= 10,0008 A% T BREREN Gl
~A=t-A
Wuxi 7Road Technology Co,, Ltd? The PRC 18.July 2019 RMBI,034,846,300 100% 100%  Online game development, The PRC
promotion and management
ERFLREHRERAT ke Sk ARE BRERFY RERER 9
tAT/H 10348463007
Malus Vale Holdlings Limited The BV 21 December 2018 US$100 100% 100%  Investment holdings The PRC
ABRAEE  R-\ErIA 100%7 REER G
Zt-H
Shanghai Xinlg® The PRC 6 January 2016 RMBS01,000,000 100% 100%  Online game development, The PRC
\ promofion and management
HEER i E0E AR¥ BREERY RERER  0E
Wil 5010000007
Wuxi Znongyao Network Technology Co, ~ The PRG 26 January 2018 RMB1,000,000 100% 100%  Mobie game development The PRC
Ltd.®
BRPERENRERLT E 5)E ARE FRERRS Gl
g 10000007
Shanghai Lingsu Network Technology Co,, ~ The PRG 16 July 2018 RMB250,000000 100% 100%  Cloud computing and other related  The PRC
Ltd.® senvices
LREZBANRRRAT® nE E)\E ARE EHEET ) Gl
tATAR 2500000007

B ) 7Road Holdings Limited 25+ K &% i B R A A
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RE WM (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #EZE T - =F+-_A=+—HItFE

39 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 39 XATRETENEBARF
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 15 (&)
(continued)
Country of Date of Particulars of Principal
incorporation/ incorporation/ issued and Equity interest held country of
Name of subsidiary establishment establishment paid-in capital as at 31 December Principal activity operation
Eﬂﬁﬁiﬁ/ E‘Ifﬂﬁfﬁiﬁ/ BRARER Wt=A=t-A EE
KEARER HIBX RS RAst RRNRARE TERE figy
023 202
A S
Indirectly held by the Company
(continued)
KARERE(E
Shanghai Xfeng Network Technology Co, ~ The PRG 22 October 2018 RMB51,000,000 100% 100%  Cloud busingss and other related ~ The PRC
Ltd® senices
LRSRBRNERRATS E E)E ARE SRBERBRE G
tA-t28 51,000,007
Bejing Lingsu Network Technology The PRC 27 August 2021 RMB1,000,000 100% 100%  Cloud computing and ather related ~ The PRC
Co, U 0 Senices
tREZBANERRATS i o ARE SHESRERE G
NA=ttA 1000,0007¢
Bejing Meimai Technology Co, Ltd® The PRC 17 July 2018 RMB10,000,000 100% 100%  Sandbox game developmentand  The PRC
operation
EREEHRERATS i 3\ ARE100000007 YEBBRE A Gl
tAtLH
Huoerguosi Meimal Technology Co, Ltd®  The PRC 9.July 2020 RMB1,000,000 100% 100%  Sandbox game developmentand ~ The PRC
operation
ERRAXENRARLT G “Eo%E ARE10000007 YEEEREREE G
tAnA
Wuxi Longshan 7Road Investment The PRC 18 March 2020 RMB10,000000 80% 80%  Investment holdings The PRC
Manegement Co, Ltd.®
ERELCERAERARATS i ZRo%E ARE REBR G
=Rt/H 1000000070
Wuxi Qidaoyuexiang Enterprise The PRC 21 July 2022 RMB26,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holaings The PRC
Management Partnership (Limited
Partnership) ®
ERCBRRLZERQBLR i - ket ARE26,0000007 REBR Gl
(fRaB)® tA=1-A
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+-_A=+—HLFE

39 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 39 ARFETEMBEATF
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 15 (&)
(continued)
Country of Date of Particulars of Principal
incorporation/ incorporation/ issued and Equity interest held country of
Name of subsidiary establishment establishment paid-in capital asat 31 December Principal activity operation
AL/ iR/ BRARAR RtZA=t-A iF
hEARER EAEE RIRH Rt T s § TEEH ey
2023 022
St S S

Indirectly held by the Company

(continued)

KABREER)

Wuxi Qidao Yuedong Enterprise The PRC 25 August 2022 RMB50,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holaings The PRC
Management Parinership (Limited

Partnership) ®

ERERBOREROLE G EoE AEH500000007T REER G
(5RaB)® NA=THA

Wi Qidao Longrui Enterprise Management  The PRC 17 Qctober 2022 RMB210,000000 100% 100%  Investment holaings The PRC
Partnership (Limited Partnership) ©

BHCBRELRERADLZ G - Skt AE®2100000007T REER G
(BRa%)e TATtA

Shanghai Zhuiman Huyu Technology The PRC 14 October 2016 RMB14,300,000 100% 100%  Mobie game development and The PRC
Company Limited ® operation

HEERERHRRRAR® i B0k ARE FhREARZREE G

TATER 143000007C

Shanghai DDTank Mobil Information The PRC 6 September 2021 RMB1,000,000 100% 100%  Publcation of online games The PRC
Network Technolagy Co, Lid.

(formerly known as

LEShEsEERDT) \, |
LEEREBGESRURARRLT A E-EARRR ARHI000000T BRERET G
(B LEEHBANEARAR)

Shanghai Nongyou Network Technlogy ~ The PRG 8 August 2018 RMB10,000000 100% 70%  Moble game development and The PRC
Co, Ltd. operation

LERERENRARLA Gk ZE-NENANR ARE00000007 ThEBRYREE G

Shanghai Zhangzhi Network Techndlogy ~ The PRG 18 August 2020 RMB1,000,000 51% - Game development The PRC
Co, Ltd®

HREBABNRRRAT G ZECRENATAR ARHI000000T BemE G

B )y 7Road Holdings Limited 25+ K &% i B R A A



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ire B HRERNEGE)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #

# The Company is established as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise in the PRC.

@ The Company is a limited liability company in the PRC.

Notes:

(@)

The Group does not have legal ownership in equity interests of these
subsidiaries, as the PRC regulations restrict foreign ownership of
companies that provide value-added technology services, which include
activities and services operated by the Group. In order to enable certain
foreign companies to make investments into the business of the Group,
the wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Qianhai Huanjing, has
entered the Contractual Arrangements with Shenzhen 7Road and its
equity holders, which enable Qianhai Huanjing and the Group to control
the business under Shenzhen 7Road and its subsidiaries.

The Group does not have non-controlling interests that are material to the
Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no debt securities have been
issued by the Company’s principal subsidiaries.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or assets of the Group. To provide details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of
the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

ETR -+ A=t —-BILtFE

FZRREFBERIAIIEBERE -

ZATREFENERA

REBER % EWE QR0 RES Y &
BEHEAE  PEIARRBGREMEE
RMTRB (BEASBEENEHRR
BIMARMIERARE - RERTE
%@ﬂ&ﬁ%$%@¥%'%ﬁﬂ%@i
REAZEWMBRR) ERINELKE R
HERBBEATLENRY 518
AHERAEEAEGIRYIE L RER
HMB AR -

4 o5 [ 3 4 K B OB A B 4R R
3 -

HE_ZT-_=F+-A=+—HILFE "
ARRAEEWMBARMERITERZ

FREINARFEZTRATETE
REBXEXREENARANBEAR
j Z'S ji%wuﬁ }IET/\EmMT

= F %} Annual Report 2023

RAMFEEERREBNILE ©

215
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
AR RS R M 5 ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+-_A=+—HLFE

2023 2022
—_E_=5F —=E -
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AR®BTRT

ASSETS EE
Non-current asset ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB ARMRE 4,074,656 4,005,318
Current assets REBEE
Prepayment and other receivables A BRIE & B b fE Y FR IR 305,670 307,786
Financial assets at fair value through EAnRBEFABRERD
profit or loss SREE 5,038 6,707
Cash and cash equivalents ReMhBE2EEYD 181 707
310,889 315,200
Total assets WEE 4,385,545 4,320,518
LIABILITY =N
Current liability RBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 & H A B 5RIB 293,884 293,563
EQUITY =
Share capital N 90 90
Share premium f% 15 % B 4,094,146 4,094,146
Reserves w1 148,838 79,835
Accumulated losses RETEE (151,413) (147,116)
Total equity R 4,091,661 4,026,955
Total equity and liability HEZREE 4,385,545 4,320,518
The statement of financial position of the Company was KRR BRARRZE_HFE=
approved by the Board of Directors of the Company on 28 AZTN\HEXRAEZEESH ER
March 2024 and was signed on its behalf: HUATATRAESE:
Meng Shugqi Li Zhengquan Yang Cheng
HEFH TRIE A B
Director Director Director
EE EFE EFE



Pkﬁestothe(DOHSOMkﬂed[ﬁnandalSnnenmﬁﬁs(conﬂnued)

Are IS R MY A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # =~ T - =+ - A=+—HBItFE

Shares held for RSU Scheme @  XPBRHIRMDEBEALE B TR G5
Details of the shares held for RSU Scheme are disclosed in PR I B 9 BALET B FT i IR 19 B &F
Note 29. B BT 204K 5% o

Reserve movement of the Company ) AREIWNFEEE

Accumulated
losses Other reserve
ZFtE B H fth 7% 8
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARETRT

At 1 January 2022 R-ZZE-_—F—HF—H (148,757) (264,809)
Profit for the year F Mg A 1,641 —
Currency translation differences of BINEREBREER
foreign operations = 344,644
At 31 December 2022 and R=-B-_—_F+=-A=+-—H
1 January 2023 E=—ZE=-_=%—H—H (147,116) 79,835
Loss for the year FAEE (4,297) —
Currency translation differences of BINEREBREERE
foreign operations = 69,003
At 31 December 2023 R-—B-—=#+-A=+-A (151,413) 148,838
On 28 March 2024, the Group entered into an equity transfer RZZE-_MFE=A=Z+NB K&
agreement with an independent third party (the “Purchaser”’), EHEBEyE=H(E R RE
pursuant to which the Group had conditionally agreed to sell, EEWE TF It REEBEHE
and the Purchaser agreed to acquire, 100% equity interest EHEMEFREWEARQAMEE
in Shanghai Lingsu Network Technology Co., Ltd., a indirect 2EMBRAR LS EEZRBREA
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, at a consideration PRAFIEII00% M H#E - REA/AARY
of RMB14,850,000 (the “Proposed Disposal’). At the date of 14,850,000 (BB HESEE]) - ¥
this report, the Proposed Disposal was not completed. AHmEBH BREREHEEEMKRT
B o
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Appendix: Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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1.1

Appendix: Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RiE g hELRHRE (B)

B 45

This report is the Environmental, Social and Governance
(hereinafter “ESG”) Report published by the Group. This
report summarizes the relevant working condition on
implementing the philosophy on sustainable development and
performing its obligation on corporate social responsibility.

Reporting Criterion

This report has been prepared in accordance with the
ESG Reporting Guide (hereinafter refers to the “Guide”) in
Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules, contents covered fulfil all
“comply or explain” provisions under the Guide, and follow the
reportmg principles of “materiality”, “quantitative”, “balance”
and “consistency”. The report has been reviewed and

approved by the Board.

Materiality: The materiality of the ESG issues of the Group is
determined by the Board, the stakeholder communication
and the identification process and criterion of material issues
are disclosed in this report.

Quantitative: The statistical standards, methods, assumptions
and/or calculating tools, and the source of conversion factors
of the quantitative of key performance indicators in this report
are described in the definition of this report.

Balance: This report should provide an unbiased picture of
the Group’s performance during the reporting period, and
avoids selections, omissions, or presentation formats that
may inappropriately influence a decision or judgment by the
report reader.

Consistency: Unless otherwise indicated, the statistical
methodologies used in data disclosure in this report are
consistent with those used in previous years.

1.1

£ = = F ¥} Annual Report 2023

ABERAEBHMOIRE HE

REB(TEIESGD &G - AW E
E&LK%@EE&T%F%E&E,@
METEEHSEENHEBIES
M e

RBERR LR B ERC2CGRE
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PREITETRL AR IR BT
(B2 T8 P& R [—2E]
MBERY A BREEREFTSE
B 30 7 78 ©

EEN:AEEESGEENEE M
HEFEET RFOHEBAREE
M 5% B B B9 B AR A R fE A TR
HHRIEE -

Bl ABREFEEBRENIEE
mbﬁhﬁ 7k R kS
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Appendix: Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
frer - IRIE - g RERHE (B)

1.2

1.3

2.1

PN

Reporting Scope

This report comprises of our ESG policies, approaches,
objectives, performances and achievements between 1
January 2023 and 31 December 2023 (the “Year”), policy
documents on environmental and social aspects that share
the same scope of disclosure with the annual report are
included, among which, the scope of disclosure of the key
performance indicator on social aspect aligns with those in
annual report, while unless otherwise indicated, the scope of
disclosure of the key performance indicator on environment
aspect refer to our workplace in Wuxi, Shanghai and
Shenzhen.

Feedback on the Report

The Group is devoted to formulate a more comprehensive
and sound sustainable development strategy. Should you
have any enquiries or opinion on this report, you are welcome
to email us at ir@7road.com.

Business Overview

We are a leading online game developer and operator in
China with a global reach. Since our inception in 2008, we
have engaged in the R&D, operation and publishing of a
number of popular web games, and our games have been
published in more than 100 countries and regions.

We are committed to bringing quality gameplay experience in
various game formats to our users. In recent years, we have
strategically expanded our business focuses to develop and
operate the mobile games that are widely popular among the
players.

7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&2 &G R A 7]

1.2

1.3

2.1

]
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AFEREAEBRR_E-_=F—
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AFE(THEIRNFEE])HESGHE -
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Appendix: Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

g% : B - AR REARE ()

2.2 Key milestones of the Group 22 SEEZERER

2023-2024

—E_=FF_ZF_NF

2021-2022

—EC-—FE-FT - —F

2018

—E-N\F
2017 and 2018
—E—tRIE)NF

2017

2016

Nominated for “The Key Enterprise for National Cultural Export” (B 5 3/t £ A &
21 2).
ABRBBRXEEOERPE-

Nominated for “The Key Enterprise for National Cultural Export” (B1 R Xt i O
= 2> %), the project of Alice Closet (&' B 44 AY 7K 1) was selected as a key
project.

ANEBEREHAERAE (FEEBANKE)EBAEEHIER -

Completed the acquisition of Osmanthus Vale Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
in October.
7+ A 78 Ak U B Osmanthus Vale Holdings Limited & E K B A &) o

Nominated for “The Key Enterprise for National Cultural Export 2019-2020" (=&
—NEZZ_ZFEERVEOEH T X)
ANEBBBREN T - NET_TFERRVEOZTHELE -

Granted the “Outstanding Enterprise Award 2018” (20184 £ 18 75 1> 2 28) by
Guangdong Entertainment & Game Industry Association.

REEREERELHEREN -\ FEES L LS.

Granted the “Key enterprise of national cultural exports” (B R X b ) O & Zh > %)
by the Ministry of Commerce of China.

ESTERBHRRBREOEHREE]-

DDTank (& X 5% 38 &) was awarded the “Original Game Fine Publishing Project”
(5 Bl % & H i #5 ) by the State Administration of Press, Publication, Radio, Film
and Television and obtained the “Best Jinyao Award of the Year” (/€ fx £ & 12 8%)
issued by 3367 mobile games.
(EREBZ)ESERFTELRESTERAENREIERLMRER] - I
BEBTFHEeREIFERESRE] -

Novoland The Castle in the Sky (JL/H o X 22 #) was awarded the “Original Game
Fine Publishing Project”(R &1 # &}, ) ik #& &2) by the State Administration of Press,
Publication, Radio, Film and Television.

(N e REFOBRGSERMBELREZTEBANENREIEE L RBR]

Web game Demi-Gods and Semi-Devils (& &8 J\ & & #%) obtained the Golden
Plume Awards (& %0 2%).
(RENBEE)EGSSHAE -

Awarded the “2014 Top 10 Game Enterprises for Overseas Expansion in China”
(20144 JZ /R B + A% 1A B 207 B 1> %), and Wartune (7% Bi2) obtained the “Top-
Ten Most Popular Webpage Game in 2014” (20144 & + K & 2 800 48 B 1% ).
BEICE-—HFEFRRTXNBIINERBERIBE] AP Geih2) & 15[20145F

EHASSEDBERES -
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Appendix: Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
frer - IRIE - g RERHE (B)

3.1

3.2

B )

Statement from the Board

In order to enhance the effective implementation of ESG
issues of the Group and facilitate sustainable development,
we have established an ESG Group since 2021. This group is
directly led by the Board, providing a more direct supervision
on the ESG issues of the Group. The Board assumes full
responsibility on the ESG strategy, direction and reporting of
the Group.

During the Year, the Group identified material issues and
climate-related risks, such issues and risks are confirmed by
the Board, corresponding counter measures are formulated
and directional goals on environmental aspect are set. Going
forward, we will review the effectiveness of the strategy
and the progress on the completion of environmental goals
regularly, and corresponding adjustment will be made.

Sustainable Development Policy

We are a leading global online game developer and operator,
with fast-growing in-house development capabilities for web
games. In recent years, we have strategically expanded our
business focuses to develop and launch mobile games by
enhancing in-house development capabilities. The Group is
committed to ensuring business continuity, while sparing no
effort in integrating environmental, social and management
principles into our business administrative practices, which
has produced a positive impact on the environment and the
entire community.

As a responsible corporate citizen, we have formulated
different policies on ESG and other issues to advance
and manage matters relating to social responsibility, such
as product responsibility, labor standards, environmental
protection, health and safety, and supply chain management,
S0 as to guide the Group and our business partners in putting
sustainable development into practice. The relevant policies
and measures and our sustainable development performance
in all respects can be found in the corresponding sections of
the report.

7Road Holdings Limited 55+ X & i% A R A 7]
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3.3

Appendix: Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

P 8% -

Sustainable Development Structure

Our goal is to create unique and excellent boutique games
worldwide, while at the same time, we shall integrate the
idea of sustainable development into our operating activities,
and we have formulated a number of policies to promote our
works on sustainability. Since the establishment of the ESG
Group in 2021, the ESG Group has assisted the Board in
supervising the ESG issues of the Group in a more effective
manner. Our ESG governance structure is set out below:

Y 4G

3.3

ESGEAZEE

ESG governance structure

BoamE (&)

A EERERE

BPABIER R BRERERMNBE R
EERABEEMNRN  BrAIFERRE
ESmARMNEETEHS - L H
ETZEBRRUNESHUFSESIEN
T/E - B2021F A ESG/NELAKR -
ESG/NEHBINESSE AWM E K
SEMESGEEHITESE - BRMH
ESGEAZRIBINT :

EFeEAAEEBNESGH RS

REE - BEBUAEEESGIEZR
KB N R - BZESGTIERR -

The Board is the most senior decision-making level on the
ESG issues of the Group. It is responsible for reviewing and
approving the ESG framework, strategies and policies of the
Group, reviewing the objectives, performance indicators and
measures of ESG works, assessing the climate-related risks,
the progress and the overall effectiveness of the overall work
mechanism of ESG works, and reviewing the annual ESG
report and approving for disclosure.

Led by our Chief Executive Officer, our ESG Group is
responsible for identifying ESG-related risks and opportunities,
formulating ESG work objectives and measures, coordinating
and organizing stakeholder communication and materiality
analysis, supervising the concrete implementation of
ESG works by the execution level and coordinating the
management and disclosure of ESG information. The ESG
Group shall report to the Board on a regular basis.

=T — = 7} Annual Report 2023

IR R G - P RIR AR A
% RESGI{Eit &R 2B IEiH
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Appendix: Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
frer - IRIE - g RERHE (B)

Relevant departments of the Group, including the Human
Resources and Administration Centre, Business Centre,
Financial Centre and Legal Centre, are the execution level
supports the ESG work group. These departments are
responsible for the execution and implementation of ESG-
related works, collect and analysis the ESG performance of
the Group and report to the ESG work group on a regular
basis, and spread the ESG-related information to staff in a
timely manner.

NEBHBIPIEASIFESGIIE
NAARITE  AASZITERADL
E¥BHL - BEhL  EZBRL4A
B BEBRBHITIE A EESGHEE
T WE - »MAKBEHESGE
WA TEAMESGTE/NAMESR - A
NEEmE TEEESGERBMNES -

FinERR

BPNFHEIZREET TP -
HEBREBAEBH BER &K
R EREZOL GRS - RPIRE -
BANAREZRRGENFNEN
TR FRER - HARBEZH
BBRENRRBENENER X
HEERETZ  HMBBESH
H# - BAKE BAMEW MEIAR
GREFHASZZRRRE BRNF
HRZETEAMBERERBRLEERE

3.4  Stakeholder Engagement 3.4
Our stakeholders mainly include employees, customers,
suppliers, business partners, shareholders, the government
and, in a broad sense, the community. We are firmly
convinced that our sustainable development benefits from the
unremitting support and trust of stakeholders. We listen to the
voices of stakeholders and respond to their needs properly
through a range of communication channels. By means of
meetings, interviews, hotlines, official websites, WeChat
public accounts, emails, we maintain a close and harmonious
relationship with stakeholders and accordingly achieve long-
term success.

Key stakeholders Key communication channels

TERNE TEEBEERE

Customers e Survey and comment form on customers’ satisfaction

P EFmEEREMERRK

e Customer consultancy group
EP#®A/E

e Customer services centre
PR H L

e Customer activity, gift
EFEE - 12m

e Visit by customer relationship manager
EPBREERD

e Daily operation/communication
AEEE/ XN

¢ Online service platform
HMERB TR

e Phone call

e Mall

. BH

7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&2 &G R A 7]
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Appendix: Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

fifer - IR - wg LEA®RSE (B)

Key stakeholders Key communication channels
TERNE TEBBRE
Shareholders/investors e Annual general meeting and other general meeting
BRR/REE BRRBFAGEAMBRRAE
e |nterim report and annual report
H H S 5 B A 3R

e Corporate communication, e.g. Ietter to shareholders/circular and notice of meeting
CEBRA NBRREG/BARERAN
e Announcement of results
E3 - YN
¢ Shareholders’ visit
BRER2EED
¢ Investors’ meeting
RELEGR
e Meeting of senior management
BREBAESHE
e Meeting and interview

&A%

Staff e Survey on staff opinion
BT BIBRHASL
e Working performance assessment
TERBRIZ
e Group discussion
NEF R
e Meeting and interview
SHEHER
e Business briefing
373 LE
e Seminar/workshop/talk
et e T1Edh/#EE
e Staff communication meeting
EIERKRS
e Staff intranet
BTN

Business partners e Report
XY mE
e Meeting
kS
e Visit
®ah
e Tak
B
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Appendix: Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

fifer - IR - e MEA®RSE (B)

Key stakeholders Key communication channels
TERNE TEBBRE
Regulatory institutions e Meeting
EERE =g
e Response to public consultation
HRARZBAHEE
e Compliance report
ARWmE
Media * Press conference
RS mEEmg
® Press release
#E s
¢ Interview of senior management
SREBAETH
e Announcement of results
RERMH
Community/ e Meeting
non-governmental &k
organizations e Participation of vaccine action organized by the community
E I E SEMRABNITREETY
Peers e Strategic cooperation
BES REEMAIEEE
e Communication meeting
BRAE
Suppliers e Management procedure on supplier
g HERERERF
* Meeting
EE

e Assessment system on supplier/contractor
R A ET
e Site visit

EHER

B ) 7Road Holdings Limited 25+ K &% i B R A A



3.5

Highly important

REBE

Generally important

—REZ

Appendix: Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
ek - IRI| - g LREAWmE (B)

Material Issues

To allocate resources in a more effective manner, and to pave
the way for the smooth implementation of ESG works, we
assess the ESG material issues annually by making reference
to a number of factors. The overall mission and competitive
strategy of the Group, corporate value, policy, operational
management system, assessment on influence, goals and
indicators, and the legal, regulatory, international agreements
and voluntary agreements that have strategical importance
to the Group, the key issues and future challenges of the
sectors which our business belongs to are all integrated, and
by making reference to international standards including the
Guide of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong and the Database
of Material Issues of the Sustainability Accounting Standards
Board of the United States of America and understanding the
opinion of stakeholders on our ESG measures through the
communication between the stakeholders and us during the
Year, we have identified 22 material issues of the Group. The
following ESG material issues and their importance have been
reviewed and approved by the Board.

Occupational health  Game health and

and safety safety
BERERZZ2 BEERNREZ R
Training and Protection of players’
development data

=l &R MR BIR R &

Diversification and
anti-discrimination
Zrnlt R RIER

Employee relations

HERE IR
Suppliers’
environmental and
social performance

assessment

EEAR HEBRBERTEXR BEREEN
WA

Anti-child labor and  Anti-fraud and

forced labor anticorruption

PIrsT K& REEKEHR

EZ)

Employee benefits Disaster emergency

plan
BITREA KEEZER

3.5

EMZEB
BEEBUSHEER - H#EESGT
EMIEFIRRE  BMRIBEZEZE
AEYWESCGEEM HBETEETF
he BPEEAEBENERBIKEK
BRERE CEEE KK EE
EERG ZENFEH BEKIE
2E URHASEERBEE N
MA@ EH - BERHBEEREE
EWHE EHEMBANNETER
BN ARKE - 2EH BB AE
SMERAIFEBRREAENES
ENEZUHZEESEHBRIZE I
BBRAFERMMBZHENER
BETRONEHEMESGRENE
B w5 7T A% BE22EESGE
BMEE - U TESGEE M ZH B I
MEEZUCHESSEMAMER -

Players’ satisfaction

MEWEE
Intellectual property

R E

Supplier management Product responsibility

EmEE
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The Group strictly abide by the national laws and regulations
including The Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China
((REARKEAMBE L E) L)), The Labor Contract Law of the
People’s Republic of China ((FZEA R EMBLE A FIE)),
The Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection
of Minors ({F & A R HF1 B R ik & AR 7% )% )), Provisions
on the Prohibition of Using Child Labor ({Z£ | {# i & T 47
7E ), and Staff Handbook, ({& TF 1)), Human Resources
Management System ({(A £ & 2 #l £))and Welfare
System ({f& F| %I JZ)) are being compiled, which clearly
stated the systems on staff recruitment, orientation, training
and development, appraisal and remuneration, staff welfare,
awards and punishments, in an effort to provide a safe,
inclusive and fair working environment for the staff, and to
put an end to discrimination on age, gender, health condition,
marital and family condition, nationality and religion.

Staff Recruitment

We emphasize talent recruitment, and there is a section
“recruitment management system” in our Human Resources
Management System ({( AZE 2 $IE)), in order to ensure a
standardized and systematic recruitment management, thus
guaranteeing the quality of recruitment tasks. Our Human
Resources Department will formulate a seasonal staffing
plan in accordance to the strategic planning and business
development needs of each department, and it will follow
principles of open, fair and selection of the best. For suitable
team personnel that fulfil the recruitment requirements with
outstanding performance, priority will be given to them on
selection and promotion, and then the recruitment open to
the public will be considered.

Our public recruitment channels include network recruitment,
internal referral, job fair, campus recruitment, and talent
referred by intermediary, and are selected in accordance
to the working experience, education background, logic of
applicants. We request applicants to produce identification
document to eliminate child labor, and suitable talent is being
selected ultimately through a multi-faceted examination. To
guarantee our staff to have a reasonable working period
arrangement, working duration and overtime compensation
are clearly stated in the Human Resources Management
System ((AEEEH|E)), and staff are not forced to work
on rest days so as to eliminate forced labor. Once such
incident is discovered, we will handle it in accordance to The
Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China ({# 2=
AR KRB 84 FJE)) and relevant laws and regulations.
The Group does not have forced labor or recruit child labor
during the Year.
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Reasons for our staff on termination include: termination of BKPWEIEE YA LA
probation, displacement, resignation, expulsion, automatically BrR B R FR - BERER B
vacate office, layoff, end of contract, etc. We arrange exit B -cRBRFE -BME AT
interview for every staff on termination, in order to understand BEIRHEEREAX UEEET
the actual circumstance of termination, and the aspects that HENEEBRAARANEETEE
need further enhancement on the operation of the Group. RFEEZE—FRANAE -
Below are the condition of the staff of the Group during the UTERAFERNREEE THBR:
Year:
Unit 2023
Indicators & By 2023FE
Total number of staff ETHAY Number of people 422
AE
By gender =Rl & D
Female staff ZHET Number of people 123
A
Male staff EHET Number of people 299
N ¢
By employment type REBERE S
Short term contract/part time staff REIEH,FBET Number of people 0
N
Long term staff REET Number of people 422
A
By age group RERARE D
Staff under 30 30 A NET Number of people 139
AE
Staff between 30 and 50 30-505% E T Number of people 281
N ¢
Staff above 50 50 A EET Number of people 2
N ¢
By geographical region R E & 5
Shenzhen F=IN Number of people 185
ANE
Shanghai ispis! Number of people 228
AE
Wuxi =15 Number of people 9
A
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4.2

________EEPEN)

Interest Protection

As a technology enterprise that focuses on online game,
the Group regards the staff as the most important core
value. We established a remuneration system and welfare
protection that are competitive in the market in order to
attract and retain talents. The Group will provide competitive
remuneration package in accordance to internal provisions,
industry standard, experience and skills of the staff and the
requirement of the post, while the salary, remuneration and
welfare of the staff are reviewed regularly.

We also care about the opinion from the staff. We established
a number of communication channels, including meetings,
WeChat and email. Every member can provide his or her
opinion and matters of concern through these channels.

In addition to statutory holiday and “Five Social Insurances
and Housing Fund”, we also provide paid annual leave,
sick leave, casual leave, marital leave, bereavement leave,
maternity leave, nursing leave, breast-feeding leave, family
planning leave, work injury leave, etc. to our staff.

The welfare we provided includes the provision of festive
welfare, our blessing on marriage, birth of child, birthday
of staff, and club activity by way of cash, gift, organizing
activity or leave. Corresponding subsidies on the traffic,
travel, communication on overtime is also provided to staff in
accordance to the requirement of the Group. Seasonal fruit
and afternoon tea are also provided regularly to express our
wishes to our staff on working healthily.

We organize an array of activities on a regular basis, for
instance, themed birthday parties, clubs, sports activities
and festive events, so that our employees can achieve work-
life balance. These activities can strengthen the bonding and
create a harmonious relationship among employees and
between the Group and employees.
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2024 New Year Benefits Gift Package 20245 F R F KRB R

Afternoon Tea Activities in 2023 2023F N F R EE
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2023 Dragon Boat Festival Benefit Gift Box 2023F im FraEflig &

7Road Parent-Child Activity in 2023 2023F B L REBEHRFIEH
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7Road Team Building Activities in 2023 2023F F+ NBEEES
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4.3

LY

Training and Development

In addition to sourcing for talents, we deeply understand the
importance of nurturing, in the hope that their talent can be
fully unlocked through the room for development and training
provided.

We have a sound performance management system, and an
annual comprehensive performance evaluation is carried out
for each staff. We encourage supervisor to communicate with
our staff from time to time and give constructive feedback to
help their personal growth.

Staff are given equal opportunities for promotion which
is determined based on the results of their performance
evaluation. The Group has also put in place promotion
mechanisms for internal competition among the staff. Staff
may apply for competitive promotion provided that they meet
the relevant years of service and performance requirements
and that they have no records of misconduct and are in
line with the Group’s corporate culture and values. This will
accordingly stimulate the initiative of excellent employees.

We have four major programs in employee training: new
employee training, high potential talent training, leadership
training and professional skills upgrading. We also formulate
particular annual training programs in accordance to the
actual needs.

a. New staff training: During the Year, we have organized
new staff training sessions for each of our new staff.
The training sessions include the introducing of our
culture and product philosophy, business objectives,
management system and team behavioral norms. New
staff training aims to help our new staff to integrate into
our team and get familiar with their works.

b. Leadership training: Management regular practices
(such as quarterly business meetings and reporting)
were adopted to improve our management’s personal
leadership skills.

7Road Holdings Limited 55+ X & i% A R A 7]
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(& Professional skills upgrading: We organized our internal
business experts for attending the professional skills
training and sharing for a number of times.

Apart from internal training, the Company arranges
designated staff to join external learning activities,
including courses on skills training, industry network
mixer, forum and training for certificate acquisition
in accordance to the actual needs. Training subsidy
and examination leave are also provided for certain
trainings.

Occupational Health and Safety

We care about the health and safety of the staff, and we
devote to provide a safe and healthy working environment
for our staff by abiding by the relevant laws and regulations
including the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases ({# 2 A

RAMBBE R AZE)).

We established an early warning system on safety for
identifying potential danger and response to such danger
in a timely manner, and we have established contingency
measures. In addition, colleagues that joined the Company for
one year are entitled to an annual medical check-up.

To enhance the occupational safety awareness related to
accident, occupational diseases and fire prevention of the
staff, rescue and fire drill are held on an irregular basis, while
trainings related to danger that may encounter and the self-
protection measures are also provided.

While Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19”) has continued
to spread around the world since 2020, a series of necessary
hygiene and epidemic prevention measures have been
implemented by the Group, including implementation of
prevention and control policies enacted by the relevant
governmental authorities, provision of free anti-epidemic
supplies to protect the health and safety of our employees.

During the Year, no loss of work days due to work injury is
recorded by the Group, and there is no incidence of any work-
related fatality during the last three years.

4.4
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Supply Chain Management

We have been committing ourselves to be a high quality and
responsible game developer and operator. We hope our
suppliers and business partners to operate in a consistently
with our operation direction and demonstrate best practices
in connection with environmental and social matters.

We have established long-term relationships with numerous
platforms, advertisers and suppliers around the world. We
established the Management System on Procurement ({#%
B8 & ¥ #| £))and Management System on Asset ((&
& & 1B %] E)) and we require suppliers not to carry out
business acts that are unethical and prohibited by laws and
regulation, for example bribery. We also established supplier
code of conduct indicating our expectations towards our
suppliers and business partners in terms of anti-corruption,
product and service quality, environmental protection and
occupational health and safety.

Meanwhile, our audit department will monitor procurement
activities to ensure procurement with integrity. Purchasing
staff shall consciously accept the supervision and questions
from the finance department or the audit department on
procurement activities. The Company has the right to
impose penalty on the relevant staff in accordance with the
Company's relevant regulations for any violation of the integrity
requirement by the purchasing staff during procurement
process.

We perform comprehensive evaluation when selecting the
products or services of suppliers based on an array of factors
such as quality, price, delivery time, after-sales service,
reputation, and fill out the Supplier Information Sheet as the
basis for procurement to ensure good cost-effectiveness.
Before purchasing, we will check the inventory and the
useful life of the products to avoid waste. We prioritize green
products and services, choosing products with low energy
consumption, high recycling rates, and less packaging as
much as possible. At the same time, we also consider the
environmental and social risks of our suppliers, compliance
with laws and regulations, and appropriate addressing
measures.
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From time to time, our administration department will conduct
on-site sample inspections on suppliers' qualifications and
production sites, and request rectification actions for any
irregularities found. The results of the sample inspections
will be recorded in the Supplier Checklist as a reference for
supplier evaluation.

The Company has 246 major suppliers (Shanghai: 82;
Shenzhen: 126; Wuxi: 38) for software, equipment, equipment
maintenance and other services including cloud equipment
services.

Intellectual Property

The Group strictly abide by the local laws and regulations
where we carry out our operation, including the Patent Law of
the People’s Republic of China ({FFEA R £ FB Z F)5%)),
the Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China ({/
AR FEMEEEZL)), the Administrative Measures on China
Internet Domain Names ({2 A R £ FHZE EH#E L)), the
Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China ({7 & &
W B EIE W) and the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the
People’s Republic of China ((FEA R MBI R TEFHFED).
We respect the intellectual property of other parties, and also
protect the game, software, design, new technology, skills
and other related rights of the Group.

We attach great importance to Confidentiality in protecting
inteilectual property + I &l & T R B 2 H F) FCED &

& I &l E). Al interested parties are prohibited to divulge
or provide relevant information to others in the process of
product development and creation. In accordance with the
Measures for the Administration of Content Self-review by
Internet Cultural Business Entities ({44 X (L & LB AR
B & B ¥P%)), our self-inspection system will ensure that
all products comply with our intellectual property measures
and relevant regulations. If any infringement is found, we will
take legal action.
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Players’ interests

The Group strictly complies with the laws and regulations
including Regulations on the Information Management of
Internet User Account Names ((E Bt F A ERFEZBE
B MR ED), Notice by the National Press and Publication
Administration of Further Imposing Strict Administrative
Measures to Prevent Minors from Becoming Addicted to
Online Games (BN E— T BB BB EH IERKFEA
UK A8 4% BF LAY 3B AD)), Standards for the Development
of Anti-addiction System of Online Games ({48 4% ¥ &% B /7T
H R B %2 %)), Notice on the Implementation of Anti-
addiction System of Online Games for the Protection of the
Physical and Mental Health of Minors ({BRMRERKFEA &
2R B e AR BB Mk R AR B AN ), Implementation
Plan for Comprehensive Prevention and Control of Myopia
among Children and Adolescents) ({4 & IZEREE L F
T8 B e /5 %), Law of the People's Republic of China on
the Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests ({FR#EA R
H A B SH B & HE 25 0K)), E-Commerce Law of the People's
Republic of China ((F EA R X MBE EF i % /%£)) and
Regulations on the Protection of Personal Information of
Telecommunications and Internet Users and other laws and
regulations ((EE M E B A AEEABZMRERTD).

As a leading online game operator in China, we place the
physical and mental health of our players as one of our most
important issues. We send health and safety information
to our players in our games and recommend a break after
a certain amount of play time. With the popularity of online
games in recent years, addiction among minor players is
becoming more severe. To solve the problem of Internet
addiction among the minors and to regulate the time spent
on online games by the minors, we have developed the
"Tips for Healthy Participation of Minors in Online Games"
and encourage parents to join the "Online games minors
Guardian project ((REKCFAREL B BEHEERIIETR))" o
supervise the minors. On the other hand, in compliance with
the relevant national regulations, all of the Company’s games
have been connected to the online game anti-addiction
real-name verification system of the National Press and
Publication Administration of China. At the same time, we
have established a real-name registration system in our online
games to ensure the security of the personal information and
account name information collected and stored by our games
and to prevent unauthorized access and information leakage,
tampering and loss. Due to the nature of our operations, The
Group’s games do not involve recycling process.
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To boost creativity among our game talents so as to create
more innovative and fascinating games, we ought to
understand players’ pattern and interests to cater to their
needs. As a result, we put great store by enhancing players’
satisfaction through listening and responding to their opinions
through various online and offline channels including online
forum, customer service hotline, mailbox and instant chat in
games.

Our dedicated customer service team will handle players’
concerns and respond to them in a timely manner. They can
also reach us at our social media accounts, such as Weibo
and WeChat, to seek game assistance and guidance. For
games that we license to our distribution publishing partners,
certain customer service will be provided by such partner.

During the Year, the Group received no significant complaints
from players regarding our games.

Data Privacy

Given the nature of the Group's online business, we attach
great importance on the data protection and privacy of our
customers, products and networks. We strictly comply with
laws and regulations including Regulations of the People's
Republic of China for Safety Protection of Computer
Information Systems ((FZEARKEMBEGERZEMER L
2 REEM)), Provisions on the Technical Measures for the
Protection of the Security of the Internet ({ & Bt 48 % & 1R &
B i & # #R F)), Requirements on the Internet Interactive
Service Security Protection ((E Bt B B & R RS &2 2 (R &
£ 3k)) and the Basic Procedures and Requirements on the
Internet Service Security Assessment (& B 49 iR 75 &2 & &F
HERERAKRENR)).
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We take privacy and confidentiality of our user’s data
seriously. We collect and use the information of the players in
a legal way, and the use of player’s information are restricted
to the purposes contained in the contract. No sensitive
personal data (such as ID card or credit card information)
are stored on our server. The Group also organizes staff
training on privacy, in order to promote the awareness on
privacy and points to note on handling player’s information.
Our employees cannot access player’s information without
authorization.

In addition, we may subject to the threat of cyber attacks and
the risks of the loss and leakage of data. To minimize these
risks, we have adopted a series of data security measures,
such as intrusion detection, firewalls, access authorization,
password and data transmission encryption, data are stored
at least in two different locations on our local internal server
and remote cloud system and further backup is implemented
in our disaster recovery system. Continuous monitoring and
test related to privacy risks are carried out and any defect will
be amended in a timely manner.

We have also established the Confidentiality System (=%
J£)), which clearly stipulates confidentiality matters,
confidentiality periods, confidentiality levels, confidentiality
measures and penalties for leakage of confidentiality. All
confidential documents and information are created, sent
and received, transmitted, used, copied, extracted, stored
and destroyed using computer technology, and managed by
dedicated personnel. Confidential documents are also stored
separately in well-equipped security devices. Employees
are prohibited from disclosing the confidential information of
the Company in public or in unauthorized communications.
In the event of a leakage or potential leakage of confidential
information, the employee concerned must promptly
report to the administration department and take remedial
action. Depending on the severity, employees who leak the
confidential information will receive warnings or be pursued
legal liability.

During the Year, the Group did not have any incidents related
to information security or leakage of customer information.

7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&2 &G R A 7]

HPIERRE RIE A P BUIRAL R AR
o BPIAAIEN T A M ERER
MRELS  HRESNERER
\mﬁW%MEW°ﬁﬁ%%$T
SREFHBRBAEHGI WS HF
RBKERARER) AEETFER
WAL ETEI - BENEESE -
AFEENFERHEIEER - K
REENETTERBMENER o

AN MPIATRER B BRI E N B
XBEBERIRBENER - BERA
REREZFRR HAKDR—F
FIMBIEZ 2 - PINEAAR
B XiE - Rh A RRAE S - B E B K
BEERETNE  BEEIRET
Eﬁﬁﬁ&ﬂﬂ%ﬁ%&%ﬁzm
EHm EMEARMGCE  WHERKMD
KRB 2 \/JLEP{/Eﬁ TR o ;
PR EETERELERR B2
SRR - 3 R BB 1R IROR ©

BZPMEETRZSE)  HRE
EH REHR - REEL - RE
e LA SR R EE T B RE AR JE ©
%E@MY# ERENEE I

CHE-FA - BE - -BY R
ﬁﬂ%% %%@W&ﬁﬁm~ﬁ
ﬁ WHBEAETER - #EZXHF

FEBFRR %% B 1R B2 5
E¢°EI 2 ERAHRS AR RLE
BREMNBITREARKZE - — 8B
IR MR R Al RN R - B A
BE MRS /TR L &R
e MBRETBSREBEABKER
EﬁxﬂW¢&WLﬁ£éaE°

REF AEERBEHLTMAH
EELEHRBEEFEMNERE
K o



5.5

Appendix: Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
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B 45

Advertising on the Internet

As a company with focus on the internet business, we have
the responsibility to uphold and strengthen a healthy network
culture.

For our game development business, we strictly abide by the
Measures for the Administration of Online Games ({48 4% %%
B B I ¥t 7&)) and other applicable laws and regulations.
In view of this, we have built a professional content review
team. There are professional content reviewers on the
team responsible for close scrutiny to ensure that the game
elements, including names, backgrounds, sound effects,
maps, scenes, character designs, building designs, prop
designs and features, do not contain any legally prohibited
or improper wordings and materials, neither should any
pornography, gambling, violence and abetment be promoted.

We ensure the compliance, accuracy and authenticity of all
published materials, including press releases, labels, articles,
and web contents, in accordance with the Advertising Law
of the People’s Republic of China, and Measures for the
Administration of Official Document (A X & I2 ¥ 35)) is
formulated.

5.5
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5.6

YD)

Anti-corruption and the Promotion of Integrity

The Group strictly abide by the Anti-Money Laundering Law of
the People’s Republic of China (A R LFE & EEE)),
and the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China (£
#EARALMBE A L)) The Group’s commitment to cracking
down on unethical business practices, including bribery, fraud
and corruption can be reflected in our Internal Control System
of 7Road ({t & - A & 1= &l %] [£)), the Anti-Fraud System
(I %% 8 #] Z)). Staff should report to us any suspected
misconduct by phone or mail. Our internal audit department
will enquire into the case carefully and implement correction
measures in a professional and timely manner. Along with the
above, code of ethics is also encapsulated in the employee
handbook. We require our staff to abide by the code and
make it part of our everyday activities in order to create a
positive corporate culture placing integrity and honesty on
a high priority. We also provide anti-corruption training to
Directors and staff, such training covers the criminal offences
that the staff of the Company may involve in, guidelines on
integrity practices for directors and case study, with an aim to
enhance their personal integrity standard.

During the Year, there was no litigation against the Group or
its staff concerning corruption, bribery, fraud, extortion and
money laundering.

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out in its offices
located at Wuxi, Shanghai and Shenzhen which have minimal
impact on the environment and natural resources. We are
committed to contributing to environmental protection by
realizing low carbon business with strenuous effort, mitigating
climate change and raising public awareness. The Group
strictly complies with environmental laws and regulations
such as the Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
People's Republic of China({F #E A R EFIBIKF 2875 ),
the Environmental Protection Law of the People's Republic of
China({# # A & £ A Bl IR B (R # 7£)) and the Law of the
People's Republic of China on Conserving Energy ({/ #E A
RAMBIE K BEIRIED ).

7Road Holdings Limited 55+ X & i% A R A 7]
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Environment Aspects
RREE

Appendix: Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

g% : B - AR REARE ()

We recognize our corporate social responsibility of AEBERRRERENGELEER
environmental protection. We have set initial targets for energy T - BMREAEESETEBER
efficiency, water efficiency, waste reduction and greenhouse FRAME  AKkom  BALBEEY
gas emissions use during the Year, which provide the general MOBERBEEM A EYZE TG M
direction for the related works. We will review and examine the B ZMgRELREESHERR
implementation progress of various environmental targets and BERERONITER  WEEE
measures, and explore more opportunities for energy-saving, ZEREREE HERROKE - K
emission reduction, greening and environmental protection. Ko BMHEIILEREENELIRE
In the future, we will set more specific and quantifiable BiZ BEANMUMRERIEMEEX
environmental goals to protect the environment and preserve NER °

natural resources more effectively.

Targets
BE

Energy use efficiency

BEJR 2 A 3K 25

Water use efficiency

Ak &

Waste reduction

B REEY

Reduce greenhouse gas

]

Actively implement the Group’s energy-saving measures to maintain or gradually reduce energy
consumption on the basis of 2023.

BIBEAEBAEBAERIENR - BEEENT  E20283FNER F#FHE LR
Ak &G W

Be /J% /Iél %% °©

Actively implement the Group’s water conservation measures to maintain or gradually reduce water
consumption on the basis of 2023.

RBEAEBOESHRKER  BEREERIT - E2023F AR FEFRE R DK
BIRHRE

Actively implement the Group’s measures for material conservation and waste separation to
maintain or gradually reduce waste generation on the basis of 2023.

BREAEBNBORY  BEVSEER  BEEENT  E20283FNER @K
KBS RO BERYEL -

Actively implement the Group’s measures for energy-saving and greenhouse gas emission

emission reduction to maintain or gradually reduce greenhouse gas emissions on the basis of 2023.
DRERBHK BEAEENEOER  BOBEREBHEREE - BB EE T - £2023F A &t
FHRBABLT DB ERBEEN -
During the Year, the Group did not violate any laws relating REE AKEBEVWLBEEREMA
to environmental protection or cause any major incidents BAIRIBRENEVISEKFERE
affecting the environment and natural resources, nor was it NEARABRNEASFH  HRAEK
notified of any penalties and litigation in the environmental HERBERRIRSHEENRS RFA
aspects. AN o
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Appendix: Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
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6.1

6.2

YV

Energy Conservation and Emission Reduction

We actively implement energy-saving measures at all levels
of our business operations. We require our employees
to develop energy-saving habits by turning off electronic
equipment power, air conditioning and lighting systems when
not necessary. We set up separate switches in our offices
to avoid turning on unnecessary lighting areas, and maintain
proper lighting in work areas and turn off idle electronic
equipment on a regular basis. In addition, the Group regularly
cleans the filters to improve the energy efficiency of air
conditioning.

During the Year, the Group's electricity consumption was
985,605.7 kWh and the per capita electricity consumption
was 2,335.6 kWh.

Greenhouse Gas

The Group's greenhouse gas emissions are mainly from direct
emissions from the use of its vehicles (Scope 1) and indirect
emissions from the generation of purchased electricity (Scope
2). We have established a Vehicle Management System
(CEE 4 & 32 %] £ )) to monitor the daily use of vehicles and
energy consumption. Employees are required to plan their
driving routes in advance before they use corporate vehicles
every time and record the fuel consumption of the vehicles
after returning the vehicles for energy monitoring by the
administrator department. In addition, the administration
department is the administrator department of the corporate
vehicles, which will regularly carry out the maintenance
work for the corporate vehicles to maintain the efficiency
level, thereby preventing excessive pollutants emission due
to reduced efficiency. At the same time, we encourage our
employees to take public transportation to reduce the use of
vehicles.

7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&2 &G R A 7]
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Appendix: Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
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During the Year, the Group conducted a greenhouse gas
inventory in accordance with the Greenhouse Gas Protocol
developed by the World Resources Institute and the World
Business Council for Sustainable Development and the
ISO 14064-1 developed by the International Standards
Organization, and its emission performance was as follows:

AT R B R Rt R R
KR AT ERRTHEES
HENCREREESE B RE
B 42 5 {1 48 48 1 5 9 IS0 14064-1)
ETTRAZAMEES  HENRR
m

Unit 2023
Greenhouse Gas Emissions
Performance BERBEHEMKE B 2023FE
Direct greenhouse gas emissions BERRAERBHMAE(8EY) Tonnes of CO, equivalent 154.4
(Scope 1) AE—ELREE
Indirect greenhouse gas emissions BEREREYNEE(EE2) Tonnes of CO, equivalent 572.63
(Scope 2) AW S bixEE
Total greenhouse gas emissions BEREBHMNAE(EEIR2)  Tonnes of CO, 727.06
(Scopes 1 and 2) equivalent
APHM-—FLBEE
Greenhouse gas emission intensity per A¥BEEREHIWNE Tonnes of CO, equivalent 17

capita (Scopes 1 and 2)

6.3

Water Resources Management

(SE1%2)

6.3

The Group obtains water from the municipal water supply
network and has no water supply problems. We promote
the good water usage. We post reminder notes on water
conservation in washrooms and pantries and use automatic
sensor taps to reduce water consumption. In addition, the
Group conducts regular inspection tests on water supply
facilities and hidden water pipe leakage to enhance daily
maintenance management to prevent wastage of water due
to lack of maintenance. In the future, the Group will continue
to monitor the Group's water consumption in the course of its
business operations and cultivate the habit of treasuring water
among its employees to ensure that water resources are used

properly.

During the Year, the Group's water consumption was 4,248.8
cubic meters and per capita water consumption was 10.1

cubic meters.

— &~ =% iR Annual Report 2023
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Appendix: Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
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R g kEamE (8)

6.4  Waste Management 6.4 BEEYEIE
We advocate waste reduction at source and encourage AEBERERREBERE  SEBET
our employees to make the best use of all resources. We ZRBEME - BMETELKLK
implement a paperless policy, make good use of electronic KEAEFXH  BLTIBER
documents and reduce unnecessary printing. For office ITED - R MBEETEXHRERE -
documents and correspondence, we advise our staff to BZMEZEETEELEN  WEERE
avoid misprinting and to reuse or use double-sided paper. RS mE AR - I BT
In addition, we actively promote the use of electronic %‘a ﬁ?’&?ﬂé\lﬂﬁﬁ &FimER Tﬁiiﬁ
communication technologies such as email and corporate BiE - WEFBH - CEMES
Wechat groups for staff communication.
We encourage our employees to bring their own cups to avoid %z 1FEJ SEETIEHKN  @REA
the waste of disposable paper cups. Although our business KRB ERORE - EAREE
does not involve packaging materials, we still follow the %i‘%?\iff&@%%ﬂ CERPIRAE
principle of recycling and use recyclable materials as much as BRERERANANRA  ZSHRAAUE
possible. We implement waste separation in our workplace RAMANYE - BRMETESHE
and recycle recyclable waste appropriately. At the same time, MEREEYDE WK EIKEEY
we monitor the amount of non-hazardous waste generated in L TEER IEI o B - RMIEEE
order to optimize waste reduction measures. BEBEZEVEANHEE  UEMLR
?é%ﬁ@ °
During the Year, as the Group did not generate any hazardous REE BHRAEBEWREEET
waste, the Group's non-hazardous waste management MEEEEY AEEEZEEEY
performance was as follows. ERERRWOT:
Unit 2023
Waste BE &Y B 2023FE
Amount of harmless waste generated EEFEZYELE Kg 46,900
T
Hazardous waste generated per capita A EEEZEYEL S Kg/person 1111
Fr/A

YT

7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&2 &G R A 7]



Appendix: Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
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Climate Change

Climate change has a significant impact on human life and
business operations. Various measures have been taken
around the world to address the challenges of climate change,
while Mainland China and Hong Kong, China have announced
carbon neutrality targets for 2060 and 2050 respectively.

Notwithstanding the minimal impact of climate change on
the Group's business, after identification and assessment,
the Group has considered that the related impact of climate
change (physical acute risk and chronic risk) on the Group's
business is low. As the temperature rises in the future, the
demand for cooling down the working environment will
increase, which may lead to an increase in the Group's
electricity demand and operating costs. In the event of
extreme weather conditions such as heavy rainfall, the
Group's productivity may be reduced. The Group will
review the measures in place to cope with adverse weather
conditions to ensure the safety of our employees. We will
continue to monitor the risks associated with climate change,
pay attention to the latest laws and regulations, and improve
various energy saving and carbon reduction measures, and
work with various stakeholders with the aim of building long-
term climate resilience.

As a corporate citizen, we have been actively fulfilling our
social responsibility, sparing no effort to participate in various
communal activities. We are not only engaging in building the
community through conventional channels such as charity
activities and volunteer activities, but also fulfilling our social
responsibility by bringing industry characteristics into play,
continuously making a positive influence on the community.
Going forward, the Group will continue to perform its
social responsibility and constantly step up investments in
communal public welfare undertakings, giving back to society
through diversified channels.
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The following is the summarized information of sustainable

R g kEamE (8)

UNTRAFERFEBBAOA 58T RBIE

development in environmental aspects for the Year: BE:
Unit 2023
Environmental Aspects RIRER By 2023FE
Emissions* 23087/ M
Nitrogen oxides RE LY Kilogram (kg) 241
T
Sulfur oxides maltm kg 0.8
T
Particles BT R kg 27.9
T
Greenhouse Gas Emissions B ZE R HEK
Direct greenhouse gas emissions Ehz BE R R (FEN1) Tonnes of CO, equivalent 154.4
(Scope 1) Nt %ﬂ:ﬁ}x =Ny
Indirect greenhouse gas emissions MEREREEEM(EE2) Tonnes of CO, equivalent 572.6
(Scope 2) AME = &1t ﬁ?-? =3
Total greenhouse gas emissions hE RBP4 2 (FEF2) Tonnes of CO, equivalent 7271
(Scopes 1 and 2) AME &1t ﬁ?&%
Greenhouse gas emission intensity AR ERBHEREE Tonnes of CO, equivalent 1.7
per capita (Scopes 1 and 2) (BE1A2) per person
AWE—EIREE A
Energy Consumption BER A
Total energy consumption BEE= Kilowatt-hour(kwh) 1,508,859
T FL B
Purchased power consumption INBBENFERE Kwh 985,605.7
TR B
Electricity consumption per capita AIENHREEE Kwh/person 2,335.56
FERE,/A
Petrol consumption UHBEEE Litre 56,827.2
NF
Water Consumption KR FE
Total water consumption BREKE Cubic meters 4,248.8
AVAD B
Water consumption per capita A FEKE R Cubic meter/person 10.1
SLFRSA

7Road Holdings Limited &+ A &
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Unit 2023

Environmental Aspects REBE&EE B 2023 E

Paper consumption HREAE

Amount of paper consumption HA#E Kilogram (kg) 1,874.3
F=

Paper consumption per capita AREE kg/person 4.4
Fr/A

Waste BEEY

Amount of harmless waste generated EEZEFEZYELE kg 46,900
=

Hazardous waste generated per capita A B EEZEVEL S kg/person 1111
Fr/A

The following is the summarized information of sustainable A TEAREET @ &EHT]EFEEESIE

development in social aspects for the Year: WME:
Unit 2023

Social Aspects HEEHE By 2023FE

Employment Management* EEEE

Total number of employees ET R person 422
A

Total number of employees by gender #% 14 5l 8l 2 f & T A &

Female pegla person 123
A

Male St person 299
A

Total number of employees by RERELESHNEIAY

employment type

Part-time/short-term employees FBRHET person 0
A

Full-time employees ERET person 422
A

Total number of employees by age REREITWETHAY

Under 30 years old 308K AT person 139
A

30-50 years old 30-505% person 281
A

Above 50 years old 505% A £ person 2
A

Total number of employees by RWEESTNETAH

geographical region
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Unit 2023
Social Aspects HEHEE B 2023 E
Shenzhen AN person 185
A
Shanghai & person 228
A
Wuxi =15 person 9
A
Employee Turnover Rate** BEIRKE
Total employee turnover rate BT RMKE % 32%
Employee Turnover Rate by Gender M BIB2HE T RKAE
Female pegl % 32%
Male B4 % 32%
Employee Turnover Rate by Age RFERESPHWEIRLE
Under 30 years old 308k AT % 43%
30-50 years old 30-505% % 25%
Over 50 years old 508% A % 33%
Employee turnover rate by RWEESTHNEIRAR
geographical region
Shenzhen el % 21%
Shanghai & % 40%
Wuxi i3 % 10%
Employee Training B T3
Employee Training Performance by M4 BI& S HWETIFIRR
Gender
Percentage of female trained zZHZIBED % 45
Percentage of male trained SHRIBES L % 55
Average training hours for female peqi R o b= 1S hours 20
/INBER
Average training hours for male SIS hours 20
/INERF
Employee training performance by ZREBEHNSSMWEITIZINIRE
type of employment
Percentage of part-time/short-term *E/EHEIXIESE % 0
trained
Percentage of full-time entry-level ZBRVIRBEIXIBES % 69
employees trained
Percentage of full-time middle ERAPREEEXI B % 31
management trained
Average training hours for part-time/ FHEHETVHEEIESE  hours 0
short-term employees AN
Average training hours for full-time entry- 2B f14% 8 T F15 15 3|65 & hours 49
level employees aN:s;
Average training hours for full-time middleZ B F A B2 B FHHF IS hours 21
management N
* Number of employees: Based on the number of employees as of 31 December ~ * BT A%l: LA2023F 12 A3TEME T AHGE
2023
> Employee turnover rate:  calculated as a percentage of the total number of ~ ** BIjiRK%E: LAFERIETLABLBET

employees who left in the Year to the sum of the
total number of employees and the total number of

employees who left

250
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Appendix: Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
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Content of Indices Relevant Section
EERA HRES

A.  Environmental

A EBER
Al:
Emissions General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with the 6. Environmental Protection

Disclosure relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous waste.
213187 —REE  AEABRLRERBHNR MAKRIMHEET EERE 6RERE
EERVNELZN: QBR ROBETHETABEAY
- EopEles az@&;wu BB R -

Al The types of emissions and respective emission information. Appendix I: Data Summary of
Sustainable Development
BERMRBRREBEREH - sk — AIREERENRE
Al.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas 6.2 Greenhouse Gas :
total emissions and, where appropriate, intensity. Appendix I: Data Summary of

Sustainable Development
BEE@E R RAZ@EED)RERBEENER(IN 62RZRE

ER)EE - Pt 8% — T?ii“"ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ
A13 Total hazardous waste produced and intensity. The Group does not generate hazardous
wastes
MEXREREVEEREE - AEERELEZEED
Al4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity. 6.4 Waste Management
MELRERENEERTE - 6AREENER

Appendix I: Data Summary of
Sustainable Development

s — AIRERRENPMR

A15 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to 6.1 Energy Conservation and Emission
achieve them. Reduction
WM AEI OB R RENELERARRNSR - cAHRER

Al.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are 6.4 Waste Management

handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps

taken to achieve them.

HAEREEERESRENNA L  RERMIIVANE C4BEENER
BREAEINELERMERNLSRE -

— T = =& R Annual Report 2023 251



Appendix: Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

B 45

Content of Indices

R g kEamE (8)

Relevant Section

EERA HEBEH
A2:
Use of General Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, 6.1 Energy Conservation and Emission
Resources Disclosure  water and other raw materials. Reduction ;
6.3 Water Resources Management :
6.4 Waste Management
BREM —REE  AREREREHEER KREMRME)HBER 6.1ERBE R HE
6.3KERER:
6AREE M E 12

A21 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and 6.1 Energy Conservation and Emission

intensity. Reduction :
Appendix I: Data Summary of
Sustainable Development
RENEDMERR SHEEREEERTE - 6.1ER BE A HE ;
Wﬁ' ARBERENBE
A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. 6.3 Water Resources Management :
Appendix I: Data Summary of
Sustainable Development
BEKERTE - 6.IKERERE:
figk— IR BEREHNBE

A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps 6.1 Energy Conservation and Emission
taken to achieve them. Reduction
HRAEI LR RERABRAGRREINELERMERIR  CIHRR
R B o

A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that 6.3 Water Resources Management
is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them.
it SKEUERKR DRI AERERE - UK IMAKE  63KERER
HARRAREINGLEEARRMNS R -

A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products and with The business of the Group does not
reference to per unit produced. involve any packaging material.
BEmAAaEMHNEEREGEEENES - AEEEB IS RBEME

BN 952 7Road Holdings Limited &+ A B R A B A F
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Content of Indices

Relevant Section

EERA MBS
A3:
Environment ~ General Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the 6. Environmental Protection

and Nature Disclosure
Resources  — MR B
RERKXA A3
BR

Ad:

Climate General

Change Disclosure

AREL —RHE
A4 1

B. Social

B. #%&

Bi:

Employment  General
Disclosure

Ef —BRE
B1.1
B1.2

environment and natural resources.

REBTAHRERRABRENEANZBHOBE - 6. R E R E

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the 6. Environmental Protection
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to

manage them.

HAEBEDHRBERRABRNEATERERNER 6RERE
BRYENTE -

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate- 6.5 Climate Change
related issues which have impacted, and those which may

impact, the issuer.

BRREHERERAIELEHBETAELTENEAREKRE 65REEL
BAEENBER -

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have 6.5 Climate Change
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the

actions taken to manage them.
HAEERARHETAELYENEARREEEZER 65REE(L
FE%178) -

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with 4. Professional Team
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
EHEHMRRE  BREREA IERE - BREY TEHe 45XER
Zft  REBARE M EFERBHNE  (@BRK: &b)ET
HETABEATZENHEBEELROINER -
Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and 4.1 Staff Recruitment ;
geographical region. Appendix I: Data Summary of

Sustainable Development
RIS BEREE  FRANRMEESNESLH - 41BTHRE:

sk — AIREBERENRE

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical - Appendix I: Data Summary of
region. Sustainable Development
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Appendix: Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

ffek - IRIE - g NEAHRE (B)

Content of Indices

Relevant Section

EERA HEBEH

B2:

Health and General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with 4.4 QOccupational Health and Safety
Safety Disclosure relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on

the issuer relating to providing a safe working environment and

protecting employees from occupational hazards.
BEEZE —REE FBHRRHEZ2IEREIREEEEEBENGEEN ()
HE: ROETHETABEATENERERRADMN

B

B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of
the past three years including the reporting year.

RBE=FORERFE)BFRAITHHAZRILE -
B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.
TEEAIERY -
B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures

adopted, how they are implemented and monitored.

HAMRANBERRAZT2ER UREARTRER
TV

B3:

Development  General Policies on improving employees” knowledge and skills for

and Training  Disclosure  discharging duties at work. Description of training activities

FREEN —BREE  ABRREAREBTILEBEOMZLRENER - HiE

AlES -

B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee

category.

BRI REEEREADNZIEERD

B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender

and employee category.

RUBREERHNE D  BREETHXIN TR -

B4:

Labor General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant

Standards Disclosure laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
issuer relating to preventing child and forced labor.

ST ER —REE  ABEHLEISRHEIN: @K ROETHETAR

EAXENERERRROINER -

B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to

avoid child and forced labor.

Hi e AEREPNEEAREET REHST -

B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when

discovered.

HOEERERBEARERERBERAERANTE -

B )5y 7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&2 &G R A 7]

44 B2

4.4 Occupational Health and Safety

44T

4.4 Occupational Health and Safety

Appendix I: Data Summary of
Sustainable Development

4ABTR

sk — AIEBERENRE

445 Occupational Health and Safety

A4 BT

4.3 Training and Development

43FFNE R

Appendix I: Data Summary of
Sustainable Development

Misg— AR EERENBE

Appendix I: Data Summary of

Sustainable Development

M — ARERRENRBE

4.1 Staff Recruitment

41 BIRE
4.1 Staff Recruitment

41 ETRE
4.1 Staff Recruitment

41 ETRE



Appendix: Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

8% - BIE - i REAWE ()
Content of Indices Relevant Section
EERA HEBEH
B5:
Supply Chain  General Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the 5.1 Supply Chain Management
Management  Disclosure supply chain.
i fE 58 —REE ERHEREORERMEEREE - 51 HEEER
i B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. 5.1 Supply Chain Management
RiRE S HEREE - SAGLRESEE IR
B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number 5.1 Supply Chain Management
of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how
they are implemented and monitored.
HRABERRERNEN MARTEEEMNNHER SIHEEER
B UREREDINRTREENDE -
B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental 5.1 Supply Chain Management
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
HWREBINEEEGERANREREGRBNEN - SIHEEER
WREBRITREREDE -
B54 Description of practices used to promote environmentally 5.1 Supply Chain Management
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers,
and how they are implemented and monitored.
HWOEREHERRREZARRERLRENOEN - A SIHEEER
REBRTRERAE -
B6:
Product General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant 5.3 Players’ interests :
Responsibility - Disclosure laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the 5.4 Data Privacy
issuer relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and 5.5 Advertising on the Internet
privacy matters relating to products and services provided and
methods of redress.
EmEE —BEE AHEMRHERNRBNERERE  EE RERLE S53MFHEL:
EHURBEMAEN: @K ROEBFHETABEAY S4BBEML:
ENHBZERRADINER - 554 EE
B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls  The Group is not involved in the sale or
for safety and health reasons. delivery of products
PESCEBRERBHTAZ2EREEMMANNNE AEEASREREEREX
o e
B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received 5.3 Players' interests
and how they are dealt with.
BEEARERRREORFHEAREEFE - 53R
B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting 5.2 Intellectual Property
intellectual property rights.
fit g RRENREREANEN - 52K B ERE
B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall 5.3 Players’ interests
procedures.
WG EMERREREMOYRFF 53K
B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, 5.4 Data Privacy
how they are implemented and monitored.
HIEBEHBRRERLBERE - UREHEMTRERHZE - S48EBERL
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Appendix: Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

ffek - IRIE - g NEAHRE (B)

Content of Indices Relevant Section
EERA HEBEH
B7:
Anti- General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with 5.6 Anti-corruption and the Promotion of
Corruption Disclosure relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact Integrity
on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.
RE3 —REE  AEDLEE PR RFREREN: 56 I B 18 Bk
@ﬁ%:&@%?ﬁ%ﬂAﬁékﬁémmﬁié&ﬁﬂ
ME K
B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices 5.6 Anti-corruption and the Promotion of
brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting Integrity

period and the outcomes of the cases.

#Eﬁ%ﬁﬁ%“Aiﬁ@é%ﬁﬁE%ﬁméﬁéa% 56 RBIER

iR NSNS
B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing 5.6 Anti-corruption and the Promotion of
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored. Integrity
Wl EEERBRER  UARABRTREREE - 56 [ B 18 Bk
Br.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and 5.6 Anti-corruption and the Promotion of
staff. Integrity
HwtMEERBIRENREGE - 56 I B 18 Bk
B8:
Community ~ General Policies on community engagement to understand the needs 7. Community Construction

Investment Disclosure of the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its
activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.

HERIZE —RHEE AEAUAHE2ERBRETAZEMEHEZENBRRE THERER
¥BEHLERMEAEARE

B8.1 Focus areas of contribution. 7. Community Construction
EIEREE THERR

B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area. 7. Community Construction
BEIERMBHAER THERR
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